

Georgia Southern University Georgia Southern Commons

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Jack N. Averitt College of Graduate Studies

2006

Inquiry into the Writing Pedagogy for Middle School Language Arts

William Love Moore

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/etd

Part of the Education Commons

Recommended Citation

 $http://www.georgiasouthern.edu/etd/archive/spring2006/william_l_moore/Moore_William_L_200601_edd.pdf$

This dissertation (open access) is brought to you for free and open access by the Jack N. Averitt College of Graduate Studies at Georgia Southern Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Georgia Southern Commons. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@georgiasouthern.edu.

AN INQUIRY INTO THE WRITING PEDAGOGY FOR

MIDDLE SCHOOL LANGUAGE ARTS

by

WILLIAM LOVE MOORE

(Under the Direction of Ming Fang He)

ABSTRACT

This is a narrative inquiry into writing pedagogies of middle school language arts teachers and an administrator. Six teacher participants were interviewed and observed, their lesson plans were analyzed, and their instructional practices and writing philosophies were examined. Overarching research questions were (1) What role does writing pedagogy play in a language arts program? (2) What strategies were used to teach writing? and (3)What types of assessments were utilized?

The theoretical framework of my research was based on Dewey's (1897) philosophy of education with roots in hermeneutic phenomenology by van Manen (1990). Methods of inquiry were based on narrative inquiry (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000; Phillion & He, 2001) and classroom-based action research (Cochran-Smith & Lytle, 1993; McKernan, 1993). Data collection methods included school portraiture, participant profiles, interviews, observations, lesson plans, and the researcher's reflective journal.

Although there is an abundance of research on writing, there is limited information on how teachers view their own praxis and how that impacts achievement in state mandated writing tests and writing proficiency. This study is significant for teachers, educators, administrators, and policy makers at the middle school level. It helps middle school teachers to develop a holistic writing pedagogy where writing is perceived as a process, woven into all content areas, and captures multiple aspects of literacy development. It helps middle school teacher educators to get up close with the real world of writing praxis, recognize the challenges and concerns of this praxis, and develop a university curriculum pedagogically compatible with the holistic middle school pedagogy. It helps middle school administrators to foster a community of learners where teachers, students, parents, and staff work together to weave the importance of writing into school curriculum which promotes student achievement. It also helps policy makers to recognize successful practices, concerns, challenges, and future directions of middle school writing practices in order to make policies that meet diverse needs of middle school populations and to create a policy milieu where all members of the society work together to help all students to reach their highest potential in an increasingly diverse American society.

INDEX WORDS: Narrative Inquiry, Action Research, Classroom-Based Research, Writing Instruction, pedagogy, Writing Across the Curriculum, teacher preparation, writing as a process, writer's workshop

A NARRATIVE INQUIRY INTO THE WRITING PEDAGOGY OF A MIDDLE SCHOOL'S LANGUAGE ARTS PROGRAM

by

WILLIAM LOVE MOORE

B.S.Ed., University of Georgia, 1979M.Ed., University of Georgia, 1983

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Georgia Southern University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

STATESBORO, GEORGIA

2006

© 2006

William Love Moore

All Rights Reserved

AN INQUIRY INTO THE WRITING PEDAGOGY OF A MIDDLE SCHOOL'S LANGUAGE ARTS PROGRAM

by

WILLIAM LOVE MOORE

Major Professor:

Ming Fang He

Committee:

Mary Ellen Cosgrove Michael McKenna Michael Moore

Electronic Version Approved: May 2006

DEDICATION

This dissertation is first dedicated to the glory of God through whom all things are possible.

To my wife, Carolyn Lefkoff Moore, whose love and support kept me going when all seemed dark.

To, Clint, my son, whose love for learning makes him who he is and who he will become.

To my parents who instilled a desire to learn that has not been extinguished.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my gratitude first to the members of my committee: Dr. Ming Fang He, my supervisor, who guided me through this process with her brilliance and creativity; Dr. Maryellen Cosgrove, who agreed to work with me and has encouraged me through each step of this process; Dr. Michael McKenna, a reading teacher extraordinaire who provided insight and encouragement throughout my dissertation; and Dr. Michael Moore, a friend and professor, whose classes helped me understand why reading and writing is so important and who fostered my love for teaching writing and reading.

I would like to acknowledge my loving and very special wife, Carolyn Lefkoff Moore, without whom I would not have completed this process. To her I say, "I love you and thank you."

Next, to my wonderful son, Clint who gave up many things – days, trips, and most importantly his family time that this project could be completed, I say to you, "Clint, thank you, Son, and I love you."

To my parents, Robert Clinton and Martha Ann Weathersby Moore, their love and belief in me allowed me to achieve this goal. Their conviction that education was a way to not only improve one's life but enrich it has carried me through many days when I would have given up. They would be very proud to know of this achievement. I miss them.

To my brother, like my wife, who never gave up on me and helped me remember that our parents would be so proud of this accomplishment in my life.

I would also like to thank to all my friends in various churches who have prayed for me as I walked the path toward completing this dissertation. Thank you one and all for those prayers and belief in me. To my colleagues, Carl, Jenene, Terri, Leslie, Tracy, and Terry who participated in this study at Shuman Middle School and willingly gave up time, I wish to say, "Thank you all". I want to include here, Mrs. Dora S. Myles, the principal at Shuman Middle School who talked about writing a book, may she consider herself part author of this dissertation.

To Emily and Michael Coffee, your help in rewriting two chapters and in encouraging me to finish this process have been invaluable. Thank you both.

To all the others in my life that have encouraged me – "Thank you and God bless.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNO	WLEDGEMENTS	7
LIST OF	TABLES	12
LIST OF	FIGURES	13
СНАРТЕ	ER	
1	INTRODUCTION	14
	Research Questions	16
	Context of Study	17
	Autobiographical Roots of My Inquiry	23
	Limitations of the Study	27
	Significance of the Study	
2	REVIEW OF LITERATURE AND RELATED RESEARCH	31
	History of Writing and Writing Instruction	
	Difficulties in Learning to Write	40
	Methods and Strategies of Writing	41
	Process Writing	42
	Writer's Workshop	44
	Writing Across the Curriculum	45
	Responsive Writing	46
	Free Writing	47
	Activating Prior Knowledge	47
	Writing Projects	48

		Assessment of Writing	
		Summary	
	3	METHODOLOGY	55
		Theoretical Framework	56
		John Dewey's Philosophy	56
		Hermeneutic Phenomenology	57
		Narrative Inquiry	60
		Classroom-Based Action Research	
		Role as a Researcher	64
		Data Collection	66
		School Portraiture	66
		Participant's Profiles	71
		Open-Ended Structured Interviews	
		Observations	79
		Artifacts	80
		Researcher's Reflective Journal	81
		Data Management	81
		Data Analysis	
		Data Representation	
		Limitations of My Study	
		Significance of My Study	
		Summary	

	4	DATA REPRESENTATION. INTERVIEWS WITH TEACHER	
		PARTICIPANTS AND THE ASSISTANT PRINCIPAL	86
		Part I. Questions and Responses of Teacher Participants	89
		Part II. Questions and Responses of the Administrator	123
		Summary	136
	5	DATA REPRESENTATION: ARTIFACTS AND OBSERVATIONS	138
		Artifacts	138
		Observations	150
		Shuman's Writing Plan	155
		Summary	156
	6	SUMMARY: FINDINGS, CONCERNS, AND FUTURE RESEARCH	158
REFI	EREI	NCES:	177
APPI	END	ICES	187
	A	TEACHER PARTICIPANT LESSON PLANS	188
	В	SHUMAN'S WRITING PLAN	206
	С	IRB APPROVAL	217

4 DATA REPRESENTATION: INTERVIEWS WITH TEACHER

LIST OF TABLES

Page

TABLE 1: Selected IRA/NCTE Standards for Student Writing Abilities (1996, p. 2).....18

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1: Terri's Lesson Plan	142
Figure 2: Tracy's Lesson Plan	144
Figure 3: Terry's Lesson Plan	145
Figure 4: Leslie's Lesson Plan	147
Figure 5: Bill's Lesson Plan	149

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

This study explored the writing pedagogy of six middle school language arts teachers. Participants in this study included two sixth grade, two seventh grade, and two eighth grade middle school language arts teachers, an assistant principal, and myself, the teacher-researcher.

The written word preserves our thoughts and feelings, knowledge of our past and present, and our hopes for the future. Considering the importance of this form of communication, it is paramount that instructional practices should be based on relevant research and significant practical experience. "Writing fixes thought on paper," states Van Manen (1990, p.175). This study recounts the perceptions and strategies educational practitioners utilize to promote and assess their students' writing ability.

The theoretical framework of this inquiry is based on the philosophy of John Dewey and hermeneutic phenomenology. The methodology of this research is a combination of narrative inquiry (Clandinin & Connelly, 1998) and classroom-based action research (Cochran-Smith & Lytle, 1993).

Dewey's (1897,1938) philosophy of experience and education provides the framework for my own philosophy and teaching. Dewey begins his book with the statement, "All social movements involve conflicts which are reflected intellectually in controversies" (1938, p. 5). Dewey knew that breaking with the traditional practices of education would create controversy and problems. Difficulty comes when trying to abandon traditionally entrenched systems while formulating and implementing a new and innovative system. An innovative system does not follow the mistakes of the traditional

way of doing things. This knowledge led Dewey to want a design for an infrastructure to make changes less difficult.

Dewey's educational belief that quality or authentic experience should drive students' educational training was one reason his ideals support my use of hermeneutic phenomenology. The need for students to learn through experience and then reflect on that experience is hermeneutic phenomenology in action. Both Dewey's and Van Manen's theories build on and support one another.

Hermeneutics is reflection (Van Manen, 1990). This idea is restated by Crotty (1998) who proposed that hermeneutics has the "...potential to uncover meanings and intentions that are hidden in the text [interview]...interpreters may end up with an explicit awareness of meanings, and especially assumptions, that the authors [participants] themselves would have been unable to articulate" (p. 91).

Phenomenology is "the study of lived experiences" (Van Manen, 1990, p.9). Phenomenology is "on the one hand, description of the lived-through quality of lived experience and on the other hand, description of meaning *of the expressions of lived experiences*" (p. 25). Hermeneutics helps interpret the lived experiences of the participants. "Hermeneutic phenomenology is a science that studies person" (Van Manen, 1990, p.6). Perceptions that may be hidden or obscured are revealed through the utilization of hermeneutic phenomenology.

The methodology of this study is a combination of narrative inquiry (Clandinin & Connelly, 1998) and classroom-based action research (Cochran-Smith & Lylte, 1993). As pioneers of narrative inquiry, Clandinin and Connelly (1998) advocate the explorations of lived experiences in qualitative research. Narrative inquiry will create a dialectic "context

for making meaning of school situations" (Clandinin & Connelly, 1998). Narrative is viewed as the practical means to answer problems that researchers encounter since it empowers both the participants and the researcher by promoting a sense of equality (Clandinin & Connelly, 1998). Narrative inquiry, an approach that focuses on "contextualized, historicized, placed experience" (Phillion & He, 2001), is being developed as a means of understanding experiences.

Elliot (1976) defines action research as "a study of a social situation designed to improve the quality of an action within it" (pg. 1). Classroom-based action research will promote connections between personal and professional lives, educational theory, and classroom practice (Cochran-Smith & Lytle, 1993).

Data collection in this study was conducted in a middle school located in Chatham County and included school portraiture, participant profiles, open-ended structured interviews, observations, artifacts from the participants' lesson plans, classroom anecdotal records, and the researcher's reflective journal. All participants received a cover letter explaining the research study, and permission forms from the principal and the teachers were obtained. A time to be interviewed was established that was convenient for all parties. With their permission, interviewees were audio-taped and a synopsis of the interviews was written and submitted to the participants for review. All tapes were catalogued and kept in a secure place.

Research Questions

The general research question is:

• What role does writing pedagogy play in a middle school's language arts program? Specific questions are:

- How do teachers develop relevant writing pedagogy for language arts programs?
- What practices/strategies are utilized in two sixth, two seventh, and two eighth grade language arts classrooms to promote writing?
- How are middle school students encouraged/motivated to engage in writing in middle school's language arts classrooms? To what extent are these strategies successful?
- What strategies are utilized to assess writing in a middle school's language arts classrooms?

Context of Study

Effective pedagogical strategies that enable students to communicate fluently in a written format were vital in the past, are vital today, and are vital for the future (e.g., Calkins, 1986; Indrisano & Squire, 2000; McKenna & Robinson, 2006). The National Literacy Act of 1991 defined literacy as "an individual's ability to read, write, and speak in English and compute and solve problems at levels of proficiency necessary to function on the job and in society, to achieve one's goals, and to develop one's knowledge and potential" (National Council of Teachers of English, [NCTE] 1996, p. 4). The National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) (1999) reported in 1998 that only 1% of the students in the fourth, eighth, and twelfth grades scored at the Advanced Level in a writing assessment, and an average of only 24% in each grade scored at the Proficient Level. This means 75% of the students in the target grades tested below the Proficient Level in writing abilities in our country. Critics blame schools and teachers for failing to train students to read and write well (NCTE, 1996).

According to the NCTE, language arts teachers need to prepare students for the diverse literacy demands they will face throughout their lives and to enable students to

gather and convey information on various academic subjects through meaningful

activities and settings. On a national and cooperative level, the International Reading

Association (IRA) and the NCTE co-published a list of standards for teachers to facilitate

literacy in their classrooms. Five of the twelve standards offer support for my study.

Table 1

Selected IRA/NCTE Standards for Student Writing Abilities (1996, p. 2)

Standard 4	Students adjust their use of spoken, written, and visual language (e.g., conversations, style, and vocabulary) to communicate effectively with a wide variety of audiences and for different purposes.
Standard 5	Students employ a wide variety of strategies as they write and use different writing process elements appropriately to communicate with different audiences.
Standard 6	Students apply knowledge of language structure, language conventions (e.g., spelling and punctuation), media techniques, figurative language, and genre to create, critique, and discuss print and non-print texts.
Standard 11	Students participate as knowledgeable, reflective, creative, and critical members of a variety of literary communities.
Standard 12	Students use spoken, written, and visual language to accomplish their own purposes (e.g., for learning, enjoyment, persuasion, and the exchange of information).

Regie Routman (1988) posited, "Our schools are turning out functional literates, children who can read and write *in school*, but who do not necessarily read or write in other contexts" (p. 15). Routman called for a change in the way we teach these skills. Her call for change in the teaching of writing has been echoed by others (e.g., Atwell, 1998; Bruffee, 1993; Calkins, 1986).

The National Commission on Writing in America's Schools and Colleges (*Reading Today*, 2003) recently published its findings on the state of writing in the

United States. The Commission echoed the finding of the 1998 National Assessment of Educational Progress's findings in their report, *The Neglected "R": The Need for a Writing Revolution* (2003). Their findings declared that fourth graders wrote for less than three hours a week while watching over 21 hours of television; 66% of high school seniors did not write a three-page essay more than once a month; 75% of seniors did not receive a writing assignment in social studies or history classes; and research papers as a senior requirement have been all but eliminated.

The Commission's report calls writing "an essential skill" (*Reading Today*, 2003, p. 4). Writing is the avenue through which students are able to express themselves and make reflections and evaluations. The report states, "Students must struggle with the details, wrestle with the facts, and rework raw information and dimly understood concepts into language they can communicate with someone else. In short, they must write" (p. 4). The Commission has demanded a "writing revolution" (p. 4). Without a radical change in the way we approach the teaching of writing, we will continue to get what we have produced in the past – a nation of mediocre writers (p. 5).

There is a large body of information on writing research (e.g. Atwell, 1998; Calkins, 1986; Hayes, 1996, 1980); however, there is limited research concerning writing practices as they pertain to the middle school student. Research into elementary and secondary writing instruction has been tied to language arts as a whole. The early focus on writing in the 19th century concentrated on penmanship - not content. Any thought of teaching writing beyond penmanship came about in upper grades once teachers believed that the students had mastered the basics of reading (Applebee, 1974).

Writing instruction has undergone change in the last thirty years. The change has primarily been in the way writing is presented to students (Moore, 2006). A writer's workshop approach (Atwell, 1998; Allington & Cunningham, 2002) incorporating conferencing with students and more "free writing" is becoming popular; however, research is still not the main focus in writing pedagogy. No recent, large-scale research has been done on writing. The last significant study was the National Study of Writing in the Secondary School (Applebee, 1981, 1984). Writing instruction, according to Applebee (1981), had become problematic in implementation and narrow in extent. Instead of creating text with content, students were expected to merely fill in the blank. Writing in the classroom had become nothing more than a process that included a rough draft, a revision, then having the student complete the final copy at home. Many times the purpose for writing was to review or summarize something already taught rather than to produce an essay for persuasion, narration, or fact (Applebee 1981, 1984). Other researchers (Haneda & Wells, 2000) echoed Applebee's concern that there was a lack of depth in this research area. These authors noted the lack of impact writing research has had on writing pedagogy in classrooms. The focus of writing instruction and/or writing research was mainly on the community in which the writing took place. It is from these findings that writing research has become a part of the push for literacy and has come under its umbrella components – reading, writing, and fluency (Haneda & Wells, 2000). My own participants' lesson plans stated that the main kinds of writing were in response to a lesson read or in the form of mechanics. Their lesson plans did not indicate that the students had time to just write. There did not appear to be a choice in the students' writing. The writing, when it took place, was directed from the teacher.

Nationally, the Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) has undergone revision which included adding a written portion as well as changing the verbal section and refining the mathematics section. The creation of the writing component emphasizes the need for developing writing in the classroom and providing more research on practices within classrooms. There is now a twenty-five minute written essay portion in the new version of the SAT (McDonald, 2002). This new requirement provides another reason for increased interest in improving writing instruction and consequently students' writing abilities.

Georgia participated in the 1998 NAEP study which encompassed 41 states and other jurisdictions, of which 39 qualified for inclusion by meeting the statistical reporting requirements for publishing their schools' performances in the evaluation from the 1998 NAEP Report for our nation's schools. Georgia's average scale score was 146. This score is compared to a scale score of 143 for the Southeast and a scale score of 148 for the nation. Georgia had a total of 83% of their students at or above the Basic Level of achievement. This included 23% at or above the Proficient Level, and 1% at the Advanced Stage of writing. These statistics are in line with the nation and, at all points, higher than the total of the Southeast's levels. While Georgia's scores are equal to the nation's and are slightly higher than several of Georgia's neighbors, we still have room for improvement in our writing scores.

The colleges and universities in Georgia require a reading and writing exit exam as part of the continuation of the student's program of study for an undergraduate degree. After thirty hours of college credit, students are required to take what is known as "The Regents' Exam". This test must be passed before the student completes forty-five hours of credit; if the student does not pass, he or she must enroll in remedial classes until the test is passed *in toto*. The written section of the exam asks the student to respond to a choice of one of four topics. The topics vary in nature from academic subjects (e.g., humanities, natural science, social science, and mathematics) to writing genres (e.g., argumentation, narrative, and expository). Writing is reinforced as a skill necessary to complete university and college requirements. Graduate programs in schools, such as Georgia Southern University, require a writing component for entrance into doctoral programs.

Savannah-Chatham County also recognizes the importance of their students writing well. Their web site contains information about using Writing Across the Curriculum (WAC) as an instructional strategy. WAC is a program designed to help students write more, understand the importance of writing in each subject area, and become better writers, and the Board of Education has the county report card published via the state web site. Individual schools can also be accessed from this web site. Obviously the need to better prepare our students to become writers is paramount in schools today. Writing scores for the Savannah-Chatham County School System, as a whole, were below the state's average. While the county exceeded the state in "On Target" scores by 1%, the Exceeds Target scores were half of the state's 12%. Chatham County and Georgia increased their On Target scores from the previous year by 15 %. The average scale score (ranging 300 – 400) for the system was 354 while the state was 357. Both of these scale scores represented a rise in scores over the previous year (Georgia Public Education Report Card, 2002). The 2001 – 2002 Title I Task Force at Shuman Middle School targeted writing improvement as two of its four Title I reading goals in the School-Wide Improvement Plan. Shuman's goals were to continually improve the eighth grade writing scores and to ensure they would meet or exceed the state average. Eighth grade writing scores at Shuman coincided with the state and county's averages. Shuman had 81% of the eighth grade scores at or exceeding the target score for the Eighth Grade Writing Test. Shuman's rise was in line with the system's and the state's increases. The school's scores in the Exceeds Target section remained lower than the system's and the state's scores.

Shuman Middle School chose to include writing in their Title I School-Wide Plan. While the state's writing assessment test takes place in the eighth grade, all language arts teachers are expected to prepare students to do well on this test. Examining our middle school's language arts teachers' writing pedagogy helped identify areas to be strengthened in preparing students for the writing exam. It also helped develop a more effective writing pedagogy for the language arts program at Shuman Middle School. Our lead teacher identified a need to have each grade focus on one area and then the next grade's teachers could build on what the previous teachers had done.

Autobiographical Roots of My Inquiry

My interest in this inquiry derived from my own struggle to be a writer, teacher of writing, and a researcher. Writing allows one to express one's feelings, thoughts, and desires. These may be personal reflections, as in diaries, intended only for the writer, or letters, essays, or other forms of communication. Writing gives permanence to thoughts. Berke (1976) elaborated

It is only when we view writing in its broadest perspective – as an instrument through which people communicate with one another in time and space, transmitting their accumulated culture from one generation to another – that we can see how vitally related our written language is not only to the life of the individual but to the total community. (p. 3)

The ability to communicate effectively and fluently through writing is what I envision for my students and myself. My lack of writing skills led me to take staff development courses in writing. These courses have allowed me to teach my students how to write more effectively.

Writing has never been easy or natural for me. During my early formative years, I remember reading voraciously and in several genres, but my early memories of writing were simple thank you letters for gifts I had received. The earliest and best writing memories can be traced back to the fifth grade. During this time I wrote short stories, mostly science fiction or horror, and even kept a journal of the stories.

Memories of junior high, high school, and college do not evoke positive reflections about writing. I went through junior high and high school without being required to write a single research report which left me ill-prepared for the demands of writing while in college. I remember borrowing models of various types of writing to complete English assignments required for college courses. Looking back on that experience, I realize what a disadvantage that was. It kept me from becoming a more accomplished and competent writer.

Throughout my tenure as a teacher, I have been asked to sit on various committees and to be part of action teams that required producing a written product.

These experiences, along with working on my Master's in Education, made me realize that I had good content but was unable to express myself well. While working on a paper or project, I constantly struggled with structure, syntax, and grammatical errors. Over time my writing improved as I worked on another degree in education and taught in schools. While working on my Master's, I was involved in several committees at different schools that required me to write grant proposals or applications for recognition (i.e., Blue Ribbon Schools or Schools of Excellence). Working on these committees forced me to look carefully at my writing. I was often required to produce high quality writing in the daily course of my job. As a teacher, it is necessary for any communication, written or oral, to be correct. Now I proofread my own writing or make sure I have someone edit my work, so I will not be compromised by the criticism of a parent, student, or colleague.

My training in the teaching of writing has been limited. Other than the two courses for the core requirements for my undergraduate degree, I received no training in writing pedagogy until I became a teacher at Shuman Middle School. I did not envision myself as needing to be trained in the methodology of writing nor did I view myself as a teacher of writing. My training in writing occurred after I entered the doctoral program at Georgia Southern University. I began to seek college level and staff development opportunities to improve my own writing and to develop my knowledge in the teaching of writing. The literacy component in my doctoral program introduced me to writing praxis taught through workshops. When attending conferences, I looked for sessions relating to writing or a combination of both writing and reading. I am always looking for ways to improve my writing pedagogy in the classroom and to improve my own ability to create written responses and reports.

My search for appropriate teaching methods to improve my students' writing skills has been a research project in itself. However, my attempt was not without some challenges. I have been using two methods consistently in my writing pedagogy - journal writing and Mountain LanguageTM. The journal writing topic is based on prompts relevant to what we are doing in class each day. Mountain LanguageTM is a skills maintenance program that provides repeated practice on twenty skills that are tested in the Georgia Criterion Referenced Competency Test. Through review and instruction my students became better at using English conventions and had a better attitude toward writing in general.

Motivating twenty-six to twenty-eight students to write was no easy task. Few students were willing or able to tackle writing assignments. For many of them it was a question of, "What is the minimum I need to do to pass the assignment?" For the remaining students the act of writing actually seemed to be a punishment. If the writing assignment was not completed, then the student got a failing grade and possibly detention as one of the consequences. The discouraging part of my job was the need to coddle, coerce, push, or punish to get many of my students involved in the writing process. I viewed writing as an essential activity that helped students maintain focus and develop understanding of the materials used, not only in language arts classes, but across all content areas. Writing supports reading through the interaction of reflection and expression. Having to synthesize what an author is saying and putting it into a

paraphrased paragraph or essay requires the students to become engaged in a conversation with the author.

Teaching in a language arts classroom was an enlightening experience for me. The second year I taught seventh grade reading and language arts together in a block schedule was a learning experience for me as well as for my students. During that year, I felt I was still learning and applying what I had gleaned through my program of study as well as the other classes I took during my college career. The teaching of writing and the studying of literacy as part of my course work for my doctorate developed my desire to study the experiences of my participants and myself.

Limitations of the Study

The limited number of participants restricts the widespread applicability of the study. Limiting the number of participants allowed me to cull the stories more completely but limited the study to a narrow focus. The biases that the participants and I, as the researcher, brought to the open-ended structured conversations limited the discussions.

Another consideration that limited the study was the time commitment that I needed to ask from the participants. Since interviews took place after school, problems arose as many teachers had tutorials and other responsibilities after work. In addition, my closeness to them possibly made us all feel vulnerable, thus creating some constraint between the participants and myself. However, since my participants and I had been colleagues for some time, I enjoyed a very good relationship with them. My own biases and the filters through which I view the world may have slanted my interpretation of the study. My role as a researcher may have constrained my own openness with the participants.

Cochran-Smith and Lytle (1993) described the struggles of being a researcher and participant in one's own study. They discussed the idea of inside/outside not being opposites but being employed in a conversation between the participants. Additionally, they believed the disclosure that takes place as one hears and understands views allows one to improve his/her own praxis. They reasoned that if research about teaching is going to continue, as it has for over fifty years, then it should involve teachers in the planning and carrying out of those research projects. Teacher research is defined from their own experience as being "systematic, self-critical enquiry and in part of [sic] an ongoing survey of the literature of teacher writing" (p. 7).

The term "teacher research" has been used in a Pangean approach - one that is all encompassing of a variety of activities that derive their roots from action research. Action research has been bandied about with terms such as "research", "action", "collaborative", "critical", and "inquiry" and now has had the term "teacher" combined with it to denote a great scope of interpretations (Cochran-Smith, Lytle, 1993, p. xiii). They posited the terms "teacher research" and "action research" were neophyte terms; however, those forms of inquiry have roots stretching back to Dewey. Dewey (1916) encouraged pedagogues to not only teach but reflect on their teaching which laid the foundation for Schön (1983), who portrayed teachers as qualified individuals who "practice intellectual processes of posing and exploring problems identified by teachers themselves" (pp. 68-69).

Significance of the Study

My study has varying levels of significance. Policy makers at the national and state level may discover that the findings of this research will provide insight on how

teachers use writing in their language arts classrooms. This study may add to the impact of The National Commission on Writing in America's Schools and Colleges (2003) as their demand for a writing revolution may be strengthened. Curriculum specialists who work with school systems and state departments should find this research particularly beneficial in planning staff development budgets or programs for training teachers in the improvement of writing pedagogy. The opinions and ideas gleaned from the open-ended structured interviews with the participants could provide insight for curriculum specialists as they plan and evaluate what works in the teaching of writing. Education professors who teach writing instruction or classes on research/history about writing may find the information beneficial in teaching their classes or helping college students better understand the importance of teaching writing in their future classrooms.

On a smaller scale, schools, especially middle schools, which employ Writing Across the Curriculum (WAC) or other content writing programs will also find this research salutary as it reviews the bodies of research on writing and what impacts the teaching of writing. Finally, teachers themselves may find the results of this research thought provoking because it may stimulate them to reflect on their own practices and to determine if the strategies they employ are effective. This is especially true for the research participants and me. The results will be shared with administrators and teachers at Shuman Middle School as a means of reassessing the teaching of writing in the middle school language arts classrooms, thus allowing educational practitioners to formulate pedagogical goals and strategies to improve the teaching of writing and the writing skills of students. The findings from this study will help me to re-evaluate my own teaching of writing. Additionally, the findings will enable the participants and myself to identify barriers that prevent us from developing proficient writers within our classrooms

The necessity to communicate in written form is becoming increasingly significant. Just as there has been an impetus to better students' reading ability there is a necessity to scrutinize strategies that are prevalent in language arts classrooms. This research allowed six language arts instructors at Shuman Middle School to reflect on and ameliorate their instructional practices in teaching writing.

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF LITERATURE AND RELATED RESEARCH

This study explored the writing pedagogy of six middle school language arts teachers, how they taught writing in their classrooms, and the writing plan of Shuman Middle School. Data collection comprises school portraiture, open-ended interviews, observations, artifacts from the participants' lesson plans, anecdotal classroom records and the researcher's reflective journal. Reviewing the relevant literature within writing pedagogy helped set the context for the research and helped me understand the history and types of writing instruction used in pedagogical situations. Four bodies of literature were examined: (1) the history of writing instruction (i.e., grammar, handwriting, rhetoric, and composition); (2) difficulties in learning to write; (3) methods and strategies of teaching writing in the language arts classroom (i.e., process writing, Writing Across the Curriculum, writing workshop, responsive writing, activating prior knowledge, writing projects, etc.); and (4) the assessment of writing (i.e., rubrics and portfolios).

Understanding the history of writing instruction, pedagogy, and research was important as there have been, and still are, differences of opinion concerning when and how writing should start. One school of thought is that some younger children are not inclined to learn how to write nor do they write when we (teachers) want to begin teaching writing formally (Vygotsky, 1999, pg. 181). Knowing that there is a continuing debate over how, when, and why to teach writing led me to choose the topic of middle school teachers' writing pedagogy.

Constructing a literature review for this study involved searching several databases. Using the keywords "writing instruction", "history of writing instruction", and

"writing pedagogy" in an AskERIC[™] search resulted in over 1200 cites as potential sources. Few web sites provided data that was directly related to the history of writing instruction or to the area of writing instruction that I proposed to study. Using ProQuest[™] to search for recent dissertations provided me with four dissertations that came close to the domain I researched. Examining the databases and seeing a lack of research about the topic of writing instruction and teacher perceptions and strategies made this a timely and necessary topic.

An examination of the history of writing revealed the development and rebirth of writing instruction in education. Currently process writing, free writing, topic choice, multiple perspectives, multiple drafts, writer's craft, writing with a sense of audience and purpose or writing personal understanding is expounded in teacher education programs. In the assessment of writing, a battle between process and product rages as unabated as the ongoing war between phonics and whole language has. Academic writing must remain in the forefront of any educational reform in writing, but an imperceptible marriage of process and product will produce profluent writers.

History of Writing and Writing Instruction

Writing gives permanence to oral communication and, hence, to knowledge. While no scheme or classification of the history of writing is complete or wholly satisfactory due to the very nature of the topic, for the purpose of this study the history of writing begins with our current English writing system. Knowing the history of writing did not impact my students directly, but it gave me, as their teacher, a broader and more complete view of my writing praxis and how the strategies of teaching writing developed and their impact on my writing instruction. Teachers have not had much training in writing pedagogy (Moore, 2004). Writing in a chapter about issues and trends in writing, Moore related that his and others' knowledge of writing pedagogy in the seventies was limited. It was almost a "trial and error" approach to the teaching of writing. He talked of the "paradigm shift" in the teaching of writing that caused teachers to radically change their philosophies about writing. Moore described his astonishment at the lack of knowledge and the presumptions that were made about what was happening within the field of writing in teacher education programs. The cry of concern about the limited research on writing was echoed by other researchers in the field (Britton, Burgess, Martin, McLeod & Rosen, 1975; Haneda & Wells, 2000). Knowing that until forty years ago we still had a limited research base for knowledge of writing pedagogy and that no recent major research in writing had been untaken, the inclusion of the history of writing in my research project was validated.

Our current system of writing started in Great Britain around the close of the sixth century as a result of missionary efforts of the Catholic Church to convert Anglo-Saxons to Christianity. To ease the problems of translating the Scriptures, Roman and Irish missionaries used Irish equivalents of the Latin alphabet from the oral language of the Anglo-Saxons or Old English. Toward the eleventh century a fairly sound method for written communication was established (Crystal, 1995; Scragg, 1974).

Various transmutations of oral and written language occurred over time. Scragg (1974) mentioned the influence of William the Conqueror after his invasion in 1066 and how the adoption of French as the language of the court impacted Old English and ushered in the Middle English period. After Chaucer, the "Great Vowel Shift" occurred between the twelfth and eighteenth centuries resulting in long vowel sounds being

stressed which changed their articulations. Many other shifts and transformations took place between the sixteenth and eighteenth centuries leading us to the Modern English that we use today. Samuel Johnson and Daniel Webster's dictionaries formalized American and British spelling customs.

Rhetoric research for western culture has roots in Greece from about the 400's BC. This period, known as the Classical Rhetoric Period, dealt with oratory practices and held the innate postulation that a person could find truth and then proceed to put that truth into words (Feinberg, 1998). Aristotle was the main influence during this period. Langer and Flihan (2000) traced writing's academic roots to classic Aristotelian rhetoric. Aristotelian rhetoric was the archetype for American schools, especially the academic colleges and universities that grounded their models in the curriculum instruction of English universities.

The medieval and Renaissance periods of rhetoric were mostly involved with grammar, rhetoric, and dialectic. During the Renaissance, classical texts of Roman writers were rediscovered and studied for insight into writing. The work of Peter Ramus in 1549 was also influential during this time. Ramus was a reformer who wanted to change the medieval rhetoric forms. His reforms concentrated on style, memory, and delivery. He encouraged writers to dress up their writings as elaborately as possible (Feinberg, 1998).

In the eighteenth century, the Scots influenced American writing instruction. Hugh Blair's work, *Lectures on Rhetoric and Belles-Letters*, published in 1783 and adopted by Yale as their official text in 1785 and by Harvard in 1788, was the most significant book to originate in Edinburgh and make its way to America. The Scottish revisionists and their ideas had particular impact on rhetoric in American academia. The Scottish rhetoricians gave American colleges a standard on which to build their reputations and provided a sense of éclat.

Harvard influence dominated writing instruction in the nineteenth century. In 1806, the Boylston Professorship of Rhetoric and Oratory placed Harvard at the forefront of rhetoric innovations for colleges in America. The lists of literary examples illustrating rhetorical principles became the standards for secondary schools' curriculum as the guide for entrance requirements to the more prestigious institutions of learning. Since Harvard and other universities used these standards, other institutions became forced to accept similar ones in order to stay competitive with those universities (Feinberg, 1998).

The Progressive Education Movement of the late 19th century to the mid 20th century coincided with a growing dissatisfaction among various groups of English professors with the reading lists produced by Ivy League schools and the idea that education was primarily a way to continue the elitism of American society. The Progressive Movement wanted a shift in focus for writing instruction. Progressives supported the idea of ensuring that students wrote correctly but believed writing should be more than grammatical excellence. With large numbers of immigrants coming into the schools, writing needed to focus on the "communicative function", helping to bring the immigrant population into American society. The Progressive Movement did little to sway those in charge at the university level to split rhetoric into composition and literature. It did, however, provide an impetus to use one's own experiences to respond to literature. Large-scale change in composition and literature would not come to the university level until after World War II (Feinberg, 1998).

A new movement known as New Criticism began in the 1930's and took on an intimate examination of literary texts. Moore (2004) states, "the text was the point of emphasis, not the writer or the circumstance of the text. Everything we needed to construct meaning was in a given text" (p. 202). It seemed to have no mutually agreed upon connections with rhetoric or composition study. This new movement caused a division within English departments that allowed many to neglect any writing curriculum. This new movement finally had an esoteric consequence on writing pedagogy with compositions having rigid structural guidelines. New Criticism argued that when words were changed, as in a poem, their meaning changed (Feinberg, 1998).

The prevalent pattern of freshmen composition classes became problematic because the traditional method of instruction was too machine-like. NCTE acknowledged a need for revamping the curriculum for freshman writing. The Conference on College Composition and Communication (CCCC) was held in 1949, and a journal representing that body and name appeared in 1950. CCCC worked for change in composition classes to improve the stature of graduate assistants and to have Doctor of Philosophy programs in English departments include studies in linguistics as part of the training for teachers of writing instruction. NCTE in 1963 commissioned a study by Richard Braddock, Richard Lloyd-Jones, and Lowell Schoer, which became known as "The Braddock Report". The report which found that limited significant research had been done up to that point, was a wake-up call for research and resulted in the NCTE establishing the *Journal of Research in the Teaching of English* as an avenue to provide the desired focus of research in the field of writing (Feinberg, 1998). The 1960s brought a revival of interest in the classical model of writing that broke writing into a five-stage process: invention, arrangement, style, memory, and delivery. Under the Ramists' influence, invention and arrangement had to be excluded while the concepts of memory and delivery were simplified into elocution, the art of effective public speaking. Writing in American schools had lost the perception of writing as a process. Increased interest in the process of writing and writing to express oneself resulted in a ground breaking joint conference at Dartmouth College. This conference cosponsored by NCTE and Modern Language Association (MLA) was attended by American and British confreres representing all educational levels from elementary to college. The focus was on students' interests in writing - using their own knowledge as opposed to exterior artificial demands from teacher advocates, such as Wayne Booth (1983), who also began writing about rhetoric in the 1960s.

The 1970s saw an increase in interest of writing researchers conducting discourses on how the writing process might benefit from information gathered by insightful, cognitive psychologists and psycho-linguisticians and a shift in focus of writing pedagogy. During this time the work of Janet Emig (1971) created a linguistic change in writing from the writing process to the composing process. The shift from the physical activity of writing to mental actions of the writer resulted from a concern in universities about the growing number of college students who could not articulate their thoughts on a college level. That is, they lacked the necessary skills to communicate like professors thought they should.

Many professors felt that there should be a cross-discipline approach to writing that became known as "Writing Across the Curriculum." The first programs were

established at Carleton College in Minnesota and Beaver College in Pennsylvania. These programs dealt with getting students into the writing process or composing and not emphasizing the product (Feinberg, 1998).

In the 1980s, the focus of research turned in a new direction with scholars such as James Kinneavy (1990), Shirley Brice Heath (1988), and others scrutinizing the social nature of writing. Earlier research field-interests continued to contribute to the body of knowledge for writing pedagogy but now composing was viewed through the lens of social circumstances. Composition research expanded its focus to include all language, not just the written word, but also speaking, listening, thinking, and reading. Research became more interdisciplinary in nature. If rhetoric was epistemic, then language must demand explication. Writing allows one to bring a variety of disciplines into play creating an atmosphere that is naturally reflective in nature (Feinberg, 1998). Composition as a field of study came respectably into its own in the 1980s. NCTE, its various related organizations, the U.S. Department of Education, and some universities funded and published research documenting the history of rhetoric and composition.

The foundation laid by the movement of rhetoric toward an examination of social and communal aspects of writing was followed in the 1990s by the challenges of diversity in the classrooms (Feinberg, 1998). Gender, literacy, politics, and social construction issues all continued to be important in the 1990s. Connections with postmodernism and cultural studies also came into play during this time. Diversity came to the forefront of research interests, and the idea of crossing borders became a focus of composition studies. With the emphasis of research on writing instruction in the last forty years, composition inquiry has matured and seasoned itself as a respected field of study. The writers of the *Braddock Report* might find this amazing considering the way they described the state of research as being in an elementary state when they issued their findings in 1963 (Feinberg, 1998).

Other research interests included examining the history of textbooks and instruction. It was not until the nineteenth century that the United States published textbooks dealing with the concept of writing instruction. Up to a quarter-century ago, half of the country's secondary teachers had no academic instruction beyond freshman composition, as was the case for primary or intermediate teachers who had limited or little language development instruction in writing pedagogy. This trend seemed to have changed around 1992 (Applebee, Langer, Mullis, Latham, & Gentile, 1985). They point out that only 16% of eighth-grade teachers received specific training in techniques of writing praxis. Over time writing praxis has metamorphosed, going through one phase after another. Since writing does lend permanence to knowledge, and knowledge on the whole is transmitted through the educational processes, as strategies change so must writing pedagogy.

Carl Smith (2000) is a well known and widely published authority on writing and reading as well as a provider of programs that benefit parents and schools. He is director of ERIC Clearing House on Reading, English and Communication Skills and Director of the Family Learning Association. His knowledge led to the publication of several ERICDIGEST[™] articles relating to the history of writing and writing instruction. In an ERICDIGEST[™] article, Smith (2000) wrote on the history of writing instruction and how it has changed over the years. His research echoed what I found -the first major study of writing instruction was commissioned in the early 1960s by NCTE to discover what practices were being employed to teach writing. The study came to be known as "The Braddock Report." This report on writing research viewed the body of literature on writing instruction and research as being very elementary in nature. Since this study was first published, writing instruction has created a basic foundation for itself and solidified itself in the research field. Smith traces this process in a series of articles combining the decades of the 1970s and 1980s, a look at the 1980s alone, and then the 1990s.

Difficulties in Learning to Write

For the majority of children composing is difficult. Vygotsky (1999) discussed why writing is so hard for children to grasp, and he repudiated the idea that writing is learned in the same sequence as speech or reading stating that writing or written expression is a "separate linguistic function, differing from oral speech in both structure and mode of functioning" (p.180-181). Writing requires a high level of abstraction. The student must [separate oneself] "from the sensory aspect of speech and replace words by images of words" (p. 181). Writing is "speech without an interlocutor, or one who interprets or questions, and this is new to the child" (p. 181). Vygotsky went on to say that "children are not motivated to learn to write when we begin to teach writing" (p.181). The child understands the need to talk or read because there are motives to each, but writing is an abstract concept to the child and one that requires detachment from a situation (Vygotsky, 1999).

Methods and Strategies of Writing

This study reviewed strategies and methods of teaching writing in middle school language arts classrooms. Two contrasting models of teaching writing, the traditional model with an emphasis on product and the process model with an emphasis on composing, still compete in classrooms today. Most teachers seem to shuttle between these two models. High-stakes testing leads some teachers to abandon the process model for the more skills-oriented traditional model. The ability to teach students to write in authentic, meaningful contexts is crucial today (Fox, 1996).

John Hayes (1980) described writing as an act of communication that needs a "social context and medium" (p. 11). He also postulated that writing requires motivation and is a thinking activity requiring the brain to use its processes and memory components. Hayes discussed the task environment and the individual as they relate to writing. He divided the task environment into two areas - the social and the physical environment stating, "Writing is primarily a social activity," (p.12). Communication is the primary reason we write, but it has other components that make it social and important. Writing becomes a social artifact, and the reasons we write are shaped by the social environments in which we write. Our culture can also determine why and how much we write. Hayes detailed the ways and reasons different cultures and social classes communicate in a written format. He stated that the factors that influence writing are strong, but there is little research in this area, describing the research as "young." Hayes went on to advocate for research on the social component of the environment of writers in order to have a more complete understanding of the writing process.

41

Britton, Burgess, Martin, Mcleod, and Rosen's, (1975) *The Development of Writing Abilities (ages 11 –18)*, described their inquiry into how young people write and/or improve their writing skills. The authors described the lack of an adequate way to classify writing. They acknowledged that writing a poem is as different from writing a letter as writing an essay is different from writing a haiku. Their body of research in writing, and specifically the assessment of writing, was inadequate for what they proposed to do at the time which was to evaluate the writing abilities of students aged 11 -18.

The methods to be reviewed in this study include process writing, responsive writing, activating prior knowledge, writing processes, and writer's workshop (Atwell, 1998, 1987; Fletcher, 1993). A review of each of these methods of teaching writing is necessary to understand the context in which the participants and the researcher taught writing in their middle school language arts classrooms. I also examined which methods were dominant in each of the participants' classrooms. Writing assessment was also examined briefly as a component of the writing instruction process.

Process Writing

Writing is often taught as a step by step process for beginning writers; however, rather than linear, it is more of a cyclical or circular process that gravitates toward an end product (Calkins, 1986; Murray, 1987). As a writer one weaves in and out of the writing processes, often revising during each stage. Applebee (1986) stated that writing instruction previously was prescriptive and product-centered, stressing correct usage and mechanics. The 1970s saw a groundswell of support for process approaches in writing instruction as opposed to a focus on the final written product. While opinions differ as to

the exact meaning of process approaches, a general consensus defines this method as instructional activities designed to help students think through and organize their ideas before writing and to rethink and revise their final drafts (Applebee, 2000).

What does it mean to teach writing as a process? When one teaches writing as a process, one focuses on only one aspect of writing at a time. Dividing writing into a fivestep process makes the teaching of writing more tractable. The process writing steps taught in classrooms today are: prewriting, drafting, revising, editing, and publishing. Included in this strategy are activities such as brainstorming, journal writing, teacher/student conferences, and an emphasis on multiple drafts. In many instances, portfolios are maintained throughout the year to provide ample opportunity for students to polish their compositions. In the lower grades of many schools, these portfolios follow the students as they move through the grades.

Process writing involves a five-step process to create a finished product. The process involves creating one of four forms; expository, narrative, expressive and persuasive writing. Students begin with a prewriting activity such as webbing, brainstorming, or clustering and then begin their first draft. After their first draft, the student either self-edits or has a peer edit the piece. In this process the strengths of the work are discussed as well as what might be improved. After this the student rewrites and prepares for revision or the final draft.

There are many different stages of the writing process. Different students and teachers use different approaches to meet their needs. It is by no means a linear process. Instead the writer may go back and forth through different stages.

The process writing classroom is one designed for collaboration where the students are organized in ways that allow them to share their writing through discussion. Students are charged with filing their own writings in their writing folders. These folders contain the various stages of their writing (Process Writing Classroom, 2002). Students use the folders daily. Teachers examine the students' writing and then decide what to teach in writing mini-lessons. This method appears to be very close to what the Writing Workshop approach describes.

Writer's Workshop

One current theme of writing practice addressed by Smith (2000) was a change in emphasis from product to process. The main conversion came in the form of writers' workshops. In a writing workshop a mini-lesson is presented, students are given time to engage in a writing topic of their choice, and then allowed opportunities to share their compositions. Conferences, the foundation of the instructional component of writing workshop, can be conducted by either the teacher or a peer. Smith believed writer's workshop was the best environment for writing to take place. He posited students as young as first grade could profit from this approach. Nancy Atwell (1998) echoed his sentiments. Her work with writer's workshop has been emulated across the country.

While the use of writing workshops has grown over the years, the implementation within classrooms has been problematic. Smith described classrooms where teachers misused the concept of workshops, much as whole-language was abused or misused. He disclosed that teachers did not necessarily confer with students nor follow up on the principles of writer's workshop. Too often time to share students' writing was [and is] omitted. Although the implementation of writing workshop has been somewhat

capricious, the emphasis on student choice, longer periods of engaged writing, and the opportunity to share has engendered its use in many classrooms.

Writing Across the Curriculum

Writing Across the Curriculum has often met with the same resistance that faced reading teachers who have long advocated content reading strategies (Gladstone, 1987). This method of writing is sometimes also known as *writing-to-learn* or *writing across the content areas* (Jacobs, 2002). As with reading in the content areas, many middle and secondary teachers are resistant to cloak themselves with another mantle (Jacobs, 2002). While many middle and secondary teachers acknowledge the need to help students better understand the subject matter they teach, they do not always understand that writing can help a student better understand the material and clarify misconceptions they may have about the new concepts they are encountering. Middle and secondary teachers almost seem to feel that this extra burden will keep them from accomplishing the goal of helping students learn the required materials (Jacobs, 2002).

Jacobs (2002) argued that "strategies that accomplish the purposes of composition-based inquiry engage students in developing their thinking..." (p. 60). The very action of writing helps students place time order to their thoughts, and allows them to name, embody, change, or more completely assemble; and writing to learn stakes us in becoming invested in our own learning (Jacobs, 2002).

Just as each subject area has a technical vocabulary and a different purpose or goal for reading, each subject area has a different reason to write or need for written responses. Having students write in each of their subject areas not only justifies the need for writing, it also impresses the need for writing on the student. They see writing as necessary, not only in the English class, but in mathematics or business class as well (Highshue, Ryan, McKenna, Tower, & Brumley, 1988).Writing Across the Curriculum embodies the idea that we can utilize one skill from one subject area to another (Gladstone, 1987).

Responsive Writing

Responsive writing incorporates a genre of prose forms, such as letters, journals, fables, interviews – any written response to a variety of readings. Responsive writing is designed to help students organize their thoughts and to transmit these thoughts in writing. Responsive writing is usually low-stakes writing with the emphasis on exploring ideas and interacting personally with them.

The writer's relationship to print is an interactive one. The intentions a writer brings to a composition help to formulate sentences while simultaneously causing changes in the writer's thinking. Myers (1985) described this as utilizing writing as a means through which students can clarify, analyze, and integrate their own thoughts and knowledge of subject matter.

A study including responsive writing would be incomplete without discussing Louise Rosenblatt's (1983) work. Rosenblatt placed herself in the tradition of Dewey (1916) who believed in democracy as a way of learning. Rosenblatt's *Literature as Exploration* (1983) is "intertwined with democracy and literature" (p. xv). Rosenblatt felt that the teaching of literature would facilitate democratic life. Her use of literature in what ever form it takes (i.e., poetry, essay, novel, short story, etc.) helps one make "sense of life." Rosenblatt (1983) stated that we need to challenge students through questions that will evoke responses that explain, analyze, and reflect on their reading. These responses can be verbal or written. Expanding on Rosenblatt's ideas, Robert Probst (1990) described how some teachers have employed Rosenblatt's reader response theory in the classroom. Probst cited use of free-writing responses immediately after a selection was read, reading logs, or full-fledged papers written in response to a reading. Probst echoed Rosenblatt's warning that overuse of any one method to elicit students' responses was to be avoided.

Free Writing

Writing prompts are often used as springboards to motivate reluctant or struggling writers. A type of responsive writing is "free" writing in which the student constructs text in a set amount of time by simply writing without regard to mechanics or process. Peer editing may take place at a later time. The point is to get down as many relevant ideas as possible on a particular topic. From this "bank" of ideas the student can move into the process writing model.

Activating Prior Knowledge

Applebee and Langer (1983) wrote "Instructional Scaffolding: Reading and Writing as Natural Language Activities" and published it in *Language Arts*. They used the idea of scaffolding to create the image of school devoirs. Applebee and Langer suggested that schools do not scaffold knowledge building on what students bring to the classroom community, but instead ask students to simply identify facts or regurgitate information from the textbook. They concluded this article by acknowledging that the processes of learning to read and to write become intertwined in mutually supportive natural language activities. This was an idea addressed by Butler and Liner (1998) in the book, *Natural Language Arts in the Middle Grades*.

Vygotsky's idea of scaffolding built the framework for Langer (1984) in "Literacy Instruction in American Schools: Problems and Perspectives." Vygotsky 's (1999) ideas about language opposed Thorndike's view (p. 186). Scaffolding, as described by Vygotsky, meant that students were able to draw from a wide array of information stored in their own minds. This information was also available for use in other subject areas. Each subject area could provide support or a scaffold for other subjects. These ideas were valid and effective in 1984, but for the most part, fell on deaf ears in legislatures and state and local boards of education. These ideas need to be addressed and implemented because they are appropriate for today's teacher and students. *Writing Projects*

The 1970's saw major permutation in writing instruction with the *Bay Area Writing Project* which started in the San Francisco area by James Gray of the University of California at Berkeley (McKenna & Robinson, 1996). This idea gave importance to writing as a means to understand and learn about writing. It included the teacher in the process as a participant as well as facilitator during the instructional part of the writing lesson. The National Writing Project (Sizoo, 2001) was based on the Bay Area Writing Project. The National Writing Project is an effort to train teachers to lead National Writing Project type programs in schools around the country. The Writing Project Workshop is a summer institute in which teachers are trained in writing methods for use in their classrooms with their students. During the summer institutes, teachers meet with each other and form writing support groups - places where professionals can come together and write and share ideas about writing and the teaching of writing. During these sessions the teachers not only hone their writing craft, but they study research about writing strategies and pedagogy. The teachers, or facilitators, of these institutes are modeling the methods for teaching this style of writing instruction for the classroom.

Various sites offer these programs for students in grades five and up. The students spend about ten days practicing similar writing styles (e.g., narrative, persuasive, poetry). These programs are intended to encourage young writers to practice their craft and thereby create a life-long writer.

Assessment of Writing

Writing assessment has taken many forms in the course of its history. From the five-step process of writing or the workshop method there have been assessment issues. These issues have generally revolved around product versus process.

Keeping records of students' writing development is a necessary component of assessing the students' writing skills. Assigning grades on essays provides little information for instructional planning. Grades alone can not and do not demonstrate how the students' writing might be improved. Assigning grades provides scant information to the parents about their child's writing progress. Allington and Cunningham (2002) advocated written observations by the teacher about the students' writing development. Observations about spelling (development) or attention to writing conventions (capitalization and punctuation) identifies areas of improvement. Written observations of students' writing development should be recorded regularly and communicated to the children, to support staff, and to parents.

What does "Good Job" or a grade of C+ mean on a writing assignment designed

to compose a narrative essay? Stiggins, Frisbie, and Griswold (1989) confirm that grading practices offer unreliable assessments of students' writing development. A different teacher may evaluate the same assignment differently. This is because, for the majority of schools, there is no clear and consistent policy for grading students' writing, and as a result, grades vary widely from teacher to teacher. (Allington & Cunningham, 2002) Grading practices differ based on the importance teachers assign to effort, timeliness, test scores, extra credit efforts, creativeness, compliance, neatness, homework, makeup work, participation, and attentiveness (Allington & Cunningham, 2002).

Looking at students' writing samples over time assesses whether the writing is becoming clearer, more focused, and more organized. Examining the first and final draft of the same piece offers feedback as to whether the students are able to revise, edit, and polish their writing.

Many states have mandated grade-level writing assessments for students. The ability to pen descriptive, narrative, and persuasive writing pieces is expected at certain grade levels. These pieces are graded by the current teacher, depending on the grade level, or sent away for an outside state assessment. Some common standard is utilized to assess students' writing development based on the finished product. In Georgia, the standards are in the form of a rubric. The Middle Grades Writing Test is given to all third, fifth and eighth grades in January of the school year. In many middle schools the sixth and seventh graders participate in mock writing tests to simulate what the test will be like in eighth grade.

Some problems may occur in this type of "one-shot, one-day" assessment (Allington & Cunningham, 2002, p. 152). "Certain prompts are more relevant to some children than to others. Although the scorers are trained to achieve reliability, there is sometimes a very fine line between a sample scored 2 and another scored 3" (Allington & Cunningham, 2002, p. 152). Samples of writing need to be examined over a period of time, not just in the time frame of a testing day, in order to ascertain a more reliable idea of a student's writing ability (Allington & Cunningham, 2002).

Although the use of mandated writing tests is problematic, they do provide useful information. Unlike norm-referenced tests, students can not guess their way through the test, and the end product closely matches the individual's writing ability.

A major benefit of the mandated writing tests at the fifth, eighth, and eleventh grades is that students now spend more time in actual writing activities. Assessments tend to focus more on how clearly students communicate ideas in writing. Worksheets on grammar have been replaced by compositions. "Teaching the conventions of writing is most powerfully done in the context of children's writing activities – their attempts to communicate their ideas in print" (Allington & Cunningham, 2002, p. 153).

Teachers demonstrate the importance of writing when they participate in composing pieces with their students. "Composing opens a window to the thinking processes children use" (Allington & Cunningham, 2002, p. 153). Compositions provide a bounteous record of students' literacy development. Allington and Cunningham (2002) state, "Ideally, a teacher's evaluation of student work would assist students in understanding what additional learning or demonstrations of learning were needed to improve the performance being evaluated. Likewise, evaluations would inform parents and other teachers about what strategies students had acquired and indicate what strategies remained undeveloped" (p. 162). Rubrics are a favored way of judging writing as they give students a guide to what the teacher is expecting and an example of the criteria required for a paper that meets the teacher's expectations. Rubrics also allow the teacher to modify the requirements of the writing assignment and allow for a variety of skills to be addressed under one system.

Portfolios also address the idea of evaluating students from a multiple perspective. The portfolio allows the teacher the opportunity to show the student and parents the growth he has done over a period of time. The portfolio is a means to demonstrate that the student has improved his writing ability.

Summary

Examining teachers' practices and strategies requires the researcher to understand the pedagogical background of the participants. Pedagogy deals with questions of teaching and learning. How and why we teach is as important as what we teach (Lee, 2000). Lee maintained pedagogy "has to be informed by both our ideal visions of the function and possibilities of teaching writing, and by attention to the conditions within which we teach writing. Conditions name the local factors at play in a specific classroom, as well as the institutional, social, and political factors that inform and pervade our classes" (2000, p. 2).

Writing instruction has been a topic of serious inquiry and investigation for forty years. Smith's analysis of writing instruction showed a dire need to contribute to this body of writing research. Integrating reading and writing and improving my own knowledge of writing has taken on a new meaning for me. The writings of Kirby and Liner (1981) as well as Atwell (1998) have provided guidance for reforming my own writing praxis. Their use of the workshop approach to writing sounded intriguing, but

initially my own perceived inadequacies in writing deterred me from utilizing them for a period of several years. As I grew more confident in my writing skills, I became more comfortable with using a workshop approach. An added result was that my confidence in my ability to write also improved.

Writing has a long history as a means of communication. The research aspects of writing are now varied in nature. The body of research from which to choose research today is greater than the first major study of writing that took place back in 1963. Tracing the historical roots of writing gave me a better perspective from which to launch and develop my own study. Looking at how writing is being taught in a middle school by a language arts department and comparing what each grade does in the instructional program challenged me as a researcher and created a desire to inquire and grow.

While the body of research continues to grow in writing instruction there does appear to be a need to examine the instructional praxis of teachers and to conduct classroom-based action research. The collaborative effort between my participants and me provided each of us with a better sense of why and how we teach writing.

As the fields of rhetoric and composition have evolved, so have I as I read and researched the area of my study. My knowledge of how and why different concepts and theories were formed and crystallized has been expanded. The fields of rhetoric and composition have been transformed as society has been transformed. The historical issues of rhetoric and composition have followed what society itself has found to be issues. Collaboration and social constructions that were important in the 1970s and 1980s were also important issues in education and in businesses as the ideas of teamwork and quality came to the forefront of business practices. The 1990s challenges of diversity in society and the need to give a voice to various groups not only affected the focus of writing researchers but also concerned politicians and others.

Little is actually understood about the impact of various writing instruction methods on achievement, and this relationship needs to be researched further before drawing any conclusions based on the NAEP (1999) data. Perhaps spending more time discussing writing is not helpful. Instead, all beneficial instruction must be reinforced with more opportunities to implement what is learned in actual writing situations.

While notions of literacy and what it means to be a literate individual have taken on different meanings at many points in history (Resnick & Resnick, 1977), it is argued here that throughout the twentieth century the underlying views of literacy instruction seem to have remained relatively stable, as have the underlying beliefs about teaching and learning... that issues in reading and writing instruction are essentially issues of curriculum: what should be taught and how to evaluate the success of that teaching (Langer, 1984).

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

The methodology utilized in my study was qualitative in nature, combining narrative and classroom-based action research. Qualitative research within an action inquiry setting was the most appropriate methodology to accomplish the goals of my study. Quantitative analysis is an easy way to present data in a neat and concise package. However, inquiry is neither neat nor a concise procedure. It is a process that requires one to question, reflect, assess, and interpret the issues and participants' responses in a narrative format. Narrative inquiry was used to relate the stories of six middle school language arts teachers. Classroom-based action research allowed the application of our lived experiences to promote reflection and/or change in our methods of instruction. The theoretical framework of my inquiry was John Dewey's (1938) *Experience and Education* and hermeneutic phenomenology. John Dewey's educational philosophy put meaning in the context of the individual and states truth must be known in the context of individual experience. Nature is ever changing, so one must learn how to learn. Dewey's philosophy emphasizes inductive thinking and problem solving.

Hermeneutic phenomenological inquiry is a type of interpretive investigation that focuses on human perceptions (Willis, 1991; Van Manen, 1990). Asking the participants to reflect on their teaching experiences and then write about them was a phenomenological action. In my study I asked each of the participants to consider instructional strategies they utilized in their classrooms. I then constructed a narrative based on the conversations about our writing pedagogy. This promoted change in our instructional practices, hence, fulfilling the goal of classroom-based action research.

John Dewey's Philosophy

While positioning myself in any one philosophical camp was problematic, I found that John Dewey's philosophy of experience and education paralleled my ideas and beliefs as a middle school teacher. Dewey's (1897) philosophy outlined in his book, *Experience and Education,* mirrors the middle school concepts of developing problem-solving abilities and creating a democracy within the classroom. Inductive thinking and problem solving were the driving force of John Dewey's philosophy. These goals reflect the ones in the National Middle School Association's (NMSA) *This We Believe* (NMSA, 2000). Dewey's role for the student was to learn by doing. Learning by discovery utilizes research projects and group processes with democratic procedures and positions the teacher as a facilitator. This complements the NMSA's goals and beliefs which state that learning should be integrative, engaging, fairly abstruse, interactive, and applicable to the life of the student. Reading from John Dewey's (1897) *My Pedagogic Creed* reinforced my grounding in Dewey's educational philosophy. His creed could almost replace *This We Believe* (NMSA, 2000) because they both tout the same ideals.

Dewey viewed the school as a community where children were not only provided with opportunities for learning by doing, but also socially constructed society's values. Schools should help build a stronger sense of community. The teacher was viewed as a person who directs or guides the student to appropriately respond to influences that concern the student and his/her place in society.

Dewey's view of school was one of a specialized milieu instituted to educate students by consciously bringing them into cultural partnership. His concept of the

school's function was threefold – "simplify, purify, and balance cultural heritage" (Gutek, 1997, p. 94). He realized that with the increase in technology, industry, and continued urbanization, society was generating a larger breach between the adolescent's activities and the adult's responsibilities. Further, he viewed the teacher as a resource person who guided students in their learning by providing advice or assistance. This is in line with the NMSA's (2000) view of what a teacher is and does, as well as my own educational philosophy. It was Dewey's reflective view that the school should simulate life that led me to hermeneutic phenomenology.

Dewey's (1938) call for a need for "theory of experience" (p. 25) was not undertaken on a whim. He knew that advocating a radical change in the way education was presented would be met with resistance. He also acknowledged that the change must be paired with a system to accomplish the goals of an experiential education. Dewey outlined the empiricism of experience which is a pursuit of knowledge by observation and experiment. Empiricism is also a philosophical theory that attributes the origin of all knowledge to experience. That being said, he stated, "the belief that all genuine education comes about through experience does not mean all experiences are genuinely or equally educative" (p. 25).

Hermeneutic Phenomenology

Hermeneutics traces its roots back to the Greek philosophy labeled "practical philosophy". This framework has a long history that can be traced back to Aristotle's *Peri Hermenia*. Hermeneutics deals with the interpretation of information attempting to interpret the lived experiences of people to gain knowledge. It allows one to cross cultural boundaries and encourage dialogue between groups of people, especially those of

diverse backgrounds (Smith, 1988). According to Smith, hermeneutics allows for an understanding of understanding or reflection. This reflection enables the researcher to provide an interpretation of the participants' beliefs and methods of pedagogy. Smith (1991) states, "...the mark of good interpretative research is not the degree to which it follows a specific methodological agenda, but in the degree to which it can show understanding of what is being investigated" (p. 201).

Hidden perceptions are uncovered through hermeneutics. Crotty (1998) proposes, "[Hermeneutics has] ...potential to uncover meanings and intentions that are hidden in the text; and especially assumptions, that the authors themselves would have been unable to articulate" (p. 91). Knowledge is acquired when shared communication occurs between the participants and the researcher.

Phenomenology is an interpretive form of inquiry that focuses on human perceptions and experiences (Willis, 1991). In this study I asked the participants to think about their practices and, in turn, to describe how their teaching praxis influenced their students. Phenomenology is "not introspective but retrospective" (Van Manen, 1990, p. 10). It emphasizes human experience and how this experience is cyclical – one that involves a series of re-evaluations and reflections. Part of my study included interviews of the participants thereby allowing the participants to reflect on the processes they employed in their classrooms. Phenomenology requires successful practitioners to be a part of the process of the study as they will need to be self-critical and comfortable with how and what they teach (Willis, 1991).

The best description of my philosophical framework is taken from Max van Manen's (1990) hermeneutic phenomenology. Van Manen brings hermeneutics and phenomenology together with a hybrid he calls hermeneutic phenomenology. His combining or integration of hermeneutics and phenomenology enabled me to tell my participants' and my story more completely and clearly. His philosophy allowed me to write about the experiences of others and myself.

Van Manen (1990) defined hermeneutic phenomenology as a human science that studies people primarily through writing. The very nature of educators is to constantly reflect on their pedagogy. It is natural for professionals within their vocations to want to research areas of interest. Van Manen (1990) stated that research using the human science approach is one that is "avowedly phenomenological, hermeneutic, and semiotic, or language oriented, not just because that happens to be the particular interest of the author but rather because pedagogy requires a phenomenological sensitivity to lived experience" (p. 2). He further posited, "Pedagogy requires a hermeneutic ability to make interpretive sense of the phenomena of the lifeworld in order to see the pedagogic significance of situations and relations..." (van Manen, 1990, p. 2). The term, "human science" (p. 2) is often used interchangeably with the terms hermeneutics or phenomenology according to van Manen. Phenomenology describes the way people adjust to a lived experience while hermeneutics describes how a person interprets the "texts" of life (p. 4). The use of signs, symbols, or graphics called semiotics, provides the language to both (van Manen, 1990).

Hermeneutic phenomenology is a reflective means of acquiring information about a group of participants. It is a means to inquire about one's own profession, especially one that deals with people such as teaching. Writing is a primary activity of hermeneutic phenomenological inquiry (van Manen, 1990). Because I inquired about writing activities utilized in the middle school language arts classroom, hermeneutic phenomenology provided a means to understanding the experiences and methodology of my participants. Examining the various ways language arts teachers approach writing pedagogy within their discipline is consistent with van Manen's description of what hermeneutic phenomenology accomplishes. Writing, an integral component of hermeneutic phenomenology, and my desire to tell the stories of my language arts colleagues' writing pedagogy necessitated hermeneutic phenomenology as the avenue to conduct this qualitative inquiry.

Narrative Inquiry

Joining the theoretical framework of my study is narrative inquiry intertwined in classroom-based action research. The purpose of this study was to explore how middle school teachers in one school utilized writing in their language arts classrooms. I chose narrative inquiry and classroom-based action research methods because they best fit the focus of my research.

Narrative inquiry was chosen as the design for this study because conversations with teachers about their use of writing in their classrooms required the teachers to tell their stories. Narrative allowed the researcher to become a part of the lives of the participants and to be a part of the story (Phillion and He, 2001). Narrative inquiry allows a researcher to tell what he finds in a manner that is less obtrusive than some other research methods. Phillion and He (2001) state, "For narrative inquirers, research, education, and life experiences are intertwined" (p. 16). Phillion and He consider narrative inquiry one way to know and relate experience to life.

My experience with narrative began with the courses I took from Dr. Ming Fang He - the writings she has produced and the readings she required. Articles she and her colleague, JoAnn Phillion, wrote along with collaborative works with her major professor, Michael Connelly and his collaborator, Jean Clandinin, encouraged me to examine narrative inquiry as an avenue in which to do my research for this study.

Clandinin and Connelly (2000) described John Dewey as a "pre-eminent thinker in education" (p. 2). Dewey's interest in experience framed Connelly and Clandinin's work. They viewed Dewey's use of experience as a synonym of inquiry. They held that Dewey's experience is personal and social. Clandinin and Connelly interpreted Dewey's ideas on studying or writing about experience, life, and education to be the same as studying experience.

Clandinin and Connelly (2000) described narrative as a way to describe life and what life is. Within this description they talked about how education should be dialetically described. A dialogue between student and teacher takes place every day in the classroom. Describing the dialectic relationship in a language arts classroom was best served through a narrative approach.

Choosing the most comfortable inquiry method was an important process. Using narrative inquiry and classroom-based action research to accumulate data appealed to me. For a long time I wanted to tell my classroom story and find out why my students responded to my teaching style. I envisioned this research project and the methodologies described as the beginning of a journey with twists and turns that provided me with unexpected and surprising insights to my participants' and my own teaching.

I used narrative inquiry to relate the findings, questions, puzzles, and riddles I encountered as I conducted my research. My goal was to tell the story of my colleagues and our journey within the bounds of narrative inquiry guided by the requirements of action research. Connelly and Clandinin's account of what narrative is first caught my attention in Edmund Short's (1991) book, *Forms of Curriculum Inquiry*. Their further commentary in *Narrative Inquiry* (2000) increased my desire to use narrative as a part of my dissertation process. Citing Dewey, Connelly and Clandinin (2000) stated

For Dewey, education, experience and life are inextricably intertwined. When one asks what it means to study education, the answer – in its most general sense – is to study experience. Following Dewey, the study of education is the study of life... We learn about education from thinking about life and we learn about life from thinking about education. This attention to experience and thinking about education as experience is part of what educators do in schools. (p. xxiii)

Michael Connelly and Jean Clandinin's research (1995 & 1999) into the professional lives of teachers as researchers gave insight into what they call "epistemological dilemmas" (1995, p. 5). They saw themselves as students constructing teacher knowledge. They looked at how teachers think and construct knowledge for their own praxis (Connelly & Clandinin, 1999).

Classroom-Based Action Research

Action research has a long history. McKernan (1988) provided insight into action research and described three types of action research (i.e. scientific, practical, and critical action research). Corey (1953) defined action research as research undertaken by practitioners to improve their practices. Typical of these studies was a desire to "hypothesize or predict that certain results will follow from what appear to be better practices" (Corey, 1953, p.27). McKernan (1988) went on to define "practical action research" as a "form of practical reflection related to curriculum choice" (p. 175). McKernan further stated

[The] aim here is to develop the practitioner's personal interpretive account of professional practice and theory. In short, action research aims at an epistemology of practice (Strike, 1979) for the practitioner while contributing a utilitarian or use function to the solution of social practice problems. John Elliot (1981) defined action research as "the study of a social situation with a view to improving the quality of action within it. (p. 2)

McKernan (1988) elaborated that teachers use action research to solve their own puzzles and riddles, thereby providing them with a way to reflect and answer their concerns. He provided a series of procedures for conducting action research. They include the following

1) defining and clarifying the problem

- 2) conducting a situational review/needs assessment
- 3) formulating hypothesis/ideas for solution
- 4) developing an action plan
- 5) implementing the action plan
- 6) researching/evaluating the effects of the action taken
- making decisions reflecting, explaining, and understanding actions taken
- 8) reordering and disseminating the procedures and results
- 9) if a solution is not evident, this cycle is begun anew; the problem is redefined.

Action research is now being done more and more by teachers themselves as well as by outside researchers coming into the classroom. Cochran-Smith and Lytle (1993) discussed the role of teachers who do research in their own classrooms and schools in their book, *Inside/Outside Teacher Research and Knowledge*. They did not view outside and inside as opposites per se but as a dialogue between the researcher and the participants. Cochran-Smith and Lytle's (1993) work is identified or defined as research designed and carried out by teachers in a systematic and intentional method. Much of Cochran-Smith and Lytle's work is based on Lewin (1948) who stated that research on social conditions would lead to social action.

Cochran-Smith and Lytle (1993) admitted that while the terms "teacher research" and "action research" are reasonably new, their concepts and foundations are not (p. 8). They traced the origins of teacher research to Dewey (1916) where teachers were expected to reflect on their own practices and make intelligent decisions. Cochran-Smith and Lytle (1993) felt that involvement in classroom-based action research required significant enterprise by ingenious and committed educators to remain in their classrooms and, at the same time, create occasions to examine and deliberate on their own praxis.

Role as a Researcher

Reviewing the literature concerning research on reading and writing provided mounds of material to interpret. The importance of such an activity demands confronting, processing, and analyzing information concerning reading and writing and discovering the necessity of inquiry into this area. Another aspect is the plethora of articles and papers written, published, and presented over the last twenty years. Sifting through the mountain of material is a daunting task, as is screening and selecting the appropriate articles that will validate and encourage further research without simply regurgitating and/or recycling the past.

My role as researcher was further defined by the modification of the Dissemination Efforts Supporting School Improvement (DESSI) method that characterized efforts to research implementation or research programs. These efforts are presented in the *Handbook of Research Curriculum* edited by Jackson (1996)

- to identify locally and nationally developed programs that are appropriate
- to provide evidence regarding the effectiveness of the program
- to create awareness of the program
- to provide training so programs may be implemented in other classrooms and/or school; and to provide ongoing monitoring and follow-up activities necessary for the continuation of the program.

My role of researcher was one of vulnerability. Our working relationships allowed me to foster a sense of closeness to my participants. While their roles at the school were equal to mine, they may have felt cautious in responding during our interview session. My role as a researcher may have caused them to feel intimidated, knowing I would be examining their writing pedagogy and practices.

The very relationships that we built over the course of five to eleven years was tenuous within the school's setting with the issues of power and trust ebbing and receding. My participants' willingness to contribute was necessary to the completion of this study. While we maintained a professional and courteous relationship, we rarely had a friendship that was considered social. The very isolation of our working in separate classrooms, on different teams, and on various grade levels kept us from becoming close, yet we were still able to have a congenial and respectful attitude toward each other while working within the confines and constraints of our jobs.

Data Collection

"Qualitative research incorporates a variety of methods to conduct research," (Denzin & Lincoln, 1998, p. 5). Qualitative methods allowed for a more complete picture of this data. From my theoretical perspectives a variety of data collection methods were chosen to direct my study. The data collection methods for this study included: school portraiture, participants profiles, open-ended structured interviews, observations, artifacts, (e.g., lesson plans, notes, memos), and the researcher's reflective journal. *School Portraiture*

School portraiture was included to position the study and to provide a sense of context for the reader. Lawrence-Lightfoot & Davis (1997) declared a school portraiture reveals the "...dynamic interaction of values, personality, structure, and history" (p. 11). Demographics of the community, school, the faculty, students, and parents were included. The reader may become interested in the lives of the participants and see research as an on-going part of life (Phillion, 2001). School portraiture is developed with the purpose of providing a sense of context for the study. A picture of the physical, intellectual, and social make-up of the school will help readers position the study. The information contained in this portraiture comes from the National Study of School Evaluation (NSSE) that has replaced the traditional Southern Association of Colleges and Schools (SACS) report and the school's yearly Title I report.

The school in which this study took place was Leiston T. Shuman Middle School located in Savannah, Georgia. Shuman Middle School was originally built as a junior

high school in 1963. It was named in honor of a former businessman, civic leader, and Board of Education member. Initially it was a neighborhood school serving five hundred white, American seventh, eighth, and ninth graders. Later, a sixth grade level was added.

The first level of integration in the late 1960's brought the first African-American teachers, followed in the early 1970's by a court ordered desegregation plan, resulting in a more racially balanced student population. White flight or changing demographics of east side Savannah resulted in a flip of racial balance leading to a higher than countywide balance of black to white at Shuman. Shuman began the only English Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) laboratory in Chatham County middle schools, and it continues to serve a multicultural student body.

Shuman Middle School is located in east Savannah about one mile south of the Savannah River. To its immediate north is a private golf and country club, to its east and south are residential districts, and to the west is a historic Catholic cemetery. Within walking distance are three housing projects in which many students reside. The population includes students from the entire school district whose first language is not English. Magnet students are drawn from all of Chatham County, with the remaining students from the residential neighborhoods near the school. The population is diverse and reflective of the community .Prior to the 1997-98 school year, the school boundaries had not changed since 1987-90. Even though the school system realigned the districts in the summer of 1997, for most of the schools, including Shuman, the demographics of the student population changed very little.

In 1991, Shuman Middle School became the Performing and Visual Arts/Communications Technology Academy. This curricular addition brought about significant changes in the student population and ethnic composition of the school. The percentage of white students increased to meet the federal desegregation guidelines for the school system, and the overall student population grew significantly. Magnet students came from all areas of Savannah and Chatham County. Students became a part of the Magnet Program through an audition and screening process that included identification of a particular talent, personal recommendations from teachers, academic recommendations, and availability of space in the program. The Magnet Programs for the Performing and Visual Arts and Communications Technology were in place by 1991. Since then, a French foreign language component was added as part of the widening curriculum for the 2002-2003 school year.

While Shuman is a Magnet school drawing its population from the whole of Savannah and Chatham County, it does have four feeder schools, East Board Elementary, Spencer Elementary, and Islands Elementary and Thunderbolt Elementary Schools. Thunderbolt's students are split between those living north and south of Victory Drive in Savannah. Those living north of Victory Drive go to Shuman while those living south of it go to Myers Middle School. Islands Elementary is split in a similar fashion but on an east-west line. The students on the west side of Islands attend Shuman. The four elementary schools provide over two-thirds of Shuman's student population.

Shuman Middle School currently has two administrators: an African-American woman as principal, and a white female assistant principal. Supporting the administrators are two guidance counselors. Shuman's two guidance counselors meet the needs of Shuman's student population and also conform to Roy Barnes's, the former governor, educational bill. The administrative support staff consists of two secretaries, three clerks (data, media, and counselor), a school nurse, social worker, hospital-homebound (the social worker and hospital-homebound teachers are part-time positions) and a School Resource Officer (SRO). The nurse is full time, as is the School Resource Officer, but the social worker and the hospital-homebound teacher are divided among a team of schools and are at Shuman once a week.

The School Resource Officer's (SRO) job is varied. He helps with security of the school and provides a sense of safety as well as a means of conflict resolution and mediation for our students. The SRO is also a role model for our young black males.

The nurse, social worker, and hospital-homebound teacher help us with a wide range of issues that confront Shuman. The nurse does initial vision and hearing screening as a first step in a Student Support Team's efforts to meet the needs of the students. The social worker deals with problems of repeated tardiness and absences. She provides another way to check on attendance problems or other areas of educational neglect or abuse. It is the hospital-homebound teacher's responsibility to visit and teach students who will be out of school for more than a two-week period.

Shuman's staff is as varied as its student population. In the sixth grade the student/teacher ratio is 23:1; in the seventh grade, it is 26:1; and in the eighth grade, it is 27:1. The teacher/staff ratio is 2.2 teachers for each staff person. The sixth grade has four academic teams of three teachers each. The seventh grade has three academic teams of three teachers each, and the eighth grade has three teams, with two consisting of three members and one consisting of four members. There are seven special education teachers and four paraprofessionals serving our students with special needs. Three of the special education teachers are in self-contained classrooms. One works with Mildly Intellectually

Disabled (MID) students, another works with specific learning disabilities, and a third teacher works with students who have emotional behavior disorders (EBD). Three of our special education teachers work within the resource or pull-out model of instruction. One of the teachers serves the gifted population (SEARCH). Shuman had over fifty students who were identified as gifted and talented. In the fall of 1997, Shuman implemented a Schoolwide Title I Project to better serve its at-risk population.

The magnet program has full time teachers of Visual Arts, Dance, Chorus, Strings, Band, Drama, French, and Communications Technology. Connections courses include: enrichment reading, computer keyboarding, physical education, health, general music, guitar, art, remedial reading and math, video production, photography, and introduction to technology. The media center staff has one media specialist and a media clerk. The media center has over 1, 000 books. There are over 800 books identified as Accelerated ReaderTM (AR), but the AR program was not supported to a high degree.

Each teacher extends the guidance counselor's reach through an Advisor-Advisee program. "Writing Across the Curriculum" (WAC) is a part of the guidance activities and is included in the Title I school-wide plan. The students respond to a series of writing prompts to provide reflection on a variety of topics. Teachers also support the guidance program by initiating the Student Support Team, a process that addresses the academic and behavioral needs of individual students.

Interscholastic and intramural athletic events are a part of the physical, social, and emotional education of the students. Seventh and eighth graders can compete against other local middle schools in sports such as football, softball, cheerleading, volleyball, soccer, and basketball. Sixth graders can participate in track in the spring. An intramural program led by the athletic director allows the students to not only compete but also develop physical skills such as hand to eye coordination and social skills such as team building.

Shuman is an example of a model middle school in the many ways it applies the concepts of the NMSA's guidelines and yet is unique in that it applies the concept of the middle school to fit its own educational environment.

Participants' Profiles

In this research, six middle school teachers participated in studying how writing was taught and presented in their classrooms. The participants were a mixed group – five females and two males. Four participants were African-American and three were Caucasians. The assistant principal was the administrative voice of our group.

Jenene had taught for twelve years. She started her first year of teaching at another middle school and was excessed to Shuman. She is a single, African-American female from a family of teachers. She had taught language arts and reading on a four person team for most of her time at Shuman. She had been a team leader and department chair for the entire time I knew her.

Jenene and I worked together for eleven years. I had been a part of the language arts department on and off for about five years. Except for the last two years, I had taught three subjects – science, social studies, and reading; this caused me to overlap into three academic departments. This limited my getting to all the departmental meetings which caused me to have limited access and interaction with Jenene. Teaching only language arts during the last two years at Shuman allowed me to get to know Jenene better since she was our department chair. Jenene was born and raised in Savannah. She attended parochial schools for her elementary, middle, and high school years. She went to the local community college, Armstrong State College, as it was known when she graduated. She had always been required to write, however, the styles of writing changed as she grew older. Elementary writings were basic in nature. She explained that the writings were more or less corrections and diagramming of sentences. Her high school experiences demanded that she compose a number of expository and argumentative types of essays. She felt like these demands helped her in college. As department chair and an eighth grade teacher, Jenene believed the students coming to her were unprepared for the demands of eighth grade and high school.

Terri is a married African-American female and had taught at Shuman for seven years. Her teaching experience was primarily from her job assignment at Shuman. She was a graduate of the Pathways to Education program funded through the DeWitt-Wallace Foundation. She was originally a secretary for the Corps of Engineers but then decided she would like to teach. She realized that the Savannah-Chatham County Board of Education would pay for her classes if she was an employee. She quit her job at the Corps and applied to the Board of Education. While working as a paraprofessional at a local elementary school, she received her undergraduate degree in education. After graduating from Armstrong Atlantic State University, Terri was hired to teach reading and language arts. She believed she had found her niche teaching in the eighth grade.

Terri and I knew each other for seven years. We never worked together on the same team but had attended workshops together. Our relationship was not close, but from

our limited work together I came to know that she is a bright and capable teacher who had high expectations for her students.

Terri is originally from a small town approximately 150 miles southwest of Savannah. She described her upbringing as rural and said, "I would not take anything for the way I was raised". She grew up on a farm and had to help in the fields when planting and harvesting times came around. She felt that her elementary, middle, and high school writing experiences were negative. Her teachers mainly concentrated on the mechanics and correcting through the use of worksheets. It was in college that she changed her opinion of writing. Terri said that there was a professor in college that used a workshop approach and that helped her change her perception of writing from a negative one to a positive one. She tried to provide this type of encouragement to her own students.

Terri wrote with her students and tried to model the writing process for them. She developed some unique ways to involve the students in the writing process. One of those ways included having the students kinestically build a paragraph.

Leslie is a seventh grade teacher who is African-American, single, and female. She is one of thirteen children. Her parents died when she was one and a half. Her aunt and uncle already had six children of their own but chose to adopt her and her six other siblings. She was raised on Saint Helena's Island, South Carolina in a Gullah environment. Being the youngest of the adopted siblings, she learned the Gullah dialect and continued to practice and honor its traditions.

Leslie had taught at Shuman for five years. Her teaching responsibilities were primarily in language arts or reading. As an educator, Leslie believed it is the educator's responsibility to encourage " a sense of enthusiasm about learning." She also felt that learning is enjoyable and priceless and that an enthusiastic teacher will create enthusiasm in her students. She believed that teaching is more than just academics pulled from textbooks and that students must experience a variety of learning experiences. Leslie believed that teaching necessitates several components: commitment/dedication, high expectations, motivation, and innovation. Commitment and dedication are two in one - a teacher must be dedicated to the profession in order to become successful in it. Teaching is a work-in-progress with dedication the key to any success.

Leslie believed, as a teacher, you master the task of dedication then set high expectations to create an environment where your students produce the type of work you expect them to create. The teacher's expectation level is the level to which the students will work. Motivation was a part of her teaching process because the use of motivation encouraged students to go beyond their own expectations. She affirmed, "Children are stripped of so many dreams before adulthood and are facing great odds. It is our responsibility as their teachers to help them succeed against the odds and be a part of making their dreams come true."

Leslie and I knew each other for five years. During that time we had not worked on the same team, but we worked on the same grade-level. Working on the same gradelevel allowed us to work cooperatively as we shared the same planning time.

Tracy is a white, female, sixth grade teacher. She had taught for four years, all at Shuman. She had a Master's in Education with an emphasis in reading. She was married and the mother of three girls. She is a native of Texas. Tracy worked eight years in a series of what she calls unrewarding jobs when she made a decision to make a change in her life. She decided to better herself and try to make a difference in society by going back to school. Tracy realized that she wanted to work with adolescent students after taking her first psychology course. She also realized that working with at-risk students and teaching them to read was not only challenging but rewarding as well.

Tracy and I knew each other for five years. She took a year off and was a stay-athome mom. She and I did not teach on the same team, but we did teach on the same grade-level together and shared a common planning time. Besides Jenene, I probably knew Tracy best. We lived in the same area of town and shared rides home from work, and I also taught her oldest daughter. We had conversations about raising children and how best to educate our students.

During her undergraduate and Master's courses, Tracy spent a lot of her practicum time in middle school settings. It was during this time that she realized teaching reading was important to her and to the students she observed. She was touched and troubled by the fact that many of the students she observed progressed through the middle school experience without mastering many of the basic skills required to be an efficient and proficient reader. She knew that without the ability to read and comprehend the chances that these students would be successful in high school or in life decreased tremendously. In essence, their schooling would cease. Tracy came to realize that one of her biggest challenges was to help students set goals when they may not want or be able to see the need for goals. She characterized her approach as one of setting high expectations coupled with appropriate guidance and support. She felt that a great teacher is able to connect with her students. Overcoming the emotional, social, and physical needs that each student brings each day can be a challenge for any teacher. Terry is an African-American, female, sixth grade teacher. She began her educational experience as a paraprofessional assisting special education and elementary students. After being a paraprofessional for over a year and a half, she realized she could help students better if she were a certified teacher. She remembered that as a child she always wanted to teach and write.

In college she pursued a Bachelor of Arts in Mass Communications with an emphasis in print media. Terry had taught all subjects, but realized that her love of reading and writing compelled her to teach in the language arts area. Terry taught elementary school but wanted to specialize in reading and writing, so she transferred to Shuman Middle School where her new principal placed her in a sixth grade reading and language arts class. She avowed her love of teaching and declared that she would prefer no other career.

Terry felt that children can better grasp the concept of reading through extensive writing and creative discussion. She said, "After all, what good is a story if it is not read aloud? If you notice, most people read silently with their lips moving. They have a need to verbalize." She posited that students need to write daily, and teachers need to hold daily sessions to allow students to orally express their thoughts and writings. Writing was seen by this participant as an important tool needed in every aspect of life. She felt proud and glad to be a teacher because she touched so many lives.

I knew Terry the least amount of time. We worked on the same grade-level but not as teammates. She worked on a different wing, so we had little contact. Our lack of familiarity caused some tension but that may be in part to our really not knowing each other well. As the researcher participant, I am a white, male, seventh grade teacher. I was raised and have always lived in Georgia. My secular schooling consisted entirely of public schools. I came from a lower to middle-class background and have a younger brother. My parents always felt that education was important. While neither of them attended college they believed and expected both my brother and I to not only attend but to graduate from college and go on to become professionals. Neither of my parents expected or wanted me to become a teacher. They expected me to be a preacher, lawyer, doctor, or some other profession that required multiple years of college.

As I attended school I was known for having terrible handwriting. This did not bother my teachers too much as they told my parents – "Don't worry, he'll be a lawyer or doctor and won't need to write. Someone else will write for him." While my handwriting was atrocious, I did enjoy writing, at least for a while. During fifth grade I remember writing science fiction and horror stories. I have pleasant memories about those writings. I don't know what happened to them or why I quit writing. I just know that until I took the Southern Writing Project at Georgia Southern I had not written for pleasure in a long time.

Teaching writing was of little significance to me until I was on a two-person team in middle school. From that experience I developed an interest in combining reading and writing through an integrative approach. Luckily for me, that is a driving force of many language arts and reading textbook companies today. I got the opportunity to teach language arts in a seventh grade classroom a year ago. Since I was working on my Doctorate in Education, I found this an ideal situation to try out my ideas on writing and reading. Carl, our assistant principal, was originally from Wisconsin but had lived in the Savannah area for the majority of his life.

Carl did not have many fond memories of school life. Academics were not very important to him though he did attend college at the urging of his father. Actually, it was while attending a private boarding school that Carl decided to complete his education and seek a higher degree.

During high school and college he avoided writing and reading as much as possible. Music and drama were the creative outlets he employed as an emotional release, and became the source of income later in life.

While teaching in Georgia, Carl was drafted into the army. Later in Michigan, he used the GI Bill to work on a master's degree in elementary education.

After his military service, Carl moved to Savannah, Georgia where he taught music in one of the high schools. A few years later he became a middle school administrator. Carl was the assistant principal at Shuman Middle School where he became a participant in my study.

Of all my participants, Carl probably wrote the most, both professionally and personally. His Reflections© (1990) and Q's© (1999) have been shared to express his views and philosophies about education and teaching. He expressed pride in his writings. *Open-Ended Structured Interviews*

Interviews between the researcher and the participants took place on two levels. One level was the individual daily conversations with the participants to discuss the process of the study. On another level the researcher was conducting structured interviews with the participant and discussing what practices and methods were used in their classrooms. These meetings allowed for a more accurate picture of what went on in the classrooms during the school day.

Qualitative researchers have relied on interviewing participants. Kahn and Cannell (1957) defined interviewing as "a conversation with a purpose" (p.149). Marshall and Rossman (1995) gave interviewing a nebulous definition or description when they stated "interviewing varies in terms of a priori structure and in the latitude the interviewee has in responding to the questions" (p. 108). Interviewing does have requirements that may be seen as weaknesses. The interview "requires personal interaction and cooperation is essential" (p. 110). The interviewee may not fully disclose what the researcher wants to know or be totally comfortable within the interview process. The interviewer may not ask the "right" questions and may not be able to sift through the conversation and understand the true meaning of the interviewee's response (Marshall & Rossman, 1995). However, Marshall and Rossman avowed that interviews have "particular strengths" (p 108). The strength for me was that interviews allowed for a great quantity of details to be gathered quickly. That encouraged participation in my study.

Marshall and Rossman (1995) described in-depth interviews as conversations designed to find out how the participant comes to be involved in the research process. The interviews were audio-taped to allow my study to more fully concentrate on what the participant was saying and to notice their body language. During the interviews I hoped to more fully understand the writing strategies of the participants and to find more details than the observations revealed.

Observations

Classroom observations were a component of the data collection for my study. The observations were nonjudgmental noticings conducted to capture the complex interactions and actions within the participants' classrooms. The notations were holistic descriptions of events and behaviors (Marshall & Rossman, 1999). The value in conducting informal observations allowed me to discover recurring patterns of behavior and relationships. While identifying the "big picture" during fast-paced, authentic situations may be problematic, Marshall and Rossman (1999) avow, "Observation is a fundamental and highly important method in all qualitative inquiry: It is used to discover complex interactions in natural social settings" (p. 107). While there are no objective observations, (Denizen & Lincoln, 1998), becoming a silent member of my participants' classrooms afforded me valuable insights into their writing practices.

I was unable to observe all the teacher participants as two of the teachers transferred to other schools during the dissertating process. Being one of the participants, this researcher was also excluded.

Artifacts

The artifacts were the lesson plans from each participant and Shuman's Writing Plan. I included reflections on the interviews and observations of my colleagues and other information they shared with me. Standardized test scores such as the writing test taken by the eighth graders or the Iowa Test of Basic Skills (ITBS) were viewed to assess where the students were in relation to the expectations of the teachers.

Examining the artifacts provided concrete evidence of what the participants talked about in the interview process. Having access to the participants' lesson plans and other anecdotal records enabled me to better understand their attitudes toward writing and the strategies they use in their classrooms.

Researcher's Reflective Journal

During the course of this study I kept a reflective journal. This journal included not only my thoughts as I went through the various stages of this project, but also comments on the observations and conversations that took place throughout the research process. The journal allowed me to reflect on the various components of the study as they occurred and gave a sense of where I started, where I am, and where I am going. The journal became a part of the data analysis and data interpretation.

A journal provided time for me to not only reflect but to speculate and hypothesize about my participants' comments. Interpreting the participants' comments was an important part of sharing the lived experiences that we had in common and provided insight into our differences.

The journal became a private component of the study, but sections were used in the study as I made comments on the progress of the study and did my evaluations and commentary on the data collection process.

Data Management

All the data gathered throughout this study was kept under lock and key in a safe file cabinet. My supervisor and I were the only two who had access to this information. Back-up copies of all data were made following each section of the study. This information was stored on the computer via floppy discs and the hard-drive with a password protection as well as CDs and flash drives. These multiple back ups insured that important information would not be lost during the research process.

Data Analysis

Marshall and Rossman (1995) guided my data analysis process. They suggest: organizing the data in separate folders, creating categories (i.e. identifying themes and discrepancies), color-coding data, testing emergent understandings (i.e. evaluating data for plausibility and exploring the usefulness of the data), searching for alternative explanations, and writing the dissertation. Using a variety of data sources may help traingulate the data for validity (Glaser & Strauss, 1967; LeCompte & Preissle, 1993) Shared thoughts and findings from the participants and the anecdotal records helped form the triangulation process.

Data Representation

I represent the data in my dissertation in a series of six chapters. Chapter 1 deals with the introduction of my topic of study. Included in Chapter 1 is my introduction, research questions, context of study, autobiographical roots, limitations of the study, and the significance of the study. This section positions my study and declares its importance.

Chapter 2 is a review of the literature and related research. In this chapter I discuss the history of writing and writing instruction, difficulties in learning to write, methods and strategies of writing (i.e., process writing, Writing Across the Curriculum, responsive writing, activating prior knowledge, writing projects/workshops, assessment of writing, and a summary.) Chapter 2 positions my study in the history of writing and its instruction.

Chapter 3 deals with the methodology of my study. My theoretical framework is based on the educational philosophy of John Dewey (1997) and hermeneutic phenomenology espoused by Max van Manen (1990). Within this framework I am writing a narrative inquiry utilizing classroom-based action research. School portraiture, participant profiles, open-ended structured interviews, observations, artifacts (i.e., lesson plans etc.), and a researcher's reflective journal will comprise the data collection component. This chapter also includes a data management and data analysis section. A review of the limitations and the significance of the study were also examined.

Chapter 4 is a more in-depth look at the participants, their profiles, relationship with the researcher, and the interviews about their writing instruction.

Chapter 5 is an analysis of the data and the findings that occurred during the study. This chapter will disseminate any common threads between the teachers' writing instruction and their philosophies of education.

Chapter 6 summarizes the dissertation and brings this part of the process to completion. As with any research endeavor one hopes that the questions raised and the answers found will take one on further journeys to discover more about one's self and one's praxis. The experiences uncovered and encountered may help me be a better practitioner and more reflective in my teaching.

Limitations of My Study

The small number of participants and the limitation of one school is an inherent concern. The familiarity of the researcher with the participants could pose another issue. Finally, the researcher's own biases may interfere with the ability to appropriately analyze all aspects of the research.

Significance of My Study

Learning is not a static process. It is a dynamic environment within an atmosphere of change. Robb (2000) stated, "To move forward, it's helpful to look backward, for by

looking backward, a school community gains insights into its history, comes to know how certain events shaped its climate and environment, and can use those understandings to plan for professional study" (pg. 49).

A community of teachers can discover its strengths through collaborative study and use their collective voice as an impetus to promote change to develop congruent beliefs about how students achieve success. The significance of my research is seen and heard in the individual and collective voices of the teachers of Shuman Middle School as our reflections focused our perceptions of writing instruction. It is hoped that the administration will utilize the finding of my research to develop professional staff development to improve writing practices at all grade levels.

Significance of my research also lies in the fact that while there is research on writing there is a limited body of knowledge on how teachers view their own praxis. Another significant fact is the ability to reflect on the current writing practices in my school. As a department we will be able to examine whether we are using strategies that we, collectively, feel are valid. We will each be able to reflect on our own teaching practices and think about the whys of what we do. This time of reflection will hopefully provide our school with improved practices for our students' writing abilities.

Summary

The methodology of this research involved a variety of themes. The use of narrative with classroom-based action research utilizing school portraiture and participant profiles allowed for a natural conversation to take place between the participants and researcher. My reflective journal allowed me to identify and analyze insights and nuances that occurred within the conversations and structured interviews. The school portraiture positioned the research in Savannah. It also gave the reader background on Shuman Middle School – from where it came and where Shuman may be going. It provided a capsule of the school setting.

Narrative allowed me to tell the stories of the participants, the school, and my findings as my research developed. It allowed me to have an in-depth relationship with the participants and still provided me with information and knowledge to improve upon my own praxis and make a contribution to the research field I am studying.

The use of participant profiles allowed the reader and future researcher to know my colleagues in a more familiar light. The profiles also allowed me to better know those with whom I work and their educational philosophies, strategies, and expectations.

The open-ended conversations allowed for a more complete trust to be established between the participants and myself. We could participate in discourses reflecting not only on ourselves and our praxis, but also on what we wanted our students to know as they moved through Shuman. These conversations could help us to improve our teaching and our students' abilities to become better writers.

The stories recounted in this qualitative research could provide the impetus for change. Reflection allows one to analyze past and current practices while focusing concurrently on future improvement. This endeavor brought me back to the basis of my philosophy and Dewey's (1997) that reflection is a part of the teacher's responsibility and role.

CHAPTER 4

DATA REPRESENTATION:

INTERVIEWS WITH TEACHER PARTICIPANTS

AND THE ASSISTANT PRINCIPAL

In this chapter I present interviews with the teacher participants and the assistant principal at Shuman Middle School. Part I contains the teacher participants' responses to the interview questions. In Part II the responses are from the questions asked of the assistant principal.

This study was designed to explore the writing pedagogy of six middle school language arts teachers and one administrator and their attitudes toward writing. The methodology was based on the hermeneutic-phenomenology of Van Manen (1990) and narrative inquiry rooted in Phillion and He (2001) and Connelly and Clandinin (2000) as well as classroom-based action research from Cochran-Smith & Lytle (1993) and McKernan (1991). The theoretical framework was based on John Dewey's (1938) philosophy of education.

In this study I have attempted to discern the essence of my colleagues' pedagogy and their philosophies on teaching writing in their language arts classrooms. The six teacher participants included two from each of the three grades in a middle school – two sixth, two seventh, and two eighth grade teachers. Five of the participants were female and two were male. Four of the participants were African-American and three were Caucasian. After providing the setting for the research, I introduce the setting through school portraiture and then acquaint the reader with the teachers and assistant principal through participant profiles. These profiles provided more in-depth understanding of who my participants were, from where they came, and how they got to where they were in their professional lives.

Chapter 4 presents the data gathered from the open-ended structured interviews. The interviews took place after school and in the classrooms of each of the teacher participants. The participants selected the time and place for our interviews. The assistant principal's interview session took place at his home early one Saturday morning.

I presented each question to the participants allowing them to respond freely and with as much detail as possible. Each participant's response was recorded, transcribed, and analyzed. The researcher's response/reflection on the session is provided, thus allowing the reader a more complete picture of each participant's practices in writing and an opportunity to perceive the participants' similarities and differences.

Each of the participants' responses was transcribed and any problems in syntax are the result of my trying to honor and retain the voice of my participants. Their stories were recorded, and as I listened to the tape, I wrote what they shared.

Each of the participants worked at Shuman Middle School and had known the researcher for at least six years. Participants were chosen because of their teaching positions and their willingness to be a part of this research. An administrator was selected in order to garner a complete understanding of the design and requirements of the school's improvement plan for writing.

Carl was our assistant principal, and we became friends during his tenure at Shuman. He headed most committees that involved writing reports or grants at

Shuman. His own writing ability contributed to the success of many of the school's grant proposals. As a vital member of the school improvement plan, Carl was significant to our participant group. Jenene, a journalism major with a passion for writing, was our department chair, eighth grade teacher, and the colleague I had known the longest except for Carl. Her insight into the department's goals and the requirements of the Middle Grades Writing Assessment made her inclusion in this study critical. Terri was another eighth grade teacher, and since her students' scores in writing were superior and well documented in the past, I wanted her as a part of the research. Terri and I had worked together for five years at Shuman. Leslie was one of my counter parts in the seventh grade. We had developed a rapport over the years and had discussed our attitudes toward writing, language arts and reading for a couple of years. Her style and mine, while different, shared some common themes. Tracy was a fairly new teacher to the profession. Her friendship was the first reason I asked her to participate and later her students' examples of work caught my attention. She tried to get all her students involved in the process of writing. Terry was the last of the group I asked to participate. I really did not know her that well, but I realized after our interview and time together that she not only taught writing, but was a writer herself. I chose to include myself as the counter to Leslie in seventh grade, as an avenue of addressing a male perspective, as a means of reflecting on my own pedagogy, and to strengthen my own writing praxis.

Part I presents the teacher participant's responses to the interview questions. Carl's responses to the interview questions are found in Part II of this chapter. While Carl responded to the first three questions asked of the teacher participants, the

88

questions asked of him were of a different nature since he did not teach on a daily basis. The last five questions asked of Carl were designed to elicit information relating directly to Shuman's school-wide writing plan.

The transcripts of the interviews are followed by my reflections and analyses. My reflections are in italicized print to be easily distinguished from the participants' responses. I did not write a reflection to any of my own responses.

Part I: Questions and Responses of Teacher Participants

Question 1: What was your attitude toward writing as an elementary school student? a secondary student? an adult? a teacher/professional?

Jenene: I kept a diary or journal because of my third grade teacher. I did not like writing to prompts, but if it was about something I wanted to write about, then I wrote. I write poems and stories as well as notes or letters to friends and family. It is cathartic and has helped me through my grandmother's death and things I have had to deal with lately. In high school most of our writing focused on the preparation for the SAT (Scholastic Aptitude Test). In parochial schools we did not have a writing test per se; there were no statemandated tests. I was in the Advanced Placement (AP) classes so there was a lot of writing in those classes. I did not mind these kinds of writing because when I finished them I could go and write about what interested me –my thoughts and travels. Elementary writing was teacher-directed/dictated and mostly religious based – perhaps writing about the sacraments. Most of the writing was timed – 15 minutes or 30 minutes to complete an assignment. In high school my writing assignments were more like my college requirements. They were still primarily teacher directed but sometimes choice was involved.

I believe writing is a necessary means to communicate. As an adult I know this, and I write letters and notes more than I e-mail. I try and convey this to my students. You need to write not only well, but concise[ly]. As a teacher I hate paperwork. I find that I need to write along with the students. I am trying to give the students more control in their own writing or topic choice.

Writing should be something you enjoy. Yes, it can be tedious, but we want the students to see the joy and beauty of the English language. If we can do that then we won't stifle the students toward writing. Not everyone will love writing but maybe they won't resist it so much.

Jenene wrote in all areas of her life. She had used writing as a type of therapy to help her through difficult times in her life such as her grandmother's death. She seemed to like writing both in and outside the classroom. While growing up her attitude toward writing fluctuated, yet she remained a writer. She realized the importance of writing, not only for herself, but also for her students.

Jenene did not remember being given any choice in writing topics until high school and college. Her early memories were of product-oriented, teacher directed assignments. Jennne differed from the other participants in that she attended a parochial school rather than a public school; therefore some of her writing was about religious topics. While the elementary years were very structured and teachercontrolled, Jenene recalled that it was a third grade teacher that got her interested in keeping a journal or diary. She echoes what I believe most students feel, if it is something that is relevant to them, they will write; if it is not, the teacher will meet with resistance.

Jenene is a writer, both in her professional and personal life. Her love of writing was evidenced by the students' work displayed outside her classroom. She got the most out of her students because she was enthusiastic about what she did. I believe her students sensed Jenene's passion for writing and they responded to that emotion.

Terri: We did not do much writing in elementary school and was given worksheets to complete. This is probably why I was against writing. I did not get much experience in writing itself. My exposure to writing was mostly worksheet oriented and concentrated on the mechanics. I have begun to keep a journal that reflects on my life professionally and personal[ly]. I write while I have my students write.

Terri, while growing up did not like writing or find it rewarding; however, as an adult she came to appreciate writing and knew the need for it. She evidenced this in the way she approached writing (i.e. she wrote while her students wrote). Terri mirrored Atwell's (1987) belief that students need adult role models who write. She had less experience than Jenene in teaching but was commended for teaching her students to write well and for their scores on the Middle Grades Writing AssessmentTM.

Terri's response was very brief perhaps due to her negative experiences with writing in elementary school. Using worksheets to emphasize mechanics did not appear to motivate her to write. Composing should be purposeful and relevant to the students rather than simply focusing on discrete skills. Writers improve their use of mechanics by writing in a meaningful context.

Leslie: As an elementary student I did not like writing because the teachers would tell me what to write. They did not make it interesting for me. They did not tell me why I was writing. I did not know what the teachers wanted. Did they want me to write what they wanted to hear, or did they want me to write what I thought or heard? I mostly wrote summaries, and they were o.k. It was the journal writing that I disliked. I worried about spelling and other mechanics. My teachers would tell me not to worry about those things, but I did. I could not finish because I worried about spelling and the like.

In middle school I liked writing poetry. I was told I could write my own feelings, and I could rhyme, so poetry was fun; I was the author. I was from a large family, and there was a lot of poetry in me.

Essays and other compositions scared me. I began to feel comfortable about writing in graduate school. One of my professors would give us a fiveparagraph essay to write each week. I discussed with my professor what I thought my weakness was. I told him staying on topic was difficult for me, so he planned some activities outside of the class for me to practice. He explained the process in a non-threatening manner; then through practice and the use of prompts I became a better writer.

As an adult I have written lesson plans that I am very proud of and believe that my students could accomplish. When I get the students' papers back, however, I get depressed because they have not been able to do what I wanted them to do. I know many of them are in the same situation I was in at their age. It would discourage me to teach writing because there were so many mistakes on their papers. I ask my students, "What is it that you don't understand? Is it the way I explain it?" I try and give them topics that they can relate to, such as rap or music.

What has been working for me the last two years has been to approach writing as a dessert. We begin by discussing what a paragraph is and then I ask them what their favorite dessert is. Most of them say ice cream. They are then asked to introduce the ice cream without mentioning the type. Then I ask them to include three things they like about the ice cream or descriptions of it and then write a conclusion. The students seem to enjoy it, and it seems to work.

Outside of school I occasionally write in my journal. I write poetry but only for special occasions.

It is still a struggle or battle for me to teach. I became comfortable with writing at such a late stage in my life, and I want these students to want to write from what they know. Students need to know how to write a paragraph. The sixth graders need to have a good grasp of how to write a sentence. If they have that knowledge then we can work on the writing of a paragraph. Basic skills are necessary in writing.

Leslie wanted a purpose for writing. It sounded as though there was a lack of communication between Leslie and her teachers. Atwell (1987) advocated giving

students a choice in selecting their topics. Choice allows students to use writing as a means to shape their thoughts and ideas.

Leslie preferred poetry over journal writing. The emotional aspect of poetry appealed to her. Her comment about coming from a large family and having "a lot of poetry in me" was somewhat of a conundrum.

The guidance Leslie received from her professor enabled her to become a better writer. The use of prompts helped her to focus her thoughts. It has been said that we as teachers teach in the manner we were taught. The very problems Leslie experienced in school resurfaced in her own classroom. She attempted to motivate her students by assigning topics she thought they would find interesting and to which her students could relate. She tended to blame herself for the students resistance to writing.

Leslie, like Terri, did not care for writing as she went through elementary and secondary schools. It was only when she went to college that she began to enjoy writing. Writing became important to her. Her description of the pride she took in creating her lesson plans was a measure of a growing love for writing.

Leslie, while admitting she struggled to teach writing, wrote well herself. I heard her share some of the pieces she had written and they were compelling. The passion and emotion she displayed in her writing was something she shared with her students. Writing was an emotional release for Leslie.

Tracy: In college I wrote all the time and got good grades. I really don't remember high school assignments. I don't remember elementary or middle school writing experiences either, but I can tell you about my daughter. She loves to write. In elementary school she wrote all the time, and wrote really neat stories.

Like Terri, Tracy's response was very brief. She appeared reluctant to talk about herself as a writer. She wanted to tell me about her daughter. Talking with her one day, she said she wrote all the time in college, but she did not remember writing experiences prior to or during high school. Any theories I may have about her reticence in responding to the question or her inability to remember anything about writing in school would simply be conjectures.

Terry: I really liked to write and thought I was a good writer as an elementary student. I had some really strong teachers who helped me write. I enjoyed school and was an honor roll student and did quite well in creative writing. I don't recall writing that much in junior high. We did a lot of hands-on work. The school system seemed to be changing in format, so I really don't remember writing a lot in junior high. High school was a turn around for me. I joined a creative writing group, and it was one of my teachers there that encouraged me to go on to college where I majored in Mass Communications. I wrote a lot of essays and enjoyed my English classes.

As an adult I am a children's book writer and am trying to get published as a writer of children's books. I have written several books but have not yet been published. I have a poetry anthology that I am trying to get published. I love to write. I love to write it. It helps me to remember. It is my way of communicating. I encourage writing in the classroom. Terry is a writer. She even aspired to be published and become a writer of children's book. She had always written and was passionate about her writing. Terry attributed her skill as a writer in part to her elementary teachers. She sought out writing opportunities in high school and there found encouragement in her desire to attend college. Writing was Terry's method of communication. She sought to impart her passion for writing to her students.

Bill: I really don't remember writing as an elementary student other than the fifth grade. I wrote short stories about space and horror, but after that I don't remember writing too much. Junior high and high school writing experiences draw a blank. It was not until college that I really had to write. My not being asked to write in junior high and high school affected my ability to write research papers in college. As an adult I used to write a lot – cards, letters and the like. Now my writing is regulated to the classes I take and the dissertation I am writing. I still e-mail friends, but other writing has gone by the wayside. I want to pick back up my journalizing for my sake rather than for a project. As a teacher, most of my writing relates to school.

The joy of writing for me has come and gone in spurts. I have enjoyed writing, but at times it has been an anathema for me. For a long time writing personal notes and letters was very important to me, but now I don't seem to have the energy to write and keep in touch with friends and family. Writing is still important; I just want writing to become a central part of my daily life. Question 2 – What kinds of personal writing do you do now? Jenene: I continue writing in my journal and personal letters. I am amazed at the naiveté that my early writing reveals when I review what I wrote in my youth. I continue to write in a variety of places and for a variety of reasons. I use my journals to reflect, not only on personal issues and thoughts, but on my own professionalism.

Writing is still important to Jenene both in and out of school. Her journals allowed her to reflect on how far she had come as a writer. Her letters kept her in touch with her family and friends. Writing is a dynamic process that evolves over time. The more we write, the better our writing. This is reflected in Jenene's perception of the growth in her writing.

Terri: The journal covers both professional and personal issues with me. I write poetry and other types of writing with my students.

Like Jenene, Terri kept both a professional and personal journal. Her poetry that she shared with her students was also part of her personal writing. Perhaps it was this sharing of her own writings that caused her students to respond in their writing and to write well in different settings.

Leslie: My personal writing is to my journal and in a Bible study response journal. I do not write as much as I should.

I think Leslie hit on a good point here. Each of the participants expressed the thought that they did not write as much as they would like to write or should. Like the first two teachers, Leslie kept a journal. She did not elaborate as to whether the journal was a reflection on school issues or personal thoughts or a combination of both. I have heard her recite some of her writing. Some of it was done in her native Gullah and was very interesting and compelling to hear.

Tracy: Right now the only writing I am doing is a Bible study. I am also writing a journal based on what I am reading in the Bible.

Again, Tracy gave a short response like Terri's and Leslie's. Tracy's personal writing revolved around a Biblical theme like one of Leslie's journals. I wonder if the amount of writing one does is proportionate to the amount one asks of their students. The motivation to write emanated from personal issues. Tapping into relevant, authentic topics with the students may be the impetus that will unlock the writer in them.

Terry: I am writing in a journal as part of an Ed.S. program at Lincoln Memorial University. I am formatting some more books for the series I am writing. I have five of them together right now. I write anywhere and anytime. I just write. I write late at night when no one is around. It may be silly stuff, but it sounds good to me. I just write. I write poetry. I just wrote an essay for my Teacher-of-the-Year nomination.

Terry wrote a lot. She found time to write everyday. Her desire to write and be published was evident in these interviews. She wrote whether she thought people would like it or not – "It may be silly stuff, but it sounds good to me." This is an interesting concept for our writing classrooms. Any author needs to like what they write. This is especially germane for students. So often they become defeated because they think their writing does not sound "good". Terry wrote with the confidence of a true author. Writing was an integral part of her life. **Bill:** Currently most of my writing is limited to personal and professional e-mails and the dissertation process. I have really lost the energy to write cards and notes to people though I do write a letter to family and friends at Christmas to keep them abreast as to what is happening with our family. I hope that comes back after the dissertating process is over. I keep trying to keep a journal to reflect on my daily teaching. I keep an anecdotal record so that I can reflect on what goes right and what I can improve in my daily teaching experiences. I do not want to repeat activities that do not work well with my students, and I do want to remember strategies that went well and not just trust I will remember the lessons that worked. Anecdotal records are a part of my job.

Question 3 – What training have you received in teaching writing?

Jenene: In both my undergraduate and graduate programs, writing was a

requirement. Once I began to teach at Shuman, my principal sent me to the Coastal Writing Project. This helped me become a writer. The workshop puts you in the position of being a writer. I have not had any other training. I am considering starting work on an advanced degree, and I know I will need to improve my writing as I move along in the process.

While writing was a requirement of undergraduate and graduate programs for Jenene, she did not state that she had any classes that taught her the pedagogical reasons or strategies for writing. The Coastal Writing Project provided an avenue for teachers to hone their own craft but did not provide strategies per se for the teaching of writing to students. As Jenene mentioned, the workshop helped her become a better writer, but it did not offer specific help on teaching writing to her students. Even good strategies can be improved. **Terri:** I have taken several conferences or seminars from the Coastal Writing Project.

My formal training in writing has come from my college days and these workshops. I've had some staff development courses.

Again, Terri received no specific training in the teaching of writing; however, she also attended the Coastal Writing Project. Conferences and seminars seemed to be the training for the majority of teachers. It is interesting that Terri did not mention her writing experiences in college earlier.

Leslie: I have taken staff development and the class I mentioned before with the professor who helped me. I have taken workshops and even gone on-line to try and find information on ways to teach it. I even participated in a workshop that presented writing strategies.

Leslie searched for ways to teach writing to her students, but again there seemed to be limited training in the teaching of methods that would enable teachers to instruct their students in writing. Asking about the workshop she attended may have provided more information about the type of training she received. The Coastal Georgia Writing Project is attended the most often.

This was the first mention of any use of technology to enhance instruction. The Internet offers a plethora of strategies and activities that may motivate students. Unfortunately, the classrooms at Shuman were equipped with one computer for the teacher's use. The computer lab could have been utilized for students to compose, but was usually reserved for practice on skills for the GCRCT. This is a weakness in the writing plan at Shuman. **Tracy:** The only training I have received was in college. The method I learned was [writing] workshop. We wrote draft after draft with conferencing between drafts. It was modeled after the method Nancy Atwell recommends. My training in writing came from my language arts methods class. My undergraduate degree was in Middle School with an emphasis in language arts and reading.

Tracy was the first participant to mention a course that taught her how to write and how to teach the students to write. The workshop approach of Nancy Atwell does train teachers in methods that instruct students in writing and the process involved. Tracy was one of the youngest participants in my study. Nancy Atwell's writing workshop approach flourished in the 1980's which would account for her receiving this training.

Terry: I have been to several workshops through the board, and I have attended workshops offered through the Coastal Georgia Writing Center. I have taken workshops for staff development. My theses for my Master's and my Specialist's Programs helped me improve my writing skills.

Again, a participant cited staff development or a workshop through the Broad of Education as a means of learning how to teach writing to our students. Very little, if any, formal training for writing instruction was part of the participants' educational program. Higher degrees offer opportunities to better our pedagogy, but how many of our teachers are capable or motivated to pursue further education? Ten hours of staff development is mandated in order to renew our certificates, but the choice as to what training we receive is usually left up to the teacher. Only in special cases does the administration specify a particular course for a teacher to attend.

Bill: My formal training in writing? Mostly I have learned to write through workshops offered through staff development here in Savannah-Chatham County Public Schools. I did take the Southern Writing Project as a part of the dissertation process. Those would cover my experiences in learning how to teach writing to my students. The readings I did for my course work provided me with insight as to how students learn to write.

Question 4 – What practices/strategies do you utilize to teach writing in your classroom?

Jenene: This past year I had children who were weak in their language skills. I needed to start at the beginning. At first I provided the journal topics for the students, but after that the students got more freedom to pursue their writing. Sentence structure was an issue they needed a lot of help on. My own teaching is to a point where I need to reflect and restructure how I teach the writing process. I am a process-oriented teacher.

As a department we need to sit down and decide what we are going to teach each school year. I would hope that by the time they get to me, students would know the basic sentence structure and subject-verb agreement. This would allow me to begin with teaching the five-paragraph essay. If they knew the terms for the various essays, such as narrative or expository, then we could have a more fluid flow. I want them to have a good foundation for writing when they come to me. If they don't, they won't be as successful as they could be. Evaluating where the children are when you get them is important. Jenene's assessment that her students were weak caused her to rethink her goals for the year. While she tried to use the writing process as her forum for getting her students to write, she realized that she needed to start where they were in order to move them to where she hoped they would go as writers.

Jenene offered students some choice in their writing topics. This apparent growth in her approach to writing is echoed in the realization she needed to reexamine her writing praxis.

Jenene had a vision for our department. She had goals she wanted us to accomplish and had a plan to help us become better at teaching writing to our students. She was aware that there had not been a cohesive, well-planned strategy that cut across the grade levels for the teaching of writing. Her plan envisioned each grade level being responsible for a particular style or genre of writing so that students would have a firm foundation for mastering the for Georgia's Middle Grades Writing Test.

Terri: Basically, we just write. I use their writing as examples. Fortunately, I have students who are "right there", and I can use their papers as examples of where we want to go or be. Then I have students who are just not quite there and some who are far from where I would like them to be. We look at examples from each group. Then I teach the basic five-paragraph set up. They need a good sense of the paragraph and how it is put together. I can build on that if the student has that understanding. Using peer examples seemed to be the main method for Terri. Her use of the five-paragraph model may have been what helped her students do well on the Middle Grades Writing AssessmentTM. Emig (1971) affirmed in her study that the five-paragraph is alive and well in classrooms today. The use of this model at Shuman confirmed that statement. Most, if not all, the upper grades had the students write using the five-paragraph essay. In their defense, this was modeled after the writing assessment the students took in the eighth grade, however, creativity suffers within such a lock-step approach to writing.

Terri also had the students to just write and then used those examples to expand their writing. That sounded like a free write approach, but she did not call it that. Just writing helps students become better writers.

Terri focused on writing paragraphs while Jenene focused on writing sentences. Terri's belief that she could take the students where they needed to go if they had a "good sense" of paragraph structure, shows she realized the students needed a basic foundation for her to build on in order to move them to where they would need to be for high school.

Both teachers had similar responses. While one focused more on paragraphs, they both felt the students were not adequately prepared for the literacy rigors of eighth grade.

Leslie: I use the "Before You Read" section from the literature book. There are writing prompts before each story. When I introduce vocabulary words for a story they must write a prediction story. They use the vocabulary words in their story. After we read the story I have them pull out their stories and compare them to the actual story.

I have journal entries, and I use a project called the portfolio. That is done over a nine weeks [period]. They write reflections on each story. There are six questions per reflection story. I ask questions like, "If you were the author what would you write differently about this story? What did you like best about the story? What did you like least about the story? Were there good descriptive words in the story? What words would you add?" At the end of the project they write a "Dear Teacher" and "Dear Reader". The students in the class exchange portfolios, read, edit, and grade each other's work. I collect the stories we use; they are not part of the literature series.

Leslie gave me the most information of all the participants. She seemed to use a variety of means to get her students writing. Like Jenene, she used the journal approach. Her use of reflective questions promoted higher order thinking skills. While Leslie had her students engaged in writing activities, most still appeared to be grounded in a textbook context.

Having students edit and grade another student's work is problematic. I have found most students do not have the academic ability to adequately edit or grade another's work. Students need a guide to help them with these activities. Rubrics are a good tool to use when having students look at work, be it another's or their own. It is too overwhelming to simply hand a paper to a student and expect him/her to find all the mistakes and assign a grade without some kind of guide. Rubrics are used in most of the classrooms. Tracy: I get them to write about things they like - things that are important to them - that they are familiar with. Sixth graders want to share. As soon as they finish their work they are ready to read it and share. The whole class wants to share. I let all that want to share, share. Those who share and have something to say, I give extra points to them. When we are reading we talk about the way an author uses things like foreshadowing, or what the author's purpose is. I also model the kind of writing I want them to write. If we are studying poetry, I will model writing a poem or when we did "Letters to the Editor", I wrote the first letter and modeled the process I used to write, then the students write.

Tracy permitted the most freedom of choice to her students. As a result, more actual writing occurred in her classroom. I have had difficulty getting students to write on any topic in the seventh grade. Tracy's description of her children sounded different from the students I got. Their eagerness to share was lost due to selfconsciousness when they got to me.

Modeling the writing process and allowing time to share their work were strategies of the writer's workshop method she learned from Nancy Atwell. Students need time to share their work in order to see themselves as authors. This component to writer's workshop is the first to be eliminated due to lack of time, yet it is one of the most effective motivating strategies to get students to write.

Tracy also discussed author's craft with her students through modeling. It is important for the students to see the teacher actively engaged in the writing process. It validates what the students are being asked to do. Writing is not an isolated assignment that only they are required to complete in the classroom. **Terry:** We write a lot in my classes. On the language arts side of my job, I am weak in the mechanics. I listen to what my children say and then work from there. I use the five-paragraph method. I try to get them to do a good introductory paragraph and then work from there. Each paragraph builds from the introductory paragraph. The introduction provides three ideas for the body to build on. I tell them not to worry about mechanics, because I am not good at that. I tell them to try to be consistent and keep to one idea at a time. I ask them to try and keep the theme or idea together.

Terry said they wrote a lot in her class. She described the way she taught writing. Her telling the students not to worry about the mechanics was problematic as was the use of the five-paragraph essay. While she and I both readily admitted we were weak in mechanics, I knew that mechanics either made the paper flow more smoothly or caused bumps for the reader creating a challenge to read or appreciate it.

Bill: I believe listening to the students is the first step in motivating them to write. Listening lets the students know you think they have something worthy about which to write. Often, the best way to get a reluctant writer to put pen to paper is to get her/him to talk about their ideas first.

I mainly use journal writing and the prompts that are offered through the textbook for assignments. I use some peer editing and the five-step process writing method. I try to give a fair amount of time to write in the classroom and at home. However, I have found that the more time I give my students to write at home, the less writing (total words written on a page) I get back than if I have them write in class. If a student does not like a particular topic, sometimes I let them choose their own topic.

Writing is a hodge-podge for me. I try a variety of means and methods but get frustrated with the lack of return from my students. I am not sure if it is my directions or if it is the motivation of the students that attributes to the quality and quantity I get back.

Question 5 – What forms of assessment do you use in your classroom? Jenene: I use the peers to provide feedback. I also like to conference with the students. The use of immediate feedback seems to encourage their writing. You just have to make time to provide one-on-one instruction. I try and not use red ink but use bright and colorful ink. Peers critique first then I go behind the peer review.

Use of peer editing is something with which I need to become more comfortable. I felt that I had too many students who did not have the prior knowledge and skills necessary to evaluate their peers' papers. Peer evaluation is a way to provide a type of feedback to the students, and it is quicker, but very problematic. Teachers must use caution in assigning students to read others' work. Peer conferences allow students to collaborate and learn from each other, but students must be trained in conducting peer evaluations. As stated earlier, this is not something they can do without guidance.

The one-on-one conference is something I need to improve also. It is vital to provide constructive feedback as to how the students' writing is progressing. Conferring is the foundation of the writer's workshop. One-on-one instruction takes place during conferences, but, in addition, residual learning may take place with students who are nearby. Conversations during conferences may be the impetus that gets the pen to the paper. The art of listening is vital during the conferring time with students.

I have often heard that "making the paper bleed" is discouraging to students. I am not sure a different color ink would ease the pain of having one's work slashed. The use of sticky notes works well when providing feedback and does not mess up the students' papers. It seems instruction in writing would keep down the use of any color ink to assess student work.

Terri: Generally I use a rubric that allows the students to know what I am looking for. When I give the rubric, I go over what a "good" paper is and how it should look. Other times I just read each paper and give individual comments. This takes a lot of time, but the students respond better. If I notice the same kind of mistakes reoccurring often, I will do a mini-lesson on that specific error.

The use of models to emulate good writing was a valid point as was the use of rubrics. The utilization of rubrics takes the mystery and guessing out of assessment if the criterion is valid. Rubrics focus instruction and provide relevant feedback to the students. The students and the parents are more involved when rubrics are used for assessment. If students were given rubrics to use while assessing another student's work, the feedback would be more objective and beneficial to both students.

Teacher commentary is another strategy for providing feedback on student's work. Sticky notes work best for commentaries because there is space for concise,

pertinent comments. Students are motivated to write when good writing is recognized. Terri saw this in her student's compositions. A mini-lesson is another component of the writer's workshop. These can be structured to meet the needs of the students – whole or small group, pairs or individually.

Leslie: I have a rubric for the portfolio I use. I collect the journals on Fridays. I give 10 points for each full paragraph. I also use what is called focused correction errors. For example, if I were to give them a writing assignment on desserts, then this week I would check for grammar and punctuation. Next week I would focus on three other errors using the same paper.

The idea of 10 points for a full paragraph was intriguing; however, what constituted a full paragraph? The rubric for focused correction errors sounded like it could take some of the burden off grading the paper for every little mistake. Students tend to get overwhelmed if too many topics for correction are addressed at one time. Three may have been too many topics to focus on for one session. Focusing on one convention at a time in a mini-lesson may take longer, but have a lasting impact over time.

Tracy: That's the part with which I have the hardest time. This is the hardest thing for me. This was my first year teaching writing, so I have just sort of winged it. I can't help take into account where these students are coming from. If I have a "terrible paper", but it is the best that this child can do, I have to grade that student on a different scale. I can't judge it with or against the child who writes all the time. I need to develop a rubric. My goal is to develop some rubrics.

I understood Tracy's frustration about "grading" each student even when you know the best that some can do is to write a sentence, and for others that may be impossible. A student who comes to you with the ability to write well is a gift. It is hard to know what and where to take that child, especially if they are in a class where the majority does not write well.

With a good rubric, subjectivity is all but eliminated from an assignment. There are a number of websites that provide good, free rubrics Tracy could have used. Rubistar.com allows teachers to build their own rubrics. If assessment is to have any validity, standards need to be the same for everyone.

Terry: We have done oral listening skills. I have gone over their work and graded it myself. I read their work and make suggestions. I have never been taught a real way of assessing writing. I am not strong on that part. I have had to come up with my own methods. The workshops I have been in have not talked about that either. I assess them on whether their ideas meld together, if their paragraphs are well formed, they are structured in their thoughts, and they have the information needed to support. I look for details to support the main idea. I have used rubrics in the past, and we have an autobiographical project that is due soon. It helps the children to have a rubric or guide to know what I am looking for. The children will use the rubric to grade each other.

Terry started with a listening activity and then moved into the writing activity. She, like Tracy and me, had difficulty grading the paper. Each of us realized that a rubric would help us evaluate our students more effectively. Terry seemed to use subjective and objective assessments. Her list of points for assessment is reminiscent of a checklist. She said she had used rubrics in the past, and she spoke of the students using a rubric to grade each other. It was unclear as to what extent Terry was actually using rubrics. She said she had not been taught a real way of assessing writing, but was familiar with one of the most accepted methods of assessing writing. Sometimes we do not know what we know. Her assessment points sounded valid and relevant. Terry and Tracy expressed concern about assessing writing. The Middle Grades Writing Assessment Guide[™] would help both teachers.

Bill: I use a rubric and read each paper. I try to be consistent in my evaluations, but when you are reading more than seventy papers and providing comments on them, it is difficult to stay consistent. The rubric helps my students and me. It gives my students an idea of what I am looking for in the paper and it helps me to focus on what I am grading the paper for in the first place.

The rubric is my first choice but developing one is often time consuming. I know that there are web sites that have them, but many times they are too generic. I recently discovered that the Middle Grades Writing Assessment GuideTM has examples that are very good, plus they mirror what is asked on the assessment. Use of these examples would provide a double benefit for my students. They would know what is being asked for on the assessment, and they would have a guide as to what is considered good writing.

Question 6 – In what ways do you encourage your students to write (motivated as well as reluctant students)?

Jenene: I always use my own writing. I let them know that I am not going to ask them to write about something that will make them uncomfortable. I give them the option to opt out of a writing assignment. They must take an alternative assignment. They can only opt out once a nine-week period.

The choice to opt out of an assignment once each nine-weeks offered comfort to some students who did not always want to write or found a particular prompt intimidating. Also the modeling seemed to encourage the students as they saw the process Jenene used to compose a piece of writing. Students need to see themselves as authors. They need to know that someone believes they have something worthwhile to share. For Jenene to use her own writing to motivate her students demonstrated it was okay to take a risk. Students write most about topics that concern them when given a choice. Jenene tried to do this with her students.

Terri: I let them know that their writing is good no matter what they write. I pull it out of them. I try to make them feel comfortable and let them know they will not be ridiculed in the classroom. We talk about that everyone has the right to share and that their thoughts are important. I praise a lot. If someone tries and then someone tries to make fun of someone who is reading a piece of their writing, I put a stop to that at once. The students need to feel they are in a safe setting and that it is safe to share. I publish their work.

Terri used praise a lot. The idea of pulling it out of them was an interesting way of saying how she got them to write. Again like Jenene, Terri did not ask the students to write about issues that made them uncomfortable. The safety students must have felt in her classroom could have been an encouragement for her students to write.

Terri, like Jenene, also created a risk-free environment in her writing class. From her comments students were affirmed at whatever point on the writing continuum they happened to be. Learning to write is a challenging task for anyone. It takes effort to get students involved in the writing process.

Publishing student work is so important. Students are motivated to write when their best efforts are recognized.

Leslie: I try to open up with a conversation or get them to come up with a topic they would be interested in. Then we would get into a discussion and once I know I have their interest, I start with an introduction. I ask them to tell me about their topic of interest, not only me, but with each other.

A student's best composing comes from what they already know. Having the students involved in a conversation first probably activated a prior knowledge or set a stage for the writing to take place. Calkins (1994) stated that when we help students make reading/writing connections, they view themselves as writers of literature. Conversations can be one-on-one or part of a whole class or small group instructional setting.

Tracy: I start with the basics. You have to know how to write a sentence. I make two of my classes write sentences and paragraphs because they need to know how to do the basics. I had to teach them what a sentence begins with and what it ends with. Some of the students wanted to go on and write stories, but I had to

make them slow down and learn what a sentence is and what a paragraph is before we moved on to stories and the like. Everything they wrote had to be in paragraph form. All their answers had to be in complete sentences. I would not let them write anything else until they could write a paragraph that made sense. It takes about nine weeks.

Tracy's class needed extra scaffolding in writing instructing. She talked earlier about writers who had difficulty putting together pieces for her to read. To motivate her students, Tracy moved them slowly through the writing process as she identified where they were as writer's and then guided them to where they needed to be. It was important for her to meet the needs of her students starting with where they were and building on their strengths. This demonstrated her commitment to employ effective teaching strategies. The students control of English conventions and structures were reflected in their compositions. It took time for Tracy to build on their strengths. Too often we tend to rush the learning process and, in essence, gaps are created and too many students fall through.

Terry: This year I really have not had a problem getting students to write. I have not had any slackers. I have had a problem with children trying to express themselves. You know, not every child is on the same level. The ones who can not write very well, I let them tell the story or what they want to write first and then ask them to write. It seems to help letting them say the story first and then writing it out. I do this because we sometimes write like we speak. Whatever we do, we talk about it first – so we can get the ideas flowing.

Terry had the students engage in conversations before they wrote. Their success in committing their conversations to paper may be the reason she felt her students did not have problems writing. She seemed to want the natural voice of each of her students to be heard - "I do this because we sometimes write like we talk."

Terry's class enjoyed writing, but needed help in expressing their thoughts. This happens more often than we imagine in writing sessions. She apparently hit upon a very natural and germane strategy to motivate her students – let them talk. When we say less, students say more. We just need to listen. Verbally relating a story stimulates the requisite to put pen to paper.

Vygotsky (1978) stated

The most significant moment in the course of intellectual development, which gives birth to the purely human forms of practical and abstract intelligence, occurs when speech and practical activity, two previously completely independent lines of development converge... A child's speech is as important as the role of action in attaining the goal...The more complex the action demanded by the situation, the greater the importance played by speech in the operation of the whole. Sometimes speech becomes of such vital importance that, if not permitted to use it, young children cannot accomplish the given task. (pp. 24-26)

While Vygotsky was talking about younger children, it is just as important for adolescents to be given the opportunity to verbalize their thoughts before trying to commit them to paper. Bill: I try to provide the students with a comfortable environment that is

conducive to writing and learning. The topics I use are varied and should
appeal to many in the class; however, no one topic appeals to everyone, so I
do allow for some individual expression. I use sports and music magazines
that capture the interest of my students. If I can relate the topic to something
authentic to them, they are more motivated to be engaged in the writing
assignment. Though I want my students to have more choice in their topics,
the requirements for the Georgia Writing Assessment ™ limit my ability to
offer alternative options.

I have students who need help in writing simple sentences just as Tracy does. We both seem to be starting at a disadvantage for our grade levels. I give the students daily practice in English conventions in an effort to build their writing skills, but this takes time away form actually being engaged in composing. Skills are important if they are to write well.

Teaching someone how to write better is difficult. The students seem to have mixed feelings about their writing ability. If they feel they are adequate or good at writing, the first draft is all they feel they need to do, but if the student feels they are poor at writing, then they don't even want to approach the piece with any degree of seriousness.

Question 7 – In what ways do you feel that writing supports reading? Jenene: Writing is a tool to express your thoughts in a clear and concise manner.

Everyone can't always verbally articulate a response.

Jenene's response made me think I may not have conveyed the essence of the question to her properly. This question was embedded in the overall interview and was subsumed in our discussion of writing praxis.

Terri: Basically, they go hand in hand. I often give them something to read that has not only the comprehension questions but also a written response to the reading. If you're a good writer then you are a reader. As we read a selection or work I ask them, "How is the writer getting his point across?"

I agree with Terri that reading and writing go hand in hand. Students approach reading and writing in ways that are similar, yet different. Reading good literature or stories provided students with excellent models for writing. Noticing the author's craft engaged the students in examining how the writer used words to express themselves. The activity of writing a response to reading favored the use of critical thinking skills. Going beyond the recall of most comprehension questions to write responsive answers to a story or selection allowed the student to become more engaged in their reading.

Leslie: I believe they go hand in hand. When you read you should be able to comprehend what you have read not just going back into the story and answering comprehension questions. They should be able to state why they liked or did not like a particular story. They should be able to tell why some stories are more interesting than others stories.

Critical analysis during reading was one of the characteristics that the Quality Core Curriculum (QCC) asked teachers to address. The ability to express and evaluate why a story is more interesting than another story provided the student with skills that would increase their ability to communicate more effectively. Leslie, like Terri, professed the idea that reading and writing are intertwined – "They go hand in hand."

Tracy: When teaching a novel unit, I use the writer's own words and mechanics to teach writing. I use the novel as a model for how to write.

Utilizing the novel or story to model writing was important for Tracy. Her background in reading was what drove her to use the novel (gleaned more from conversations outside the interview than from the interview itself). Modeling the writing using the author's actual words and craft was a theme that seemed to be in at least three of the participants' writing praxis.

Leslie focused on comprehension skills while Tracy focused on appropriating the author's crafts. Both concepts are of great importance in promoting balanced literacy. Learning how to write from writers is a fairly new concept in many classrooms today, however, many professional writers attest to that very practice. Calkins (1994) posited when students make reading and writing connections, they view themselves as writers of literature.

Terry: In every way, because by learning to write it can help you learn to read. It can help you in many ways academically. I use the children's writing to help them identify sounds and syllables. In order for students to have a good year you have to intermingle writing with reading – they go hand in hand. I find that students lose that academic edge when they don't have the opportunity to write.

Terry's comments confirmed the connectedness of reading and writing when used in conjunction with Leslie's and Tracy's. Terry used writing to scaffold her students in reading while Leslie and Tracy used reading to scaffold their students in writing. What does it mean to read like a writer and/or write like a reader? Frank Smith (1983) believed students could never gain all the knowledge to write successfully from a systematic instructional program. Simply put, he concluded students must glean what they will need to know about writing from reading. This is an intriguing concept.

Terry had a pragmatic component to her writing instruction. She used her students' editing and revisioning drafts as an avenue to incorporate phonetic skills. Her reading strategy of teaching phonics during writing could be a bit paradoxical if not problematic. This could be a topic of further study.

Bill: I believe that reading helps students see good writing. If students are exposed to what authors are saying in their writing and then allowed to discuss the reading and finally respond to the reading, I believe they can become better writers. Reading widely can help us see a variety of writing styles and models from which to construct our own writing.

Question 8 – What practices and strategies do you use that connect reading and writing?

Jenene: I have the students give me a quick write on a topic and not just having the students answer the questions at the back of the book, but responding to the story while reading.

The "Quick Write" was part of the reading program that our reading/literature text used to engage the student in the story. Often it asked the

student to remember an incident that was related to the story they read. Sometimes it called for the student to discuss an issue and defend their position on a subject. The textbook series provided models to demonstrate how to keep a reader's journal or log.

Terri: I use what I call a power thinking/writing activity. If we have talked about pronouns one day, the next we will think out a review of the previous day. We put together a paragraph. It is a kinetic activity where the students act out the paragraph and actually place the main idea in the proper place and then put the supporting details and conclusion together.

I am not sure my question was fully understood by Terri. She really just responded by telling me about a writing activity they did in class. While the activity sounded excellent, I am not sure how she used it to connect reading and writing. Reviewing the next day would be beneficial.

Leslie: After each selection they are required to write a paragraph reflecting on the reading. They also reflect as they respond to the portfolio questions.

Responding to literature was straight from Rosenblatt (1983, 1978) and Langer (1995, 1986, 1982, 1981) who advocated the use of writing to reflect and respond to reading. Leslie seemed to position herself with Rosenblatt (1983) and Langer (1995) when she required her students to write about what they had read.

Active readers respond to a "speaking-out-loud voice" (Skeans, 2004, p. 211) in their heads when they interact with a text. Leslie mentally engaged her students in a reading/writing connection by having her students reflect in writing on various assignments. This is a text to self connection. The portfolio responses could identify key behaviors for diagnostic purposes depending on the questions. The physical act of writing could facilitate learning which strengthens the reading/writing connection.

Tracy: I use the novels that I teach out of to help connect reading and writing.

I believe Tracy was saying she had the students respond to the reading as they move through the novels (again I make this conjecture based on conversations I had with Tracy outside the interview times). Tracy's very brief response denoted a lack of understanding as to the question being asked.

Terry: In forming the essay, the children must read what they have written. It can help them with comprehension. When reading an essay or story the children write the story elements about a particular story. Writing helps the reader do well academically.

Terry mentioned that she had the students respond to the reading and stories they had written using a series of questions she called the story elements. The story elements covered the plot, theme, characters and other components of the story. She also mentioned she had the students read what they had written as a way of connecting reading and writing.

Terry admitted she had a distance to go in her teaching of writing (stated in an informal conversation). She has since moved to teaching eighth graders and is trying to find ways and means to help them do well on the writing assessment required of all eighth graders at Shuman Middle School.

Bill: Our literature textbook starts each section with a reader's response. It may ask the students to discuss something, or it may ask them to write a response to a

question about the text. Perhaps it tries to evoke what prior knowledge the student has concerning the upcoming selection. The publishers also have asked that the students question the text as they read. They go so far as to model the activity for the students.

The publisher describes for the students what metacognition is (thinking about thinking or thinking about what you have read and its purpose) and how the student can improve their own cognition by writing a response to what they have read. Opportunities to write abound in the current textbook and in the textbook we are adopting.

Writing as a means of providing scaffolding is based on the work of Vygotsky (1999) and evokes the prior knowledge that some students may have about a story they will read. The fact that the textbook publishers are providing support within their textbooks to encourage teachers to connect writing and reading is another indication that reading and writing are related and should be taught with each other. The strategies to write before, during, and after reading can keep the reader involved with the story. We need to be careful though that we do not overwhelm the student and that we allow the student to write for writing's sake and read for reading's sake.

Part II: Questions and Responses of the Administrator

Carl's questions were of a different nature since he did not teach on a daily basis. His knowledge of and the expectations of the school system as well as the requirements from the state department were necessary to fully understand the writing culture at Shuman Middle School. Carl responded to the first three questions asked of the teacher participants. These questions examined his attitude toward writing, his current role as a writer, and any training he had received in teaching writing. As one of the administrators, his responses were indicative of the overall expectations of the writing program at Shuman. Additional questions were asked to expound upon the expectations and requirements of the administration in assessing the language arts program.

Question 1: What was your attitude toward writing as an elementary school student? a secondary student? an adult? a teacher/professional?

Carl: As an elementary student I would write because I was supposed to write. I loved spelling, and I liked spelling bees. It was not extensive, mostly answering questions and a little bit of writing paragraphs. I did not write on my own as an elementary student or as a secondary student except letters to my mother. I enjoyed writing in graduate school; the digging and putting together material and forming conclusions [were] surprising to me because I did not like writing in undergraduate school. I hated writing term papers. I even failed a night class because I refused to write a term paper. However, at Georgia Southern in graduate school, I discovered that I enjoyed writing.

As a "Sally Mae" teacher (an award given to exemplary first year teachers) and an administrator, I have always had to do a lot of writing – internal communications, memos, perusal of teachers' letters, recommendations, and program proposals. That has been the fun part – writing rationales to make things happen in the building, but with grants you are dependent on someone else's money, so I do not like writing them. As for recommendations, I have written several "references for first year teachers. I have had one national winner, a state winner, and a district winner. That was fun because it caused me to do an analysis of what was going on in the school.

The communication between the teacher and myself required a lot of information and editing. I like to write in the building both personal and for the faculty. Reflections (1996) and Qs (2000) are quite short. [Reflections are short educational related ideas, usually a half a page. Os are longer pieces and more in-depth personal issues about which Carl felt passionate.] I write a quarter to half a page. I wrote a series of those (about forty) several years ago. I started passing them out at Myers Middle School, and some teachers said I should publish them. I was giving out about one a week. I saw that it touched the teachers. Their attitudes were better. They seemed to approach teaching with more energy and enthusiasm. The Qs were a little longer - about a full page. They took a topic that was pertinent at the time. Then there were about twenty more reflections that were very personal to me. I use the Reflections (1996) in the workshops and courses that I teach. The best of my Reflections is probably the one I wrote on education. I wrote it as I ran for School Superintendent of Effingham County. It has become a philosophical position I have taken since 1991.

I like putting things in words with a somewhat unusual take - words that I feel are probably inside other people's heads and their personalities. I very much like to share them because I like to see the reactions people have their improvements and their hope and courage increasing. I know that I am

125

effective that way. I know I am effective in the analysis on the kinds of things I have done on tasks within the school, analyzing the kinds of things that happen and putting that into language. I also like to share the personal things in my life that have given me hope and courage. I try never to put anything out before I have someone to bounce it off because I want the grammar to be right. I always have some peer editing going on. I like my writing enough that I absolutely will tear someone up if they change something after I have written it. I have gotten into the face of someone who has tried to edit my writing and make claims about what it was trying to say. How do you edit a personality? How do you edit a person? Maybe I have a double standard on that, I don't know. I make suggestions; I don't demand that one change their own writing. I am always thinking in terms of audience when I write.

Carl's response was lengthy due in part to the fact that we were friends, and he may have felt more comfortable with me. His love for writing developed over time. I found it intriguing that he first found writing interesting on the graduate level. I remember he told me he did not read for pleasure but liked to read to learn. The fact that he loved to write about school was interesting as he stopped reading for pleasure because of the amount of required reading during his graduate courses. His Reflections (1996) demonstrated his love of education and the fact that he pondered important educational issues.

Carl's memories of writing in school reflected a product-oriented approach. No mention was made of student choice or sharing of writing in his early years. His later compositions, by his own choice, were directed toward teachers and school improvement issues. The use of technology was just beginning to gain momentum when Carl was at Shuman.

Carl was a writer. He had a way with words. While I was not one of his Sally Mae nominees, I was nominated Teacher of the Year and was a member of the Team of the Year during his tenure at Shuman. His editing skills helped me in both endeavors. He had insight into people and had a way of expressing his ideas that was evident through his Reflections (1996) and Qs (2000). His knowledge of language was excellent and to a level I strove to emulate.

Question 2 – What kinds of personal writings do you do now?

Carl : I wrote the Student Success Plan[©] that is based on life habits that are essential to succeeding in life. They are habits of the mind and are related to Steven Covey's work, *The Seven Habits of Highly Effective People*. Those habits there are right on the money. I believe the Student Success Plan[©] is a document worthy for any school to adopt. It's more than a document – it's a practice.

Writing was almost a therapy for Carl. His writings not only helped him, but he wanted them to help others. The Student Success Plan© (SSP©) was freely offered to the Savannah Chatham School. Many of the components in the Student Success Plan© were incorporated in the Code of Conduct used by the school system and other schools have "borrowed" from the SSP©. Carl's professional and personal writings seemed to be intertwined.

Question 3 – What training have you received in teaching writing? Carl: The only other teaching or training in writing besides my mother was in the

eighth and ninth school years and once again in the twelfth grade where

grammar was so well taught with the diagramming and the punctuation. That was a training tool in itself. I have found that using writing in the classroom and teaching students has helped me be a better writer. The only training I have had besides that in high school was the Georgia State Department of Education's requirement that all certified teachers take the course, The Teaching and Evaluation of Reading and Writing, which I took in 2001.

Carl's response was not unlike those of the teacher participants. There was no real or formal training of teachers to teach writing. The training that most participants received was done in high school or through some form of staff development offered at the request of schools and/or school districts, many times as a result of state mandates as with the course – The Teaching and Evaluation of Reading and Writing. Even so, Carl viewed grammar skills as instruction in writing. Could this have been the case because product-oriented writing has dominated the language arts program for so long?

Question 4 - How important is writing?

Carl: Well, until people are able to write coherently and are able to express themselves in terms of language and terms of the variety of language they have [the] capacity to read, they have no capacity to comprehend what they see. So, it is dual this learning to read and learning to write. Really one can not be separated from the other for a person to be effective in language arts and an effective communicator, and so I put writing as extremely important. And if you will notice recently, just a few weeks ago, the new SAT now has essay writing. Just because someone can point and click and download something off the Internet and use word processing skills on electronics does not mean they can use the true word processor the pencil-very well. Obviously there has been some very recent acknowledgement or recognition of how important writing is because I think they, university and college professors, have found students coming to school that have no clue as to what they are writing. I have read the work of a person working on a six-year degree at Georgia Southern – not to put down Georgia Southern, but the work was atrocious. However, that person has since become a better writer.

Carl was passionate in his belief that writing was important. His belief that one cannot effectively communicate or comprehend unless she/he is able to write well spoke volumes about his attitude toward writing. He obviously put writing on a high level. Teachers at Shuman were expected to be effective language arts instructors that integrated reading and writing in their classrooms.

Though Carl was very traditional in his approach to a balanced literacy program, it was evident he kept abreast of any new pedagogy that would benefit the students of Shuman Middle School.

Question 5 - What practices and strategies do you look for in a teacher's lesson plans/classroom?

Carl: I look for it [writing] in all the lesson plans because "Writing Across the Curriculum" (WAC) is a strategy that the school uses. It shows up the greatest amount in the exploratory teachers' lesson plans because they have found ways to incorporate writing into their curriculum. I am looking for the kinds of questions that teachers ask students to answer. Some of them will spend

once a week with twenty minutes of writing. Physical education teachers might have the students writing the rules for the sports and games the students play. Health teachers might have the students write personal beliefs about it. Three teachers frequently, at least weekly, have students write five-paragraph essays which means they are taking probably at least an entire class period to write those essays.

Now, in the language arts classes I see that the language arts teachers are doing those five-paragraph essays frequently. More so in the eighth grade, but each of the sixth and seventh grade teachers do those five-paragraph essays at some point in time during the year. It is not the only staple they have, but it is used frequently enough that every kid is exposed to doing that. Two of the special education teachers also use that five-paragraph essay extensively. So no one is off the hook in the building.

As to specific strategies that they may use, I will see that on the product, performance, and portfolio kinds of assessments that are reflected in the lesson plans. I see a lot of writing in the social studies and Science Fair projects.

All I really am looking for is the presence of something that brings the students to personalizing their experience with the curriculum. Now that nearly always has something to do with a writing component. That's why the product assessment, portfolio, and performance assessment I see are expected to be seen in the lesson plans. I would like to add this next year the lesson plans will have all the components that we have continuously used for the past seven years along with the Bernstein ModelTM which include: the significant question, masterworks and evaluation tied to each unit and totally aligned to the Bernstein ModelTM. We have added this so the teachers can evaluate the effectiveness of the unit. It is a formative evaluation for the lesson plan its.

To hear Carl's analysis of the lesson plans, there was a lot of writing going on in the school. The students were engaged in writing several times a day and in a variety of ways. I wonder if the examination of the lesson plans will bear this out for me. Since Shuman incorporated WAC as part of the School Improvement Plan, it was not surprising to hear that exploratory teachers included writing in their lesson plans. From Carl's response, it appeared writing was simply any activity that employed paper and pencil such as writing rules in the physical education classes or describing what had happened that day.

The five-paragraph essay was prevalent in the teachers' plans. Katie Wood Ray (1999) said educators oftentimes must fight against what our own educational histories have taught us. The five-paragraph essay has been the traditional, formulaic method of teaching writing in middle schools for decades. Emig (1971) denounced its use stating, "A species of extensive writing that recurs so frequently in student accounts that it deserves special mention is the five-paragraph theme, consisting of one paragraph of introduction ...three of expansion and example...and one of conclusion. This mode is so indigenously American that it might be called the Fifty-Star Theme" (p.97). Carl saw writing as the means of getting students to personalize their experiences with the curriculum. He found evidence of this in the assessment section of the lesson plans. This is documented in portfolio, end products, and most importantly, performance assessments.

The Bernstein Model, through the Getty Corporation, was a method of utilizing art criticism in teaching content. Several years earlier Shuman adopted Discipline Based Arts Education, another educational program based on the arts, as a means to better serve its magnet students especially those in the fine arts. Questioning techniques are very beneficial in motivating students to think. This impacts what they commit to paper. Obviously, Carl was convinced of this truism. Shuman, as a middle school, was often looking for grants to help defray the costs of a burgeoning budget, and the Bernstein Model came with grant monies.

Question 6 - What staff development classes were offered for improving writing instruction at Shuman?

Carl: This year we had a large portion of the faculty take that class, *The Teaching and Evaluation of Reading and Writing*. Others will continue to take that class as well. That has been a significant improvement. I was very skeptical of that class when we began but was very pleased to have done it. We sent ten to twelve or more teachers to the Coastal Writing Project which is a branch of the National Writing Project. Teachers have really embraced that and have come back to the school doing really cool things with writing. That's mostly staff development. Teachers do talk to each other about what they are doing. A good school, an improving school, an effective school will put a lot of eggs in the basket of staff professional development. There are only two ways to improve education - I was preaching this before it hit the professional literature – one is to improve teaching, the other is to improve learning. It is our job as professional educators to improve our teaching, and as our teaching improves so does the students' learning. So the more staff development a school can offer, the more staff development that teachers engage in, the better results they will have with their students. Period. Don't need to challenge the statement because it will happen every time.

Improving teaching is done through staff development. That came through loud and clear. The class "Teaching and Evaluating Reading and Writing" and the Coastal Writing Project have been the main avenues for providing staff development to improve writing at Shuman.

Question 7 - What makes a writing program successful?

Carl: First of all I don't know what existed before Mrs. Myles and I came to the school, but I do know the score was 170 on the [writing] test. Each year that we have given the [writing] test we have closed the gap every single year percentage-wise between the Shuman score and the state score. We're virtually even with the state, and we might be two hundredths of a percentage point behind where the state is.

Next year the school will exceed the state, and I can predict that from the data I have looked at over the last couple of years with what is going on in our school and also as a result of the class I took for the analysis of our writing scores. Because our four feeder schools during the past three years have made improvements in their general scores and the percentage of students reaching the higher levels, Shuman's scores should improve.

We [Shuman] have also improved our scores throughout the entire seven years that we have been keeping data. We will see improvement in two main places, if I can remember what they were. One is in style, and I can't remember the other area. Style is the biggest part. We will improve our test next year, I predict, by five points plus or minus two, maybe as many as nine points. Shuman scores will exceed the state and the district and will probably be the best in the district because of what has been going on. The trends in the data are all going up, and the feeder schools' scores are also rising. The percentage of students going into the higher levels will translate into higher scores for Shuman."

Carl's response reflected an increase in the scores Shuman had made on the writing assessment. The pride in the gains the school as a whole had made was very obvious from his comments. Achievement was a process attained overtime as students progressed through the grades. The demand of the state for Average Yearly Progress places tremendous pressure on schools to maintain or exceed scores in high stakes testing. Shuman had demonstrated the students' abilities to write well on these tests. Carl was confident they would continue to improve. The question is: Do test scores indicate Shuman's language arts program is producing effective writers?

Question 8 - What changes were employed to improve writing instruction at Shuman Middle School?

Carl: We have done so much, and we should continue to do what we are doing. I say 'we' because I have been part of that, as I just alluded to with where the improvement will take place in the style. I think a greater, more specific analysis of the sub-tests of the students, maybe over the last couple of years, will help us. If we convert those to profiles for our students' targeted areas of greater need to individual students and then targeting these same kinds of needs, those systemic things to our classes, I believe that will improve our writing scores. As long as we don't give up on another area. Even though we are improving we need to address all areas of the writing test and do the same thing with our reading. Probably the most the important factor is the will to improve, and the belief that we can improve. If we think we are too good, for ourselves we will most certainly fail, but if we have the will to focus our efforts to continue improving we truly are 'in all things exemplary'. You don't remain exemplary in all things by not paying attention to what you are doing, and I think the school will focus. I think the professionals in the building are committed to improvement. If that will be their focus, and if they are willing to do the best they can on a daily basis, then excellence will occur. Excellence does not happen based on a singular event or time.

The theme I heard here was that we needed to study our weaknesses and strengthen them. Carl thought teachers should use writing scores as a diagnostic tool

to improve writing instruction. The promotion of a balanced literacy program was Carl's goal. He saw the connection between reading and writing.

Carl had high expectations for the school and the students. Our school motto was "In all things exemplary". Carl felt Shuman was on the way to becoming exemplary with continued self-improvement. He assumed teachers and students would set realistic goals and strive to meet them. He was committed to school improvement as was the principal.

One score on a writing test did not mean the school had achieved excellence. Achievement, like writing, was a process to be attained over time rather than an end product. Carl wanted a picture album, not a single snapshot, that would reflect the staff's commitment to excellence for Shuman Middle School.

Summary

This chapter related my relationship with my participants and a brief profile of each member. A transcript of the interviews conducted with the participants yielded their perceptions and pedagogy of writing. My own perceptions were chronicled in my reflections as they related to the information gleaned from the interviews. The interviews were collegial and dialogical in nature so as to elicit responses with the least amount of reservation.

Each of the teacher participants discussed their attitudes toward writing, their role as a writer, any training they had received, and related information about their writing praxis. Their views on assessment and motivation as well as their thoughts on reading and writing connections were a part of the dialogue. The administrator

participant responded to the first three questions asked of the teachers and then to questions that examined his philosophy of writing, his expectations for teachers – their praxis and participation in staff development – and his views on writing in general and at Shuman Middle School.

Conducting this research helped us have a better understanding of who we were as a school and as a department and prompted an in-depth self evaluation and reflection from us all. Each grade level seemed to have a different idea of where we were and what we were doing or should be doing as teachers of writing. Having heard the perceptions of each participant it was apparent the writing methods and practices at Shuman Middle School can and should be re-evaluated. The goals our principal and assistant principal laid out when they developed the writing plan needs to be revised to meet the changing needs of Shuman's divergent student population in the 21st century.

CHAPTER 5

DATA REPRESENTATION: ARTIFACTS AND OBSERVATIONS

Artifacts

In this chapter I discuss and reflect on the artifacts and observations of my participants and the writing plan developed by Shuman's writing team when Mrs. Myles (principal) and Mr. Waterbrook (assistant principal) were assigned to Shuman. I was able to observe only three of six participants due to three of the participants transferring to other schools.

While each participant turned in lesson plans in a uniform format, their approach to filling out the lesson plans varied. A typical lesson plan submitted is included. An analysis of their lesson plans provided me with a better understanding of their philosophy and pedagogy of writing instruction. The lesson plan indicated the level to which the individual participant incorporated writing strategies into his or her lessons.

Shuman's writing plan was developed as a means to alleviate the concerns of the writing scores being less than the county and state averages on the annual eighth grade writing test. It had been revised each year since its inception in 1994. Each of the participant's lesson plans should have reflected the goals and strategies from Shuman's writing plan.

Observations allowed me to discern the extent to which writing took place in each of my participants' classrooms. They also allowed me to verify that the writing plan was being implemented and the lesson plans were an accurate reflection of writing practices in the language arts classrooms. Analyzing the three components – lesson plans, observations, and the school's writing plan focused the lens through which I viewed my research and also the participants' commitment to teaching writing in their respective classrooms. The teachers' lesson plans and the school's writing plan were the two artifacts I examined to determine to what extent writing was actually practiced in the participants' classrooms and the extent to which the teachers were complying with the school's expectations.

Most of the lesson plans were uniform; however, there was one participant who utilized a supplemental artifact that was based on the model Artful Learning TM (Bernstein Model) a method or strategy to engage students in the learning process. This method involves the use of masterpieces, such as Vivadli's *Four Seasons* or DaVinci's *Mona Lisa* to encourage thinking and writing. It also used kinesthetic movement to motivate and promote learning. This teacher did not submit the Artful Learning TM component to the administration but kept it as a guide for her own use.

My overall impression while examining the lesson plans was that writing, as a discipline, was not emphasized to a large degree in the participant's classrooms. There appeared to be writing every week, but the amount of writing did not represent a significant amount of time. Additionally, there seemed to be a limited amount of actual composing required in the classrooms. Most writing was in the form of homework. Even as homework, the writing activities seemed limited in scope. The following is an overall analysis of the lesson plan for each participant.

Jenene: The plans Jenene used in her class were kept within her lesson plan book along with the plans reviewed and returned to her by the administration. Her first sample lesson plan was for the week of September 8th, three weeks after school

started. My analysis of her lessons plans for the first nine weeks indicated that most of the writing in her class took place on Fridays.

The writing activities included using the prompts from the literature textbook. The reading selections begin with a "Before You Read" and a "Quick Write" which asks the students to respond to a series of statements or to make predictions based on a scenario related to the story they are about to read. Jenene had the students choose from the "Building Your Portfolio" section that followed each selection. This segment allowed the students to choose from three or four writing or subject-based choices to show they understood the story concepts.

Other forms of writing often included poetry and letter writing. Students were involved in composing pieces using the writing process. Usually these were initiated using writing prompts. More germane activities had the students writing autobiographies to be shared with the class. She also had the students writing sentences with specific directions; for example, "Write sentences that contain adverbs." They also created an advertisement for a book, an ad campaign called "Try It Out", and "Daily Oral Language Review". Identifying similes and metaphors, characterizations, and responding to quotes were all included as writing activities. Outlining passages and varied note taking activities were written in the lesson plans. Writing spelling words two times each during the week was part of her writing assignment for students.

The lesson plans did not give a clear picture of actual writing instruction that was taking place in the classroom. Neither student choice nor an opportunity to share their writing was evidenced in the lesson plans. Jenene's lesson plans documented a wide variety of writing activities; however, a good number of them were worksheets. Even so, her students were assigned writing that engaged them in relevant, meaningful composing. Actual instruction during writing could not be ascertained from the lesson plans.

Terri: Terri's lesson plans began in September. Around the middle of September, she began to review the writing process. Also during that week, the first mention of journals occurred. The journal topic was a prewriting activity for a research project about the origin of the students' names. The students were also asked to work on creating compound sentences during this week. Later that month the students were instructed to write an acrostic poem. More work on compound sentences as well as revision and completion of the name essay was completed in September.

October writing activities included an "I Am" poem, a descriptive paragraph, graphic organizers, writing sentences with prepositions, and an essay entitled, "All About Me." Answering questions from a reading selection was another writing exercise.

November's writing assignments included writing metaphors, responding to Vivaldi's *Four Seasons*, a five paragraph essay, "What am I Thankful For?", and a summary of a reading selection, and writer's workshop activities. During this month students wrote a poem in writing workshop.

Writing activities in December included "Quick Writes" from the literature text book and answering the "Making Meanings" section of the text.

Mention of creative writing activities and working with graphic organizers for a "news" story were the only other writing activities for the month.

January brought increased preparation for the writing assessment given around the middle of the month. A mock writing test was given, persuasive essays assigned, and copying spelling words made up the activities for January. The rest of Terri's lesson plans through April included research on Jacob Lawrence, writing activities for Mondays and Tuesdays, an essay about Native Americans, and writing another "news" article.

TEACHER'S NAME	Hutchinson, T.	LANGUAGE ARTS	GRADE SECTION# 8-9	DATE: 10/07/02-10/11/02
BONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY
TEXT OR MATERIAL Who am 17, by Aylette Jenness	TEXT OR MATERIAL Handouts	TEXT OR MATERIAL Elements of Writing	TENT OR MATERIAL Handouts	TEXT OF MATERIAL Elements of Writing
DRJECTIVES LID Applies startification of English. LIP Follows certal directions and asks providens for charification. LiP Uses the writing process. LiS Expands caroling seculatury LIP Responds creatively to literature	OBJECTIVES 8.10 Applies standards of English. 8.14 Pollows and directions and aska questions for clarification. 8.40 Uses the writing process. 8.33 Expands reading rocabulary 8.28 Responds creatively to literature	ORJUCTIVES 8.10 Applies standards of English. 8.14 Follows and directions and asks quotians for chriftcation. 8.54 Uses the writing process. 8.33 Expands reading reachelary 8.29 Respects constituty to Terrature.	OBJECTIVES 8.2 Recognizes the function of the eight peris of speech 8.9 Recognizes and uses verbal phrases	OBJECTIVES
PAGE	PAGE	PAGE 150-158	PAGE 474-476	PAGE
PROCEDURE Text (Sommers structury) Tencher will rend, <u>Who am J</u> ² , by Aylette Jennens Sindenis will discuss the creditist, plot, scitting of the book. Soudents will create an 'I AM'' poem for their 'AI. About Me' portfolio. Soudents will compute an auto-biographical source: 'The Me I See'.	PROCESSING Vocability tota. Students will continue the writing process with their pown and essay.	PROCEDURE Soudens Status chapter 5 Using Description. Soudents will begin their descriptive paragraph: "My Pavorite Place"	PROCENCIES Language Lab: 3 sentences will be written on the board. Students will be asked to fill in each sentence with an appropriate word. Students will discuss Prepositions Students will complete/check exercise 12. Students will discuss prepositional phrases. Students will complete/check exercise 13.	Kasala Davi
EVALUATION-Observation	ITOMEWORK -more EVALUATION-Observation and amending of various tooks and assignments	HOMEWORK-mone EVALUATION-SAME	HOMEWORE-copy commonly used prepositions from page 474 EVALUATION-Observation and assessing o various tasks and assignments	HOMEWORE- AME EVALUATION-SAME f

Special Education ModBcations 1. Material will be given written as well as verbally. 2. Work with partner 3. Assignments are written on the board or given to the

SEARCH MODIFICATIONS

stadent on a typed sheet. 4.Extra time will be given to complete tasks if needed

A contraction of packing
 Provide oppartunities for self-directed practice insulving research
 Strovide a practic degree of complexity
 Encourage the development of challenging, creative products.



A deschalation to all filmentary

Figure 1. Terri's Lesson Plan.

142

Terri's lesson plans were similar to Jenene's. Some assignments were textbook related while quite a few were worksheet type activities that addressed English grammar. Pieces of writing using the writing process were in her lesson plans. Many of the writing assignments were responses to questions from the literature book.

Tracy: September writing activities for Tracy included creating flash cards, completing a comprehension activity, working on a time line, outlining a passage, creating a character analysis, and writing a bio-poem. Students created an "All About Me" book, and answered reading comprehension questions twice a week. October and November assignments included journal entries Monday through Thursday, letter writing, creating figurative language, and book reports.

Graphic organizers, journal entries, fantasy essays (creative writing), biopoems, self-portraits, and note taking were in January and February's plans.

derson	LESSON PLANS O	Grade/Section #: 6-4	10/21-10/25		
Tuesday Wednesday		Thursday	Friday		
Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:		
on the board heet	Tuck Everlasting Vocabulary Test Notes on the board	Notes from Tuesday Practice excersices	Vocabulary packet Tuck Everlasting		
ive: 70	Objective: 14	Objective: 70	Objective:29,30,53		
ly simple and compound ts and predicates	Understands figurative language Similes, metaphors, personification	Identify simple and compound subjects and predicates	Identifies story, character, and plot development Identifies new meanings of words Understands figurative language		
	Page: 31-63	Page:	Page:		
ure:	Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:		
surnal Entry: Have drugs er affected you ersonally? Explain aily Language Review tudents will copy notes om the board about ibjects and predicates. As class we will do examples /orking in pairs students ill complete ibject/predicate excercises nd grade undents will complete aasbulary test.	 Journal Entry: What affect do drugs have on your community? Explain. Daily Language Review Students will copy figurative language notes from the board 4)While reading chapter 6-10, we will find and examine examples of figurative language Students will work in groups to create their own examples of similes, metaphors, and personification. Students will illustrate the example using construction paper, ect. Yocabulary Test 		 Students will finish figurative language project from Wednesday. Students will complete a quiz on chapters 6-11 		
work/Evaluation:	Homework/Evaluation:	Homework/Evaluation:	Homework/Evaluation:		
for Vocabulary Test	Figurative Language worksheet	Subject/Predicate worksheet			

Figure 2. Tracy's Lesson Plan.

The assignments for March and April's included journal writing, writing comic strip conversations, library research, and poetry through a workshop approach. Tracy's lesson plans ended in April.

Tracy's assignments initially were worksheet and text book related activities. As the year progressed, journals became part of her class's writing routine.

By March, Tracy was using a writer's workshop model to teach writing. As

Terri's, the lesson plans did not specify the components of writer's workshop.

Terry: September through November's lesson plans for Terry included responding to reading, journal entries, discussion and completion of questions from the "Making Meaning" section of the literature book, copying and writing sentences, creating morals and fables, defining words, writing a paragraph, and an essay on "What Career/Job I Want."

Monday		Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	
		Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	
Elements of Writ Grammar IF	ting	Elements of Writing Grammar IF	Elements of Writing Grammar IF	Elements of Writing Grammar IF	Record's Day	
Objective:		Objective:	Objective:	Objective:	Objective:	
Parts of Speech Prepositions 6.2, 6.9		Parts of Speech Prepositions 6.2, 6.9	Parts of Speech Prepositions 6.2, 6.9	Parts of Speech Conjunctions 6.2, 6.9	Record's Day	
Page: 406-410		Page: 406-410	Page:406-410 Page:411-412		Page:411-412	
Procedure:		Procedure:	Procedure: Procedure:		Procedure:	
Introduce Preposition Discuss and Model Speech. Complete and discus Exercise 11 on p. 40	Part of	Review Prepositions Practice identifying Prepositions. Complete Sheet	Administer Test on Prepositions Discuss and Model Part of Sheet 55 Speech HRW Workbook. Complete and discuss Exercise 13 on p. 4 DEC MAR		Record's Day	
Homework/Evaluat	tion:	Homework Homework		Homework		
Study and Complete sheet for Review. Study and Complete sheet for Review. TO TO Graded Graded		TO Evaluation Graded	TO Graded	Record's Day		

Figure 3. Terry's Lesson Plan.

January's lesson plans had the most writing activities. Terry began with responding to a "Quick Write" section of the literature book and answering questions to the selection. Later in the month were writing assignments for research reports, biographical profiles, and exercises with the students' vocabulary words such as writing sentences and defining the words. During February and March the students wrote letters to a famous person, wrote vocabulary words, did another "Quick Write", wrote a newspaper article about the south, defined vocabulary words, wrote "Name Game" poetry, and wrote an essay on their favorite ice cream.

For most of the first semester Terry's class engaged in text book writing activities. Usually these are "canned" prompts that do little to motivate the students to write. These type activities were seen in the previous lesson plans of the participants.

Research reports and biographical profiles hold more promise of actually immersing the students in writing experiences. The letters to a famous person could motivate the students to write depending on the person and the student's interests.

Leslie: September and October writing activities for Leslie included writing paragraphs, answering questions, graphic organizers, "Quick Write" and answering "Making Meanings" questions from the text. Shape poetry, Daily LanguageTM, responding to literature, a Fire Prevention Essay, "I Used to . . ." poems, writing the literary elements to stories, creation of crossword puzzles, note taking activities, and answering essay questions finalized the first two months of lesson plans for Leslie.

November and December activities involved taking notes on the writing process, student produced illustrated stories, more notes on literary elements, utilizing vocabulary words in predictions about the stories students read, book reports, creative writing assignments, paragraph writing, responding to questions about story selections, a narrative essay, a "Dear Teacher" letter, and a title page for their portfolio. Other activities for the time period reported were portfolio work, a reflection on an essay, another "Dear Teacher" letter, cover page for the portfolio, narrative reflections for several pieces of writing, graphic organizers revisited, more note taking on the writing process, create your own questions about reading selections, and homework assignments for writings to be included in the portfolio.

Swetenburg	LESSON PLANS	Grade/Section Lang Arts	Dat	
Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday		
faterial:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text of	
ransparency lotes irammar & Vriting Assessment	 Transparency English Composition 	 Transparency English Composition 	:	
8	Objective:	Objective:	Objec	
-3,4 9, Student 2 usage of verbs, linking & action	QCC. 7- 9,Student recognize the use of Adverbs	QCC. 7.30, 32,33 Students will select best replacement for conjunctions and preposition	QCC. will so for co prepor	
0 - 525	Page:	Page:	Page:	
e:	Procedure:	Procedure:	Proces	
aily Language eview iscuss Notes ssessment 29-45 sage 13)	 Daily Language Review Exercise 7 & 8 (pp.317-319) 	 Daily Language Review Exercise 14 (pp.325-326) RECEIVE OCT + 5 2002 		
OMEWORK		HOMEWORK		
ercises 3 & 4		Exercises 15-16 (pp.461- 464)	S	

Figure 4. Leslie's Lesson Plan.

January and February's assignments involved creation of a chart, taking notes on various topics, outlining passages, peer editing essays, work on a variety of essays, completing final paragraphs, completing questions, answering questions about myths, defining words, student-created word puzzles, an expository essay, revising drafts of essays, brain storming for a new narrative essay, continuing drafts, and completing graphic organizers.

March to May writing assignments involved creating an African-American booklet, a letter to one of our teachers serving in Iraq, writing questions while watching a video on the Odyssey, note taking on couplets, writing poetry (haiku, quatrains, cinquins, and limericks), vocabulary exercises, creating Venn diagrams, and completing portfolios.

Leslie's students were more involved in actual writing experiences than the other participants. Her lesson plans reflected her writing pedagogy as expressed in her interview. While there were worksheet activities from the textbook, assignments that prompted attention to a writer's craft were also included. Leslie allowed the students to have more creative assignments that motivated them to write.

Bill: In my lesson plans for September and October, I included activities responding to journal topics, language arts skills maintenance (Daily BitesTM and Mountain LanguageTM), answering "Making Meanings" to reading selections, spelling homework, notes on how to do research, research project on scorpions, and a "Fire Prevention" essay.

Writing activities for November and December were to respond to reading selection stories and answering questions from *Action* and *Read* magazines. The activities for January and February included writing responses to Dr. Martin Luther King's "I Have a Dream Speech" and other writing activities about Dr. King. Also during this period students created fairy tales and wrote an autobiographical incident.

March through May's writing assignments included more responding to "Making Meanings", writing paragraphs, choosing from the "Building Portfolio" section of the literature book, an open book test with several essay questions, a persuasive writing essay, and writing fables and myths.

are met through skills		ives relating to English nance program Mountain Lang	шаде™.	Scorpi (Update - revisi	ion)	SEArch	file with the	e - Changes Erend Sprinc MS. Ashmon
Teacher's Name:	Willia	am L. Moore		LESSON PLANS	Grade/Section #:	7-1,2,3	Date:	11/18-22/02
Monday Tuesday		Wednesday		Thursday		Friday		
Text or Material:		Text or Material:	Text or Material:		Text or Material:		Text or Material:	
Elements of Literature(HRW)(READ) English(HM)(ACTION)		Elements of Literature(HRW)(READ) English(HM)(READ)	Elements of Literature(HRW)(READ) English(HM)(ACTION)		Elements of Literature(HRW)(READ) English(HM)(ACTION)		Elements of Literature(HRW)(READ) English(HM)(ACTION)	
Objective: 1- 12, 13,	1416,	Objective: 17, 21- 25	Objective: 31- 45, 56, 63		Objective: 64, 65, 66, 67,		Objective:69, 70, 75, 74	
Grammar and Usage Listening, Writing		Listening, Literature Writing	Reading, Speaking, Writing		Reading, Writing		Reading, Writing	
Page: Sleepy Hollow		Page: Sleepy Hollow	Page: Sleepy Hollow		Page: The Monkey's Paw		Page: The Monkey's Paw	
Procedure:		Procedure:	Procedure:		Procedure:		Procedure:	
Procedure: Each day: Silent Sustained Reading 1. Agenda HW written 2. Journal Topic changes each day. 3. Mountain Language 1- 8 (left-side) 4. HW Check 5. Oral reading 6. Read Finish reading <i>Sleepy Hollow</i>		Each day: Silent Sustained Rending 1.Agenda HW written 2. Journal Topic changes each day. 3. Mountain Language 9 – 16 (left-side) 4. HW Check 5. Oral reading 6. Start Wrap-up activity for <i>Sleepy Hollow</i>	Each day: Silent Sustained Reading		Tocount The second sec		Each day: Silent Sustained Reading 1. Agenda HW written 2. Journal Topic changes each day. 3. Mountain Language 13 - 20 (right-side) 4. Mountain Language check 5. HW Check 6. Oral reading 7. Filaish The Monkey's Paw 8. Spelling test	
Spelling words defined and syllabication.		Write each word in a sentence or a story with at words underlined. 5 sentences min.	Write words in two times each and ABC order.		Write words three times each. Spelling test Priday		Read for sixty minutes. Begin spelling HW	
Read each night for	15 min	Read each night for 15 min	Read ea	ch night for 15 min	Read each night	for 15 min		

Figure 5. Bill's Lesson Plan.

This concludes the examination of lesson plans from each of the participants.

While the lesson plans appear vague, it may be a natural fault of the lesson plan format.

The procedure section of the lesson plan was seen as an itemized account of what

occurred for a particular block of time. The plan does not specifically ask what

instructional practices will take place in the class room. It is assumed students will be taught how to do the tasks assigned. Example copies of the participants' lesson plans also appear in the Appendix.

Observations

Observing the participants in the study was problematic. Two of the teachers transferred during my research project, and I was a participant also, therefore I could observe only half of the participants – two eighth grade teachers and one of the seventh grade teachers. Getting to observe the participants proved a delicate issue also. I approached each of the participants, and they all agreed to the observations. I told them I would like to video-tape and/or audio-tape the observation for a more accurate transcription. Two of the participants agreed readily to the taping; the other participant did not feel comfortable with the idea of being taped or having the students taped. The observations took place over a ten-day period. I observed the eighth grade teachers during the third block of the day and the seventh grade teacher during the first block of the day.

Jenene: Jenene was our department chair and an eighth grade teacher. Her class was composed of twenty-one students – ten boys and eleven girls. The observation took place on a Tuesday during the second block of our schedule from 9:45 a.m. until 10:55 a.m. Her room was similar to mine in that she had many posters and information on the walls around the room. Instead of an overhead, she used chart paper for presenting information. There was limited writing going on during my observation. The writing I noted most was note taking. She used an agenda to let the students know what they would cover that day. The agenda was posted on the board.

At the start of the class the students were taking notes on literary terms related to idioms. They also took notes on folk heroes such as John Henry and Paul Bunyon. Jenene tied in "Westward Expansion" to a reading selection they had studied in social studies with taking notes on folk heroes. Her lesson discussed the use of exaggeration in writing. During the course of the lesson the students listened to a taped version of "The Ransom of Red Chief" by O. Henry. After listening to the story Jenene led a review of the main events and orally tested the students' recall of the story.

Debriefing the observation with Jenene was refreshing. Her style, while different from mine in many ways, was also similar. We both used several mini-lessons to teach our students during the time we had them. We both reviewed the previous lessons and connected the current lessons with things we had already taught or that our team had taught.

Jenene agreed that the notes from my observation covered what she taught in the class I observed. She talked with her students about the need to write and communicate effectively. She pointed out the importance of writing sensibly and how it can improve their school, job, and career choices. The "real world" discussion made the value of what they were learning important to them.

Terri: Terri was an eighth grade colleague of Jenene's. Her class had twenty-one students also. She had eleven boys and ten girls. The observation took place on a Wednesday during the second block from about 9:45 a.m. until 10:55 a.m. The

time of the observation was of Terri's choosing. Terri also used an agenda posted on the board for the students to know what they were to cover that day. As I entered the class the students were engaged in a Criterion Referenced Competency Test (CRCT) review of antonyms and synonyms. After working on the exercise the students exchanged papers and then graded each other's paper. Terri collected them and recorded them in her grade-book.

After reading the students a story, Terri asked them to predict what would happen next. The story was used to review participials and verbals. The students were to locate the verbals and then write the sentence that contained the verbal and underline it. Many students protested they did not know what to do. Terri reviewed the definition of a verbal and asked other students to define what verbals were and how they were used in sentences. The students finally understood and were able to complete the assignment.

During the lesson another teacher came in, and I realized that I was in an inclusion class (a class in which special education students are mainstreamed into a regular education class with support from the special education department). The colleague came in and moved among the students helping as needed, not pointing out the student or students with whom she was there primarily to work.

The students moved to a series of group activities related to the newspaper. Each group of two to four students had a different activity involving the newspaper and was given a set amount of time to perform the activity. Because of the length of time the verbal activity had taken, Terri had to change her plans and make the newspaper activity a two-day activity. Following up on the observation of Terri's class with an interview allowed us to discuss what I had seen. We both agreed my summary was accurate. Terri felt I had caught the essence of the lesson I observed. I asked her how she grouped the students, and she said it was an alphabetical order based on last names.

Terri said she would often have a lesson planned and would come to find out during the lesson that the students may not be ready to show they understood what she had taught. This was evidenced by the students' inability to complete the verbal activity without a lot of redirection and reminders.

Observing Terri's lesson allowed me insight to my own teaching. I did many of the same things she did while she was teaching. The ways she monitored the students, managed the grading, and motivated the students were similar to how I conducted my class.

Leslie: Leslie was the seventh grade counterpart to me. Her class had twenty-six students – twelve girls and fourteen boys. The observation was on a Tuesday during our first block 8:05 a.m. until 9:35 a.m. Leslie's classroom was attractive with many posters that promoted learning and a creative environment. She had many resources, such as supplemental texts and other materials. During my observation, our assistant principal observed Leslie.

Leslie broke her block into several mini-lessons. They were studying folk tales. She and her students reviewed a study guide for a video shown to the class. The class had watched a part of the video in a previous lesson. The study guide was called "Folk Tale Critique." The lesson began with a quiz over the elements of folk tales. The students exchanged papers and graded each other's work. After the quiz and grading, the class watched the second half of Roger and Hammerstein's *Cinderella*. During the viewing of the video Leslie fast-forwarded past longer parts, then paused to discuss items like special effects and how they are different today than when that film was made. After the film they moved back to the "Folk Tale Critique," finished it, and moved to another lesson on adjectives.

Debriefing with Leslie confirmed that I had captured the essence of the lesson for the day. I told her I thought we had a similar style in our teaching and that our rooms were similarly decorated. We both used peers to help grade and review daily work but not our tests.

My observation of Leslie's class was a little off kilter in that the assistant principal chose to observe that day. I think that may have skewed what Leslie was doing or had planned to do. I know for me it is unnerving enough to be observed by one person, but the inclusion of another person creates even more anxiety.

Writing was documented in the lesson plans of all participants, but did not seem to be evidenced to a great degree within the classrooms. In the interview, lesson plans, and observations, it was ascertained writing took place, but direct instruction in how to write did not seem to be part of the daily routine. Participants mentioned teaching components of the writing process, but other than the writing workshop approach, little other evidence was found by the researcher. The lack of training, as admitted to by the participants, was also problematic. The need for teachers to be trained in how to teach writing in teacher preparation classes was evidenced by the comments that each of the participants made to the researcher.

During my observations the types of writing I noted were limited. It seemed the writing was relegated to note taking or answering questions in response to the readings for the day.

Writing, regarded as part of a balanced literacy program, may need another section added to the lesson plan that would allow one to more easily assess that writing is being stressed and the degree to which it is being taught.

Shuman's Writing Plan

Beginning in 1994, Shuman developed a writing plan or strategy to improve the scores on the eighth grade writing test and to improve overall student writing at each grade level. The basic plan can be read in Appendix B of this research. The overall plan did not change much from the first year's inception. The main changes that took place were a review of test data and a reflection of how well we had accomplished our goals each year. We began to make sure the data was recorded and read diagonally so the same groups of students were being compared with each other; in other words, we compared the results as the students moved through Shuman. This allowed for the same groups of students to be tracked and their progress monitored.

Each subsequent year's plan began with an analysis of the test data and then determination as to which strategies should be employed to best meet the goals the writing team had established. Shuman's main strategy was to use "Writing Across the Curriculum" as the means to engage most of the students in writing. Each day of the week a different subject area both academic and exploratory was to assign 15 minutes of writing on any topic the teacher chose.

Another part of our plan was that each homeroom teacher was provided with a tracking chart to post the Iowa Test of Basic SkillsTM (ITBS) scores. These scores were shared with the academic team. The tracking chart was later modified to include the Georgia Criterion Competency Test (GCRCT) as well as the ITBS. Use of the tracking chart gave each teacher, at a glance, a look at how the student and class did on a particular test. This allowed the teacher to better prepare instructional strategies.

Utilizing the chart and the information gathered from the testing data, the teachers were asked to provide both remedial and enrichment data to show how they planned to address the students' weaknesses and to continue to build on and maintain their strengths. An inventory taken of the various test-taking resources was provided for all teachers to use for writing instruction. Evidence that the resources were being used should have been reflected in the weekly lesson plans.

Summary

Examining the lesson plans and observing the teachers was insightful. The lesson plans gave me information as to what the participants were doing in their classrooms; however, reading a lesson plan alone leaves one with little true knowledge of what is actually occurring in a particular classroom. The observations allowed me an overall view of the day-to-day activities in their classrooms. Even combining the lesson plans and an observation, the observer may not get a completely accurate picture of the proposed learning because the day of the observation may not find the teacher following the lesson plan for that day. This could be problematic in light of the need for the observer to accurately interpret what is happening in the participant's classroom. These problems do not lessen the importance of analyzing the artifacts and the information gained through the observations. This could necessitate the need for more observations. This need for more observations becomes difficult due to time constraints, teachers transferring, or moving, and the instability of faculties within schools. Teachers may teach one subject one year and another subject the next year due to the dynamics of the middle school.

CHAPTER 6

SUMMARY: FINDINGS, CONCERNS, AND FUTURE RESEARCH

In this chapter I summarize five major findings that emerged from my research: (1) Many teachers in content areas may need more training in writing instruction in order to help students become proficient writers and readers. (2) Employing hermeneutic phenomenology, there emerged from this study a realization of the need for utilizing more technology in language arts classrooms. (3) It seems that there is more emphasis on the mechanics of writing but not enough on writing as a process in language arts classrooms. (4) There is a need for developing a writing pedagogy for language arts classrooms which captures the multiple aspects of literacy development. (5) All members of society must work together to develop communities of learners where support for and the importance of writing is woven into the policy milieu, university curriculum, school writing pedagogy, and classroom writing practice to help all students to reach their fullest potential in an increasingly diverse American society.

The participants in my dissertation research were colleagues who taught writing as part of their language arts program and our assistant principal, who oversaw the lesson plans and curriculum of Shuman Middle School in Savannah, Georgia. As a teacher of language arts I was expected to have my students actively engaged in relevant and authentic activities that facilitated learning. My goal was to have my students find their voices as writers as they became confident skilled communicators. Feelings of inadequacy prompted the beginning of this research process where I became a participant/observer – immersed in the role of teacher as I conducted research on Shuman Middle School's language arts program. My dual role was mirrored in Phillion and He's (2001) "to be believable the researcher must live the research inquiry" (p.14).

I observed and analyzed the participants' methods of teaching writing, and during the process I, too, became a better writer. As I interviewed the participants, analyzed their lesson plans, and observed them teaching, it became apparent that we all wanted the same thing - to create effective and proficient writers of our students. Using narrative to tell the story allowed me the opportunity to better understand not only my participants, but also myself in this process of research and reflection.

This dissertation process allowed me the opportunity to refine my skills and improve my own pedagogy both in writing and in all aspects of my teaching. It also provided an opportunity to observe first hand some of my colleagues' practices. Talking with the participants and having them describe their writing praxis helped them ponder the efficacy of the language arts program at our school.

Conversations with teachers revealed concerns they had regarding the lack of writing skills students were evidencing in their classrooms. Though motivating techniques were many and varied, reluctant writers sat at desks with pens resting securely in their wells and blank sheets of paper matching blank expressions as students were assigned "canned" writing prompts. Effect and efficient writers were not forthcoming. Product-oriented activities did not actively engage the students in meaningful writing tasks but rather engendered boredom with no desire to compose creative or imaginative texts. Teachers and students alike were becoming disenfranchised with writing.

We believed with appropriate scaffolding, our students could and would become authors in their own eyes. Our beliefs must be translated into instructional practices if students are to benefit. The bottom line is this: If students are not reading and writing, the teacher must change his/her approach to teaching them. Teachers are agents of change, but change happens to the teacher as well as to the students. Writing assignments should empower the students to effect change in their world. The act of writing offers the opportunity for the writer to learn more about themselves as they communicate with others. Writing is a regenerative undertaking shrouded in a living document where the writer is renewed and reformed as she/he constructs and composes text.

Lee Odell (1993) on teacher composition and needed research postulated a guiding principle for teachers is to "effect" their students writing and clarify and mold the writings they produce. Teachers of writing should be researchers and discourse theorists whose function is not only to help students become better writers but also be informed as to trends, issues, and movements (Robinson, McKenna, & Wedman, 2004) within composition theory and practice. This belief Odell espoused summarizes what I feel the writing teacher's responsibility is to his/her students. In a position paper on *Teaching composition* (NCTE, 2004), the NCTE echoed Odell's beliefs that teachers need to be informed and knowledgeable about the current state of research in composition. NCTE's position supports the idea that writing is a reflection of what the writer knows and feels which supports the hermeneutic phenomenology that focused this research.

Believing that teachers of writing should also be writers is a position held by the National Council for Teachers of English (NCTE). Teachers must become participant/observers in the writing process to impart the necessary skills students require if they are to perceive themselves as authors. The teachers become risk takers as they model and share their writing with the students which encourages them to do the same. Participating in this research helped me refine my ideas on writing. Burke (2003) stated that "writing is always personal even when it is academic." Burke continued his thought that helping students learn to write helps them find and develop their own voice as well as the skills writing requires. This dissertating process revealed to me how insecure we are in the perception of our abilities to convey the "right" or "proper" way to educate students in becoming better communicators.

There were some inherent limitations in my research. The number of participants was relatively small, and all were situated in the same inner-city middle school. The decision to add observations after the interviews were conducted and to analyze the lesson plans necessitated my being able to observe only three of my participants. This, in and of itself, narrowed my research even more. Limitations with perceived collegiality - the fact that regardless of how long one has known someone or how close you may feel you are, teachers are uncomfortable when it comes to being observed teaching or when asked questions about their teaching pedagogy. Scheduling times to interview and observe were problematic due to the general nature of a school environment.

Strengths also were found within my research. The closeness of the participants as colleagues allowed us a greater freedom to talk while we interviewed and helped ease some potential problems that might have occurred because of distrust of an outsider. Each of us was an insider on how our classrooms worked, but we were outsiders in how we worked with each other. Prior to my research we did not have any insight into what was going on in our own classrooms. To improve writing within our school we needed to talk more with one another and discuss what was happening in our classes. The theoretical framework of my research was based in John Dewey's (1897) educational philosophy with roots in hermeneutic phenomenology by Van Manen (1990). The primary methods of inquiry were narrative based on Clandinin and Connelly (2000), Phillion and He (2001), and classroom-based action research by Cochran-Smith and Lytle (1993) and McKernan (1991).

Through my interviews, observations, and conversations with my participants, I realized that teachers in content areas may need more training in writing instruction in order to help students become proficient writers and readers (Finding 1). Each of the participants talked about the lack of training in writing instruction offered through their college programs and/or staff development (see more detail in Chapter 4). They all came to the classroom from different backgrounds and for different reasons. Their self awareness of the need to have formal training reflected their desire to be better teachers of writing.

Michael Moore (2004) stated that when beginning his teaching and graduate work in the seventies there was little or no course work offered that specifically taught or mentioned the teaching of writing. The seventies and early eighties witnessed a transmutation of the conventional approaches to teaching writing in undergraduate and graduate schools. It was around this time writing was perceived as a process and not simply a product.

The lack of courses and requirements in the teacher preparation programs may be the identifying cause as to why the participants felt overwhelmed at times and unprepared to teach writing to the students. Although all the participants mentioned some type of instruction, either during college or the Coastal Writing Project or, in my case, the Southern Writing Project (see more detail in Chapter 4), in response to the question on their past training, they gave vague, fleeting replies. The assistant principal had received no formal preparation for teaching writing (see Carl, Part II, Chapter 4, p. 129). An assumption could be proffered that if one is a licensed teacher, no other training is necessary to teach writing.

Most, if not all, teacher education programs require some course in language arts, but writing is usually subsumed as a component of literacy courses. At times, writing is no more than a medium by which knowledge acquisition of other disciplines is transmitted. In some areas writing is at best a penmanship activity, and with the technology explosion, even that has fallen to the wayside with the use of computers and/or word processors. Yet the ability to communicate well offers the promise of success more consummately as few other talents or abilities can.

Writer's craft – clarity, audience, good beginnings, word choice, style, correct conventions and so much more – are teachable skills. All students have experiences to write about if given the opportunity within a safe environment. Emig (1983) posited four implications for writing in language arts classrooms: (1) Although writing is natural, it is activated by enabling environments. (2) These environments have the following characteristics: they are safe, structured, private, unobtrusive, and literate. (3) Adults in these environments have two special roles: they are fellow practitioners, and they are providers of possible content, experiences, and feedback. (4) Children need frequent opportunities to practice writing, many of these playful (p. 139).

Now, more than at any other time, professional leaning programs and staff development sessions exist that provide in-depth training in methods and strategies to

teach writing. The National Writing Project has established workshops across the United States that promote the role of teacher as writer while training teachers in writing as a process. National conferences promoted by IRA and NCTE offer more sessions on how to teach writing. Colleges, in undergraduate and graduate programs, are scheduling more courses that address the need teachers have for explicit training in writing instruction, and more research is being conducted as to how writing instruction is taking place in classrooms. It would benefit educators in all content disciplines to take advantage of the opportunities to expand their knowledge base and skills in this vital component of a balanced literacy program.

The concern that each participant voiced is reflected in Schön's (1983) book on reflective practitioners. Schön stated there has been a decline in professional's abilities to "fix" problems within their own fields. This creates an inability to have sufficient knowledge to overcome society's ills; in this case the ills are the unpreparedness of teachers to help students become proficient writers. While Schön (1983) was not talking specifically about teachers he was talking about communities of professionals, and teachers are professionals. My participants' fears were addressed with our participation in staff development and gaining advanced degrees in language arts. Jenene stated in Chapter 4, "I am considering starting work on an advanced degree, and I know I will need to improve my writing as I move along in the process" (p.99). Terry is working on her Ed.S. at Lincoln Memorial University (see Chapter 4, p. 98). There is no easy solution to ensure that teachers become confident and at ease in perceiving their own training as an educator. With more tools and knowledge of current best practices the

participants in Shuman's language arts classrooms will become what they truly are – teachers of writing and facilitators of learning.

Employing hermeneutic phenomenology throughout my study brought to my attention the need for utilizing more technology in language arts classrooms (Finding 2). Shuman Middle School housed a computer lab that accommodated a class of 23 students, but unfortunately on any given day up to five of the computers were inoperable. Additionally, the time spent in the lab was reserved for practice on the Criterion Referenced Competency Test in reading and/or math. The only mention of technology by the participants was from Leslie (see Chapter 4, p.100) who used the Internet to locate appropriate activities that would motivate her students. A viable and necessary resource in today's expanding technological society as well as a strong motivational tool was being overlooked in the language arts program at Shuman.

Technology has changed the world in which we live. As educators we must adjust our definition of content literacy to accommodate word processing, new software and hardware upgrades, and composing concepts. Technology is transforming literacy at an alarming rate. "Technology has enhanced the basics of effective teaching and learning about writing and it has made the writing process easier. Technology has changed our ways of writing, thinking, and communicating, and it has affected both what is written and how it is written" (Bromley, 2006).

The National Center for Educational Statistics in 2002 reported that 85% of schools had Internet access, and 87% of the classrooms had at least one Internet computer.

Computers facilitate a positive impact on student writing. Word processing aids in speeding up the writing process thereby allowing the writer to devote more of their concentration to content (Robinson & McKenna, 2006). With the use of word processors, students write longer compositions and tend to engage in the revision process more readily. Text editors make revising and editing easier. Spell checkers and grammar checkers provide feedback quickly thereby freeing the teacher to conduct one-on-one conferences or small group mini-lessons (Bromley, 2006).

Technology affects the audience as well as the author. Compositions on the computer are easier to read and with the use of graphics can be more interesting and entertaining. Creativity and imagination is fostered with the use of computer graphics. Nevertheless, there are some concerns about the use of technology in classrooms today. There is the ethical dilemma of plagiarism with the wide-spread use of the Internet. Teachers must be careful that the students' work is actually their own. This ties into the need for more teacher training since students need to be taught how to properly reference sources and cite authors used in written work.

A socio-economic concern arises due to the inability of every household to afford a computer, software, or printer for students to use. This is being offset by computers being housed in public libraries, malls, and even some schools being opened on weekends to accommodate this need. Another caveat is the lack of keyboarding skills needed to make word processing an efficient and timely activity. With courses offered in schools and with practice this can be overcome fairly quickly. Computer labs in schools should be used consistently to teach this skill until it is adequately mastered, otherwise the tediousness of hunt-peck typing will discourage students and become a detriment rather than a benefit to writing.

The future will see an increase in the use of technology in schools and homes. Teachers must keep pace with today's technologically expanding society to better equip students with the expertise needed to succeed. Educational institutions must foster the use of technology to prepare students for living in a technological society. Courses that address new advances in cyberspace must be included in the curricula. At the same time courses that teach our teachers methods and strategies for redelivery in classrooms are essential to assure the success of all.

My research revealed that there seemed to be more emphasis on the mechanics of writing but not enough on writing as a process in language arts classrooms (Finding 3). A major concern of the participants was the number of students who were weak in the basic skills of language arts. Jenene complained, "This past year I had children who were weak in their language arts skills I needed to start at the beginning" (see Chapter 4, p. 102). Having a range of students from those who could not write a complete sentence to those who were able to compose stories or essays was frustrating to the teacher and to the students as well (see more details Chapter 4). Those who could produce stories were made to re-demonstrate their knowledge of mechanics by completing English worksheets dealing with subject/verb agreement or some other less meaningful or irrelevant topic. This frustration crossed all grade levels and created a challenge and struggle for the teachers to actively engage all the students regardless of where they were on a writing continuum. A significant portion of the language arts block was spent in review using

paper/pencil worksheet activities to bolster a forgotten (if ever acquired) knowledge of grammar mechanics. Tracy commented, "I have to teach them what a sentence begins with and what it ends with" (see Chapter 4, p. 115). This was evidenced in the participants' interviews responses, their lesson plans, and in the actual teacher observations. From this research it was ascertained more, if not most, of the writing tasks were product-oriented. Instruction in basic sentence structure before progressing to paragraphs was a recurring theme.

Writing spelling words or defining specific content terms appeared weekly as a writing activity in some aspect of the participants' plans (see more details Chapter 5). Usually peer editing is no more than an exercise in correcting English conventions. Informal teacher conversations bemoan the inability of peers to edit each others work due to lack of skills in normative conventions, hence, the "back to basics" approach of so many teachers.

Each of the participants averred the teaching of writing was important to the success of their students. Their perceptions, if not their actual practices of teaching writing, mirrored what Burke (2003) wrote, "Writing is a powerful instrument of thought. In the act of composing writers learn about themselves and their world and communicate their insights to others. Writing confers the power to grow personally and to effect change in the world" (p. xv).

While each participant was concerned that their students be able to write well, neither their lesson plans nor the lesson observed had much in the form of writing instruction. Lessons included spelling activities, responding to reading selections, and other similar activities, but no detailed, specific lessons on writing genres or writing workshops (see more detail Chapter 5). As a teacher at Shuman Middle School, I knew Writing Across the Curriculum was encouraged. The evidence was just not ascertainable in the lesson plans or in the classroom observations.

Content literacy is the ability to use reading and writing to acquire new content in a given discipline (McKenna & Robinson, 2006). The writing-to-learn movement emphasizes that writing is a means to clarify, analyze, organize, refine, and extend the internalization of content (McKenna & Robinson, 2006). "Writing, like reading, becomes a tool for acquiring content" (p. 8). Teachers can maximize learning by engaging students in appropriate content literacy activities. Policy makers of today are demanding the right to be literate in our society be seen as more than a privilege but as a new civil right (Cosgrove, 2001).

Teachers must consciously attend to the use and effects of the practices in the language arts classrooms. In teaching writing conventions, we slow down the writing process so that students may take advantage of that time to deliberate and reflect on the development of text (Lee, 2000). While this will not occur for every piece of writing, with a gradual release of responsibility, students may be empowered over time to write deliberately as an author.

It is imperative that students be allowed to foreground their writing from their own experiences, to see their lives as important thereby empowering their text. Normative conventions or forms should be deemphasized to permit writing as a constructive action that is designed to deliberately communicate to an audience (Lee, 2000). That is not to say conventional correctness is not necessary. Prose with a plethora of mechanical errors detracts from the message the author is trying to convey. Meaning may get lost in the struggle to decipher poorly constructed pieces. That being said, a better theatre for reviewing or teaching basic sentence structure and/or English skills could be in the form of a mini-lesson or one-on-one conferences. Differentiated instruction is sweeping the nation; it is past time it was given more than lip-service in the classrooms of America's schools. Using differentiated instruction honors and affirms all voices in the classroom. Emig's (1983) enabling environment promotes a willingness and eagerness to write and share.

Writing is a complex, recursive process that ennobles our thoughts and experiences. It should not be and must not be trivialized to the point of copying rules or writing spelling words. There is a place and time for those skills to be addressed, but they are not composing tasks that will facilitate life-long learning. An emphasis needs to be placed on writing as a process, not on correcting normative conventions.

There is a need for developing a writing pedagogy for language arts classrooms which captures the multiple aspects of literacy development (Finding 4). Shuman has had a writing plan since 1993 when Mrs. Myles and Mr. Waterbrook were assigned to the school. The writing plan (see APPENDIX B) consisted of employing a "Writing Across the Curriculum" approach and an analysis of the writing scores of Shuman's eighth graders through an explication of those scores from TSARS (the scoring center at the University of Georgia where the writing test was evaluated). While this program was initially embraced and utilized by a majority of the teachers and staff in later years, it was not monitored as closely, and some of the initial focus was lost. It would be advantageous for Shuman's administrators to revisit the implementation of the writing plan – how it is monitored and how samples are collected.

Shuman's writing scores climbed, plateaued, and climbed again under the use of the writing plan. The plan was reviewed and slightly revised during the first years of Mrs. Myles and Mr. Waterbrook's administration. The latest revision was part of the Test Improvement Plan during the 1998-1999 school year. A series of examples and suggestions were given so that traditionally non-teachers of writing would have ideas from which to draw in implementing the program. The program itself was focused on improving writing skills, but the limited time for writing (15 minutes) did not allow for any real in-depth writing time or discussion of how students could improve their writing.

Writing Across the Curriculum is not a new model for writing in middle schools. It has been well-grounded in theories of writing and language use (Idrisano & Squire, 2000). Usually students whose schools promote this model have an advantage over students who do not. It is the implementation and monitoring that make the difference. Writing is effective in exploring and understanding academic subjects if utilized properly. Research studies in England and the United States revealed that writing assignments in content area classrooms tended to focus on reproducing information rather than using information to think more critically about subject matter (Idrisano & Squire, 2000). Just as in this research, there was little evidence of writing that required students to elaborate on what they were learning, to inquire, to make discoveries, or to think analytically. Most tasks directed students to take notes, copy outlines, or answer questions about the reading designed to regurgitate the text. Burke (2003) listed several common traits necessary for students to function in all discipline areas

1. Make statements or claims about events, ideas, or processes.

- 2. Support these statements using details and evidence from other texts or research.
- Write with clarity, organizing information in the way that best meets their and their audience's needs.
- Determine the purpose for this piece of writing: to persuade, inform, explain, entertain, learn; these are common to all subject areas at one time or another (p. 21).

When students make text-to-self, text-to-world, or text-to-text connections, better results are produced rather than simply note-taking or study questions. Executing these traits and connections increase the students ability to achieve in all content areas.

Having Writing Across the Curriculum (WAC) as a writing plan for schools, monitoring teachers to ensure they are utilizing inquiry-based learning strategies, and planning creative, thought-provoking tasks will not guarantee proficient writers if enough time is not given for students to be totally engaged in the writing process. Shuman's limit of 15 minutes for every student to write in an academic subject - anything so long as they were writing (e.g., rules for physical education) misses the heart of the WAC model (see Appendix B for complete plan). Wedding WAC with writer's workshops is a model that would facilitate learning and assure schools are producing effective, proficient communicators.

The essential characteristics of writer's workshop merge with Burke's (2003) views of WAC. Students see themselves as writers because they are treated seriously as writers. Genuine talk takes place within reading and writing activities. Students are reading and writing for real and meaningful purposes. Individual strengths and needs are

recognized in a differentiated instruction format with effort and improvement noted. Students are taught to be responsible for their writing and most importantly, expectations for achievement are high (Fountas & Pinnell, 2001). Writer's workshop may start with a mini-lesson or with an oral reading selection lasting from 15 to 20 minutes. Students are actively engaged in the writing process during which time the teacher is conducting individual conferences with students. These take place at the student's seat where, if they are in small groups, some residual learning may take place as other students "listen in". Drafting, editing, and publishing occur in a recursive fashion while students are composing. This section takes the greatest amount of time – usually 30 minutes or more. The conferring component is the foundation of the writer's workshop. It is during the conference that mechanics, spelling, or author's craft is addressed. The culminating activity allows time for students to share their work with each other, either in pairs, small groups, or with the entire class. This lasts about 15 to 20 minutes as well and is a vital component to the writing workshop. In some classes, the sharing is eliminated from lack of time. This should not occur for it is in sharing their writing that students are recognized as published authors.

Obviously, writer's workshop could not be conducted fully in all the academic disciplines, but the components could be implemented in an abbreviated fashion so students could reap the rewards and benefits. In the language arts classrooms, where the focus is on reading and writing, the writer's workshop would be very efficacious in producing skilled communicators. Refining and revising the WAC model to merge with the essential characteristics of writer's workshop will enhance and better the instructional

practices in all academic disciplines across all grade levels from elementary schools through universities.

Incorporating an addendum to the writing plan to offer staff development in learning methods and strategies to improve writing instruction could promote a community of learners and writers. Staff development energizes teachers and adds a sense of excitement and encouragement that carries over to the students. New learning may be shared with other staff members to create a community of learners.

All members of society must work together to develop communities of writers and learners where support for and the importance of writing is woven into the policy milieu, university curriculum, school writing pedagogy, and writing classroom practice to help all students reach their fullest potential in an increasingly diverse global economy (Finding 5). We were outsiders in that we had not really found a way to come together and create discourse among ourselves that would address the development of good writing pedagogy to guide our students. Discourses need to be established among and between pre-service and in-service teachers, teacher educators, administrators, and policy makers that promote the sharing of ideas and concerns. A community of writers and learners must be created bringing together educational practitioners, community members, parents, and students who share a goal for students to become writers who are life-long learners.

It is hoped the reading of this dissertation will transform the writing pedagogy of middle schools' language arts programs. As Leslie (see more detail Chapter 4) sought professional learning development to improve her instructional practices, other educators would benefit from doing the same. However, school systems, local and state, along with

174

institutions of higher learning must offer courses that address teachers' and students' needs in writing. It is vital to our growth as educators that universities seek out and sanction innovative, timely research projects to further our knowledge base in balanced content literacy and in writing pedagogy in particular.

My dissertation has to cease. However, the inquiry into the writing pedagogy for middle school language arts programs will continue. According to the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP, 1999), only 1% of the students in the fourth, eighth, and twelfth grades scored at the Exceeds Level. 75% of the students scored above the Basic level leaving 25% of our country's children below the basic level of writing ability. This is a grave concern.

I sincerely hope that this study will be significant for teachers, teacher educators, administrators, and policy makers at a middle school level. For middle school teachers, this study will help develop a holistic writing pedagogy where writing is perceived as a process, woven into all content areas, and captures multiple aspects of literacy development. For middle school teacher educators, this study will help them get up close with the real world of writing praxis in middle schools, recognize the challenges and concerns of this praxis, and develop a university curriculum that is pedagogically compatible with the holistic middle school pedagogy. For middle school administrators, this study will help them foster a community of learners where teachers, students, parents, and staff work together to weave the importance of writing into school curriculum which helps all students reach their highest potential. For policy makers, this study will help them recognize the successful practices, concerns, challenges, and future directions of middle school writing practices in order to make policies that meet the

diverse needs of middle school populations and to create a policy milieu where all members of society work together to help all students reach their highest potential in an increasingly diverse American society.

REFERENCES

- Allington, R., & Cunningham, P. (2002). *Schools that work: Where they can all read and write*. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Applebee, A. N. (2000). Alternative models of writing development. In R. Indrisano & J.
 Squire (Eds.), *Writing and research/theory/practice* (pp. 90 110). Newark, DE:
 International Reading Association.
- Applebee, A. N. (1986). Problems in process approaches: Toward a reconceptualization of process instruction. In A. Petrosky & D.Bartholomae (Eds.), *The Teaching of writing: Eighty-fifth yearbook of the national society for the study of education* (pp. 95-113). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Applebee, A. N., Langer, J. A., Mullis, I., Latham, A., & Gentile, C. (1985). *Writing trends across the decade, 1974 – 1984*. Princeton: Educational Testing Service.
- Applebee, A. N. (1984). *Contexts for learning to write: Studies of secondary school instruction*. Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Applebee, A. N. & Langer, J. A. (1983). Instructional scaffolding: Reading and writing as natural language activities. *Language Arts*, 60 (2), 168-175.
- Applebee, A. N. (1981). Writing in the secondary school: English and the content areas. Urbana, IL: NCTE.
- Applebee, A. N. (1974). *Tradition and reform in the teaching of English: A history*. Urbana, IL: NCTE.
- Atwell, N. (1998). In the middle (Rev. ed). Portsmouth: Boyton/Cook Heinemann.
- Berke, J. (1976). *Twenty questions for the writer*. New York: Harcourt, Brace Jovanovich.

Booth, W. (1983). The rhetoric of fiction. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

- Braddock, R., Lloyd-Jones, R., & Schoer, L. (1963). *Research in written composition*. Urbana, IL: NCTE.
- Britton, J., Burgess, T., Martin, N., McLeod, A., & Rosen, H. (1975). Development of writing abilities. London: McMillan.
- Bromley, K. (2006). Technology and writing. In M.C. McKenna, L. D. Labbo,
 R. Kieffer, & D. Reinking (Eds.), *International handbook of literacy and technology* (Vol. 2, pp. 349-353). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Bruffee, K. A. (1993). *A short course in writing Composition, collaborative learning and constructive reading.* New York: Harper Collins.
- Bulter, D., & Liner, T. (1998). Natural language arts in the middle school.Portsmouth: Boyton/Cook Hienemann.
- Burke, J. (2003). *Writing reminders: Tools, tips, and techniques*. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Calkins, L. M. (1986/1994). *The art of teaching writing* (1st ed./2nd ed.). Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Cochran-Smith, M., & Lytle, S. (1993). *Inside/outside: Teacher research and knowledge*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Connelly, F. M., & Clandnin, D. J. (2000). *Narrative inquiry: Experience and story in qualitative research*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Connelly, F. M., & Clandinin, D. J., (1999). *Shaping a professional identity: Stories of educational practice*. New York: Teachers College Press.

Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (1998). Asking questions about telling stories. In C.

Kridel (Ed.), *Writing educational biography: Exploration in qualitative research* (pp. 245-253). New York: Garland.

- Corey, S. (1953). *Action research to improve school practice*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Cosgrove, M. (2001). Students' views on the purpose of reading from three perspectives – Student, teachers and parents. (Report No. CS014 408) Savannah,
 GA: Armstrong Atlantic State University. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 454 493).
- Covey, S. R. (1989). The seven habits of highly effective people: Restoring the character of ethics. New York: Fireside.
- Crotty, M. (1998). The Foundations of social research. St. Leonards, UK: Allen & Unwin.
- Crystal, D. (1995). *The Cambridge encyclopedia of the English language*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1998). *Strategies of qualitative inquiry*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Dewey, J. (1938/1997). Experience and education. New York: Macmillan.
- Dewey, J. (1916). Democracy and education. New York: Macmillan.
- Dewey, J. (1897). My pedagogic creed. The School Journal, LIV (8), 77-80.
- Elliott, J. (1976-77). Developing hypotheses about classrooms from teachers' practical constructs: An account of the work of the ford teaching project. *Interchange*, 7 (2), 2-22.
- Emig, J. (1983). The web of meaning: Essays on writing, teaching, learning, and

thinking. Portsmouth, NH: Boynton/Cook.

Emig, J. (1971). The composing processes of twelfth graders. Urbana, IL: NCTE.

Feinberg, J.E. (1998). *The Bedford bibliography for teachers of writing*. Palgrave, USA: Bedford/St. Martins.

Fletcher, R. (1993). What a writer needs. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.

- Flood, J., Jensen, J.M., Lapp, D., & Squire, J.R. (1991). Handbook of research on teaching the English language arts. New York: MacMillian Publishing Company.
- Fountas, I. C., & Pinnell, G.S. (2001). *Guiding readers and writers: Grades 3-6 teaching comprehension, genre, and content literacy.* Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Fox, B. J. (1996). *Strategies for word identification*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentis Hall/Simon & Schuster.

Georgia Public Education Report Card. (2002). [Online] Available:

http://reportcard2005.gaosa.org/k12/content.aspx

- Gladstone, C. (1987). *Thinking, reading, and writing across the curriculum*. A paper presented at the annual meeting National Council of Teachers of English.
- Glaser, B.G., & Strauss, A. L. (1967). *The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research*. Chicago: Aldine.
- Gutek, G. (1997). *Philosophical and ideological perspectives on education* (2nd ed.). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Haneda, M., & Wells, G. (2000). Writing in knowledge-building communities. *Research in theTeaching of English*, *34*, 430-457.
- Hayes, J. R. (1996). A new model of cognition and affect in writing. In M. Levy & S. Ransdell (Eds.), *The science of writing*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

- Hayes, J. R., & Flower, L.S. (1980). Identifying the organization of writing processes. InL. Gregg & E.R. Steinberg (Eds.), *Cognitive process in writing* (pp. 3-30).NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Heath, S. B. (1988). *Ways with words: Language, life, and work in communities and classrooms*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Highshue, D., Ryan, D., McKenna, S., Tower, J., & Brumley, B. (1988). Writing in junior and senior high schools. *Phi Delta Kappa, 69* (10), 725 728.
- Idrisano, R., & Squire, J. R. (2000). *Perspectives on writing: Research, theory, and practice*. Newark, DE: International Reading Association.
- Jackson, P. W. (1996). Handbook of research on curriculum. New York: Macmillan.
- Jacobs, V. (2002). Reading, writing, and understanding. *Educational Leadership*, 60 (3), 58-61.
- Kahn, R., & Cannell, C. (1957). The dynamics of interviewing. New York: Basic Books.
- Kinneavy, J. L. (1990). *Writing in the liberal arts tradition* (2nd ed.). New York: Harper and Row.
- Langer, J.A., & Flihan, S. (2000). Writing and reading relationships: Constructive tasks.
 In R. Indrisano & J. Squire (Eds.), *Writing and research/theory/practice* (pp. 112 139). Newark, DE: International Reading Association.
- Langer, J. A. (1995). *Envisioning literature*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Langer, J. A., & Applebee, A. N. (1987). *How writing shapes thinking*. Urbana, IL: NCTE.
- Langer, J. A. (1986). *Children reading and writing structures and strategies*. Norwood, NJ: Ablex.

- Langer, J. A. (1984). Literacy instruction in american schools: Problems and perspectives. *American Journal of Education*, *93* (1), 107-132.
- Langer, J. A. (1982). Reading, thinking, writing....and teaching. *Language Arts*, 59 (4), 336 341.
- Lawrence-Lightfoot, S., & Davis, J. H. (1997). *The art of and science of portraiture*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Lee, A. (2000). *Composing critical pedagogies: Teaching writing as revision*. Urbana, IL: NCTE.
- LeCompte, M. D., & Preissle, J. (1993). *Ethnography and qualitative design in educational research*. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Lewin, K. (1948). *Resolving social conflicts: Selected papers on group dynamics*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Liner, T., Kirby, D. L., & Kirby, D. (1981, 2003). Inside out. Portsmouth: Heinemann.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (1995). *Designing qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- McDonald, D. (2002). SAT gets makeover, 7/03/2002, retrieved 10/10/2002, http://www.redandblack.com/vnews/display
- McKenna, M. C., & Robinson, R. D. (2006). *Teaching through texts: Reading and writing in the content areas* (4th ed.). Boston: Pearson.
- McKernan, J. (1991). Curriculum action research. New York: Martin's Press.
- McKernan, J. (1988). The countenance of curriculum action research: Traditional,

collaborative, and emanicipatory-critical conceptions. *Journal of Curriculum and Supervision*, *3*, 173-200.

Moore, M. T. (2004). Issues and trends in writing instruction. In R. D. Robinson, M. C.
McKenna, & J. M. Wedman (Eds.), *Issues and trends in literacy education* (pp. 201-210). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.

Murray, D. M. (1987). Write to learn. New York: Holt, Rinehart, & Winston.

- Murray, D. M. (1985). A writer teaches writing (2nd ed). Boston: Houghton Mifflin.
- Murray, D. M. (1979). The listening eye: Reflections on writing conference. *College English*, *41*, 13-18.
- Myers, M. (1980). *A procedure for writing assessment and holistic scoring*. Urbana, IL: NCTE.
- Nagin, C. (2003). Because writing matters: Improving students' writing in our schools.Berkeley, CA: National Writing Project.
- National Assessment of Educational Progress. (2001). *The nation's report card: Fourth-grade reading 2000*. USA: Author. [Online] Available:

http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/pubs/main2000/2001499.asp

- National Assessment of Educational Progress. (1999). Writing report card for the nation and states. (NCES 19999462). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- National Commission on Writing in America's Schools and Colleges. (2003). *The neglected r*. <u>http://www.writingcommission.org/NCTE</u>
- National Council of Teachers of English and International Reading Association. (1996). *Standards for the English language arts*. USA: Author.

National Middle School Association. (2000). This we believe .Westville, OH: NMSA.

- Odell, L. (1993). *Theory and practice in the teaching of writing: Rethinking the discipline*. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press.
- Phillion, J. (2001). Landscapes of diversity: The autobiographical origins of narrative inquiry. *Journal of Critical Inquiry into Curriculum and Instruction*, *3* (2), 6-13.
- Phillion, J., & He, M. F. (2001). Narrative inquiry in educational research. *Journal of Critical Inquiry into Curriculum and Instruction*, *3* (2), 14-20.
- Probst, R. E. (1990). Five kinds of literary knowing. (Report series 5.5). (ERICDocument Reproduction Service No. ED 333446) Literature Center,University of Albany.
- Process Writing Classroom. (2002). University of Wisconsin, Stevens Point [on-line download] <u>http://cps.uwsp.edu/Courses/EDUC310/background/classroom.asp</u>
- Ray, K. W. (1999). Wondrous words. Urbana, IL: NCTE.
- Resnick, D. P., & Resnick, L. B. (1977). The nature of literacy: An historical exploration. *Harvard Educational Review*, 47, 370 – 385.
- Robb, L. (2000). *Teaching reading in the middle school: A strategic approach to teaching reading that improves comprehension*. New York: Scholastic.
- Robb, L. (1998). Helping reluctant readers discover books. *Booklinks*, 7, 51-53.
- Robinson, R.D., McKenna, M.C., & Wedman, J. M. (2004). *Issues and trends in literacy education*. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Rose, M. (1989). *Our schools and our children: Lives on the boundary*. Harmondsworth, England: Penguin Books.

Rosenblatt, L. M. (1983). *Literature as exploration*. New York: The Modern Language

Association of America.

- Rosenblatt, L. M. (1978). *The reader, the text, the poem The transactional theory of the literary work*. IL: Southern Illinois University Press.
- Routman, R. (1988). *Transitions from literature to literacy*. Portsmouth, NH: Hienemann.
- Schön, D. A. (1983). The reflective practitioner: How professionals think in action. United States of America: Basic Books.
- Scragg, D. G. (1974). A history of English spelling. Manchester, UK: Manchester University Press.
- Short, E. (1991). *Forms of curriculum inquiry*. New York: State University of New York Press.
- Sizoo, B. (2001). Teaching powerful writing. New York: Scholastic.
- Skeans, S. S. (2000). Reading with pen in hand! English Journal, 89, 69-72.
- Smith, C. (2000). Writing instruction: Current practices in the classroom. (ERIC Clearinghouse on Reading English and Communication, Bloomington, IN: ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 446338).
- Smith, D. G. (1991). Hermeneutic inquiry: The hermeneutic imagination and the pedagogic text. In E. Short (Ed.), *Forms of curriculum inquiry* (pp. 187 – 209). New York: State University of New York Press.
- Smith, D.G. (1988). Brighter than a thousand suns: Facing pedagogy in the nuclear shadow. In T.R. Carson (Ed.), *Toward a renaissance of humanity* (pp. 275 285). Edmunton: University of Alberta Press.
- Smith, F. (1983). Reading like a writer. Language Arts, 60 (5), 558-567.
- Stiggins, R., Frisbie, D., & Griswold, P. (1989). Inside high school grading practices:

(2), 5 - 14.

- Strike, K. A. (1979). An epistemology of practical research. *Educational Researcher*, 8 (1), 10 – 16.
- Van Manen, M. (1990). *Researching the lived experience*. London, Ontario, Canada: The State University of New York by The University of Western Ontario.

Vygotsky, L. (1999). Thought and language. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

Vygotsky, L. (1989). Mind in society. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

- Waterbrook, C. (1990). Reflections. Savannah, GA: Self published.
- Waterbook, C. (1999). Qs. Savannah, GA: Self published.
- Willis, G. (1991). Phenomenological inquiry: Life-world perceptions. In E. Short (Ed.), *Forms of curriculum inquiry* (pp. 173-186). Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Wolcott, H. F. (1994). *Transforming qualitative data: Description, analysis, and interpretation*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

APPENDICES

Appendix A TEACHER PARTICIPANT LESSON PLANS

		anducts	SEARCH MODIFICATIONS 1. Acceleration of pacing 2. Provide opportunities for solf-directed practice involving research 3. Provide a greater degree of complexity		Special Education Modifications 1. Material will be given written as well as verbally. 2. Work with partner 3. Assignments are written on the board or given to the student on a typed sheet.
HOMEWORK- none EVALUATION-SAM	l l assessing of	HOMEWORK-11-20 of Posttest1 EVALUATION-Observation and assessing of EVALUATION-SAME various tasks and assignments	HOMEWORK-Review page 567 EVALUATION-SAME	<i>EVALUATION-Observation and</i> <i>EVALUATION-Observation and</i> assessing of various tasks and assignments	HOME WORK-Exercise 5, page 536 EVALUATION-Observation
Review Homework Students will complete/check posttest 2 Writing Workshop Students will proof read, revise and write final copy of their "name story". Students will share their stories.	impound- et.	PROCEDURE Review Homework Language Lab: Students will completicheck postast Student will identify complex, compound- complex sentences from worksheet. Writing Workshop Students will completicheck 1-10 of Posttast Writing Morkshop Students will completicheck 1-10 of Posttast Writing final copy of their "name story" Students will stare their stories. Students will stare their stories.	mplex rcise 5. research nts will	PROCEDURE PROCEDURE Review Homework. Modeling: Language Lab: Teacher will model building a Students will add independent clauses to clauses to make complete sentences. Teacher will model building a students will complete sentences. Students will state their acrostic Students will complet/check exercise 4 Students will share their acrostic Students wil	Language Lab: Language Lab: 3 sentences will be written on the board. Students will identify the independent or subordinate clauses. Guided Practice: Students will discuss Independent clauses and subordinate clauses. Students will complete/check exercises 1 and 2
PAGE 570-571		PAGE 569-570	PAGE 564-566	PAGE 561-563	PAGE 533-537
ObJECTIVES B.3 Analyzes the parts of a sentence. B.4 Analyzes the parts of a sentence. B.6 Applies standards of English. B.7 Writes simple, compound, complex, compound-complex sentences. B.14 Pollows or al directions and asks questions for clarification. B.44 Follows on al direction. B.48 Uses interviewing to gather information. B.48 Uses the writing process B.64 Uses the writing process B.65 Write paragraphs that include unifying iteas and supporting details	itence. Ish. complex, d asks r	OBJECTIVES 8.3 Analyzes the parts of a sentence. 8.6 Uses types of pronouns. 8.10 Applies standards of English. 8.7 Writes simpler, compound, comple compound-complex sentences. 8.14 Follows oral directions and asks questions for clarification. 8.48 Uses interviewing to gather information.	OBJECTIVES ODBLECTIVES 8.1 Analyzes the parts of a sentence. 8.1 Analyzes the parts of a sentence. 8.6 Uses types of pronouns. 8.0 Uses types of pronouns. 8.10 Applies standards of English. 8.10 Applies standards of English. 8.7 Writes simple, compound, complex, 7 Writes simple, compound, complex, 8.14 Follows oral directions and asks. 8.14 Follows oral directions and asks. 8.48 Uses interviewing to gather 8.44 Suses interviewing to gather nformation. 8.44 Uses interviewing to gather	CTT naly ppl ppl rite ex, ollo ons ses ses ses	Les t pplinaly pplines rites ons ses i ses i
TEXT OR MATERIAL Elements of Writing		TEXT OR MATERIAL Handouts	TEXT OR MATERIAL Elements of Writing	Elements of Writing	Elements of Writing
FRIDAY		THURSDAY		TUESDAY	MONDAY
DATE: 09/23/02-09/27/02	8-9	GRADE SECTION#	LANGUAGE ARTS	Hutchinson, T.	TEACHER'S NAME

PS NAME	MONDAY	ATERIAL zine noems	ues to determine vn words, g speed according to s for comprehension	•	1	PAGE	EDUT EDUTA anas will begin reading stations. At f4 stations, students will read a short of complete an activity. and complete an activity.	RK – Study and complete exploration sheets for this bulary words. ION-Graded language lab work. gnments	 Special Education Modifications Material will be given written as well as verbally. Work with partner Assignments are written on the board or given to the student on a typed sheet. Extra time will be given to complete tasks if needed 	
Hutchinson, T.	TUESDAY	<i>TEXT OR MATERIAL</i> 'Read' magazine English Book	OBJECTIVES 8.35 Uses context clues to determine meanings of unknown words. 8.38 Adjusts reading speed according to nurnose and rereads for	to purpose and rereads for comprehension. 8.39 Interprets written instructions. 8.42 Analyzes relevance of data. 8.44 Applies reading strategies	5	PAGE	PROCEDURE PROCEDURE *Check homework *Language Lab - Affires Students will continue with reading stations.	HOMEWORKworksheet EVALUATION Graded language lab work.		
Reading/Language Arts	WEDNESDAY	<i>TEXT OR MATERIAL</i> 'Read' magazine English Book	OBJECTIVES 8.35 Uses context clues to determine meanings of unknown words. 8.38 Adjusts reading speed according to purpose and rereads for	to purpose and rereads for comprehension. 8.39 Interprets written instructions. 8.42 Analyzes relevance of data. 8.44 Applies reading strategies		PAGE	PROCEDURE *Check homework *Language Lab- Affress Students Will continue with reading stations.	HOMEWORK-study vocabulary words EVALUATION- Graded language lab	SEARCH MODIFICATIONS 1. Acceleration of pacing 2. Provide opportunities for self-directed practice involving research 3. Provide a greater degree of complexity 4. Encourage the development of challenging, creative products.	
THIIRSDAY	THURSDAY	<i>TEXT OR MATERIAL</i> 'Read' magazine English Book	OBJECTIVES 3.35 Uses context clues to determine meanings of unknown words. 8.38 Adjusts reading speed according to purpose and rereads for comprehension.	 Burpose and rereats for comprehension Barporets written instructions. A Analyzes relevance of data. A4 Applies reading strategies 	DACE	PAGE	PROCEDURE Vocabulary Test Students will present their chopeographed Students will present their chopeographed Hanguage Lab - Affixes Students Will continue with reading stations	HOMEWORK— none EF/ALU/ATION Graded language lab work Graded assignments		
FRIDAY	FRIDAY	TEXT OR MATERIAL	OBJECTIVES 8.35 Uses context clues to determine meanings of unknown words. 8.38 Adjusts reading speed according b. to purpose and rereads for		PAGE	FAUE		K. HOMEWORK-none EVAL UATION Graded language lab work. Graded assignments	RECEIVED MAR 18 2003	

. .

t

.

 Special Education Modifications 1. Material will be given written as well as verbally. 2. Work with partner 3. Assignments are written on the board or given to the student on a typed sheet. 4.Extra time will be given to complete tasks if needed 	EVALUATION- Graded assignments	y, answering ite about a problem. cles	PAGE	isse context clues to determine ngs of unknown words. djusts reading speed according to se and rereads for comprehension. aterprets written instructions. malyzes relevance of data. pplies reading strategies	Handout of story, "Walking the Road to Freedom by Jeri Ferris OBJECTIVES	MONDAY TEXT OF MATERIAL	TEACHER'S NAME
fe	HOMEWORK- Vocabulary EVALUATION –Graded assignments	PROCEDURE *Students will read the story, answering upersion as they read. *Students will write a story about a *Students will write a story about a *Students will compare an special event that made them realize that how articles from the story they were no longer a child.	PAGE	 8.35 Uses context clues to determine meanings of unknown words. 8.38 Adjusts reading speed according to purpose and rereads for comprehension. 8.39 Interprets written instructions. 8.39 Interprets written instructions. 8.42 Analyzes relevance of data. 8.44 Applies reading strategies 	IEAT OK MATERIAL Handout of story, "Morning Girl" by Michael Dorris ORIECTIVES	TUESDAY	Hutchinson, T.
ONS for self-directed er of challenging ment of challenging	HOMEWORK- Vocabulary EVALUATION- Graded assignments	PROCEDURE *Students will read the story, answering question as they read and contrast the *Students will compare and contrast the two articles from the story.	PAGE	 Construction Stess context dues to determine meanings of unknown words. Bas Adjusts reading speed according to purpose and rereads for comprehension. Bas Interprets written instructions. Bas Interprets written instructions. Bas Adalyzes relevance of data. Bas Adalyzes relevance of data. Bas Adalyzes relevance of data. 	Handout of story, Where She Leads, 1 Will Follow	WEDNESDAY	Reading/Language Arts
creative products. RECEIVED APR 14 200-	HOMEWORK none EVALUATION-Craded assignments	PROCEDURE *Studens will read the story, answering question as they read. *Students will write an essay explaining and defending a Native American name that they would choose for themselves	PAGE	0454CTIVES 8.35 Uses context clues to determine 8.36 Adjusts reading speed according to purpose and rereatio for comprehension. 8.39 Interprets written instructions. 8.42 Analyzes relevance of data. 8.44 Applies reading strategies	TEXT OR MATERIAL TEXT OR MATERIAL Handout of story, Where She Leads, I Handout of story, "The Story of Sitting will Follow Bull, Great Sioux Chief, by Lisa Eisenberg	THURSDAY	GRADE SECTION# 8-9
	HOMEWORKnone EVALUATION -Grade		PAGE	Objectives 8.35 Uses ontext clues to d meanings of unknown worn 8.38 Adjusts reading speed to purpose and rereads for comprehension. and therprets written inst 8.42 Analyzes relevance of is 8.44 Applies reading strateg	TEXT OR M	FRIDAY	DATE: 0
	HOMEWORK-none EVALUATION -Graded assignments	PROCEDURE SPRING BREAK BEGINS		ObJECTIVES 8.35 Viss context clues to determine meanings of unknown words. 8.38 Adjusts reading speed according to purpose and rereads for comprehension. 8.39 Interprets written instructions. 8.42 Analyzes relevance of data. 8.42 Applies reading strategies	ATERIAL		04/14/03-04/17/03

Administrator's Signature

191

ſ

.

Analogies, Homophones, Homynyms worksheet Study for vocabulary test	Homework/Evaluation:	the tape discussing the book along the way4) Students will complete a quiz on chapters 1-5	 Journal Entry: What do you think it will take to solve the drug problem in America? Daily Language Review Students will read along with 	ocedure:	Page:3-30	Identifies story development Identifies characters actions, motives, emotions, traits, feelings Responds appropriately to questions	Objective: 29,30,53	Tuck Everlasting Worksheet	Text or Material:	Monday
Study for Vocabulary Test	Homework/Evaluation:	 from the board about subjects and predicates. As a class we will do examples 4) Working in pairs students will complete subject/predicate excercises and grade 5) Students will complete weabulary test 	 Journal Entry: Have drugs ever affected you personally? Explain Daily Language Review Students will copy notes 	Procedure:	Page:	Identify simple and compound subjects and predicates	Objective: 70	Notes on the board Worksheet	Text or Material:	Tuesday
Figurative Language worksheet	Homework/Evaluation:	 4)While reading chapter 6-10, we will find and examine examples of faurative language 6) Students will work in groups to create their own examples of similes, metaphors, and personification. Students will illustrate the example using construction paper, ect. 7) Vocabulary Test 	 1)Journal Entry: What affect do drugs have on your community? Explain. 2) Daily Language Review 3) Students will copy figurative 	Procedure:	Page: 31-63	Understands figurative language Similes, metaphors, personification	Objective: 14	Tuck Everlasting Vocabulary Test Notes on the board	Text or Material:	Wednesday
Subject/Predicate worksheet	Homework/Evaluation:	RECEIVED	1)Working in pairs students will complete subject/predicate excersices 2) As a class we will grade and discuss the excersices	Procedure:	Page:	Identify simple and compound subjects and predicates	Objective: 70	Notes from Tuesday Practice excersices	Text or Material:	Thursday
	Homework/Evaluation:	Ğ	 Students will finish figurative language project from Wednesday. Students will complete a quiz on chapters 6-11 	Procedure:	Page:	Identifies story, character, and plot development Identifies new meanings of words Understands figurative languag	Objective:29,30,53	Vocabulary packet Tuck Everlasting	Text or Material:	Friday

_

							4
HOMEWORK / EVALUATION Complete Elements of literature	* Novels / Short Stares (Pp. 1-3)	+ Forms and Climent of Lituature * Fiction/ Nonfiction * Fices of fiction	PROCEDURE *Cluze practice 1/2	7:71 US	OBJECTIVE OBJECTIVE OBJECTIVE OBJECTIVE OBJECTIVE OBJECTIVE	- Clonent of Literature - Clone Practice	TEACHER'S NAME WULL
HOMEWORK/EVILLATION Bring in # 2 Pencel with Prasen and culturing crayon or pencels	of Shel Silvenstiens poetry	* Pretry entones	nachu	7:71 USES descripting words and phrase	Heprets Ellin	NERT OR MATERIAL - POE	14 TUESDAY 15
HOMEWORK/EVALUATION	M.O.N. Quatrains	*poetry project Spinner B-16	* Cloze practice 5/6	PAGE 16	OBJECTIVE	PORTY PROJECTS	ESSONPLANS WEDNESDAY 16
HOMEWORK/EVALUATION	In Class. M. DW. Spring Eas	* student will present their Spinner orally	* Cloze Practue 7/8	d phrase	OBJECTIVE	TEXT OR MATERIAL	CRADE/SECTION # / M DA
HOMEWORK/EVALUAT	Ster/ Dreak!	RECEIVE) APR 15 2003	PROCEDURE	PAGE	OBJECTIVE	TEXT OR MATERIAL	7 DATE: 7/14-1 1/0-

Kead each night for 15 min.	Homework/Evaluation: Spelling words defined and syllabication.	Silent Sustained Reading 1.Agenda HW written 2. Journal Topic changes each day. 3. Mountain Language 1- 8 (left-side) 4. HW Check 5. Oral reading	Procedure:	Page:	Сојеснус	hiertive:	Elements of Literature(HRW) English(HM)	Text or Material:	Monday	Teacher's Name:
min. Read each night for 15 min	Write each word in aandsentence or a story with atwords underlined. 5sentences min.	g Silent Castained Reading 1. Agenda HW written 2. Journal Topic changes each day. 1-8 3. Mountain Language 9 – 16 (left-side) 4. HW Check 5. Oral reading	Procedure:	Page:	Upjective:	Objection -	Elements of Literature(HRW) English(HM)	Text or Material:	Tuesday	William L. Moore
Read each night for 15 min	Write words in two times each and ABC order.	 Each day: Silent Sustained Reading 1. Agenda HW written2. Journal Topic changes each day. 3. Mountain Language 17 - 20 (left-side) 4. Mountain Language 1 - 4 (right-side) Check ML 5. HW Check 6. Oral reading 	Procedure:	Page:	Ubjective:	01:	Elements of Literature(HRW) English(HM)	Text or Material:	Wednesday	LESSON PLANS
Read each night for 15 min	Write words three times each. Spelling test Friday	 Each day: Silent Sustained reading 1. Agenda HW written 2. Journal Topic changes each day 3. Mountain Language 5 – 12 (right-side) 4. HW Check 5. Assign spelling words for the next week. 6. Oral reading 	Procedure:	Page:	Objective:		Elements of Literature(HRW) English(HNI)	Text or Material:	Thursday	Grade/Section #: 7-1,2,3
	Read for sixty minutes. Begin spelling HW	Each day: Silent Sustained Reading 1.Agenda HW written 2. Journal Topic changes each day. 3. Mountain Language 13 - 20 (right-side) 4. Mountain Language check 5. HW Check 6. Oral reading 7. Spelling test	Procedure:	Page:	Objective:	лидизи(тихт)	Elements of Literature(HRW) English(HN)	Text or Material:	Friday	Date: 10/21-25/02

Literature(HRW)(READ)Literature(HRW)(READ)Literature(HRW)(READ)English(HM)(ACTION)English(HM)(READ)English(HM)(ACTION)Objective: 1-12, 13, 14-16,Objective: 17, 21-25Objective: 31-45, 56, 63Grammar and UsageListening, LiteratureReading, Speaking, WritingPage: No one text a varietyPage No one text a varietyReading, Speaking, WritingPage: No one text a varietyof sourcesPage; No one text a varietyof sourcesProcedure:Procedure:Each day:Silent Sustained ReadingSilent Sustained Reading1.Agenda HW written1.Agenda HW written1.Agenda HW written2. Journal Topic changeseach day.Silent Sustained Reading3. Mountain Language 1 -10 (left-side)1.Agenda HW written10 (left-side)4. HW Check5. Oral reading5. Oral reading5. Oral reading5. Continue unit with7. Introduce different types5. Oral reading5. Continue poetry unit6. Begin poetry to the students.8eview class work. ShareReview class work. ShareHVMReview class work. Sharewith parents. Spelling HWwith parents. SP Hw	All English mechanics objectives relating to English are met through skills maintenance program Mountain Language TM Teacher's Name: William L. Moore Teacher's Name: Teacher Tuesday Monday Text or Material: Text o Elements of Elements of Eleme
Literature ne text a variety ne text a variety ne text a variety ne change HW written Topic changes in Language 1 – deck eck eck dding with we unit with we unit with working on poems nts. Spelling HW	Elements of Literature(F English(HN Objective: 1
ne text a variety ained Reading HW written Topic changes in Language 1 – le) eck eck uding ue unit with ue unit with vorking on poems ass work. Share nts. Spelling HW	W Li
ained Reading HW written Topic changes in Language 1 – le) eck dding ue unit with ue unit with vorking on poems ass work. Share nts. Spelling HW	
Silent Sustained Reading 1.Agenda HW written 2. Journal Topic changes each day. 3. Mountain Language 1 – 10 (left-side) 4. HW Check 5. Oral reading 6. Continue unit with students working on poems Review class work. Share with parents. Spelling HW	
 Journal Topic changes each day. Mountain Language 1 – 10 (left-side) HW Check Oral reading Continue unit with students working on poems Review class work. Share with parents. Spelling HW 	1
3. Mountain Language 1 – 10 (left-side) 4. HW Check 5. Oral reading 6. Continue unit with students working on poems Review class work. Share with parents. Spelling HW	
4. HW Check 5. Oral reading 6. Continue unit with students working on poems Review class work. Share with parents. Spelling HW	-
5. Oral reading 6. Continue unit with students working on poems Review class work. Share with parents. Spelling HW	
Review class work. Share with parents. Spelling HW	
Review class work. Share with parents. Spelling HW	nt types dents.
	nation:

HomeworldEvaluation H	TEACHER'S NAME I FOR CLASSE NONDAY TUESDAY Tool or Material Element of Kniths Text or Material Element of Source. Objective 6:2) 6:56:9 Spirt of Speech Cib Shrgetonins Spirt of Speech Cib Shrgetonins Spirt of Speech Cib Shrgetonins Sconfluine Page Proceedine
Homework/Evaluation	P
NECEIVED SFP 3 0 2012 HomeworkEvaluation Homework	LESSON PLANS WEDNESDAY Taxtor Malerial Autor Malerial Ruth Biographical Objective Jest Cobjective Jest Cobjective Jest Cobjective Jest Cobjective Jest Cobjective Jest Cobjective Jest Constitution of Proceedure Proceedure Proceedure Proceedure Proceedure Proceedure Proceedure Constitution of Constitution
ionVEvaluation 358-359	ESECTION # <u>FILO</u> THURSDAY or Material anuts of Unitive and Song our Section of the Song our Section of the Company there is a company there is a company there is a company there is a company
Homework/Evaluation P. 363 Ex. E 1-10 gradual	FOLHBBOOOD ME M

APPENDIX A

TEACHER PARTICIPANT LESSON PLANS

TEACHER'S NAME	Hutchinson, T.	LANGUAGE ARTS GRADE SECTION#	GRADE SECTION# 8-9	DATE: 10/07/02-10/11/02	0/11/02
MONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY	
TEXT OR MATERIAL Who am 12, by Aylette Jenness	TEXT OR MATERIAL Handouts	TEXT OR MATERIAL Elements of Writing	TEXT OR MATERIAL Bandouts	TEXT OR MATERIAL Elements of Writing	
OBJECTIVES 8.10 Applies standards of English. 8.14 Follows oral directions and asks questions for clarification. 8.64 Uses the writing process. 8.33 Expands reading vocabulary 8.33 Expands reading vocabulary 8.33 Expands reading vocabulary 8.33 Expands reating vocabulary 8.33 Expands reating vocabulary 8.34 Expands reating vocabulary 8.35 Expands rea	OBJECTIVES 3.10 Applies standards of English. 3.14 Follows oral directions and asks questions for clarification. 5.64 Uses the writing process. 5.20 Responds creatively to literature <i>PAGE</i> <i>PAGE</i> Voctobulary least. Voctobulary least. V	OBJECTIVES 8.10 Applies standards of English. 8.14 Follows oral directions and asks questions for charffication. 8.64 Uses the writing process. 8.64 Uses the writing process. 8.65 Uses the writing process. 8.23 Responds creatively to literature <i>PAOCE DURE</i> <i>PAOCEDURE</i> <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 <i>PAOCEDURE</i> 150-158 150-158 150-15	OBJECTIVES 8.2 Recognises the function of the eight parts of speech 8.9 Recognises and uses verbal phrases PROCEDURE Language Lab: 3 sentences will be written on the board. 3 sentences will be asked to fill in each sentence with an appropriate word. Students will discuss Prepositions Students will complete/check exercise 12. Students will complete/check exercise 13.	OBJECTIVES PAGE Day HOLIDAY	ਤ
HOMEWORK-study for vocabulary test EVALUATION-Observation	HOMEWORK -none EVALUATION-Observation and assessing of various tasks and assignments	HOMEWORK-none EVALUATION-SAME	HOMEWORK.copy commonly used prepations from page 474 EVALUATION-Observation and assessing of various lasks and assignments	HOMEWORK- none EVALUATION-SAME g of	
Snectal Education Modifications	SFARCHMOD	SEARCH MODIFICATIONS			

	_
	verl
	3
	well
	æ
Ications	written
Modil	5
8	ŝ
cati	Material will be giv
Ē	ie j
- In the second	÷.
5	2

Special Education account written as well as vernamy. 1. Material will be given written as well as vernamy. 2. Work with partner 3. Assignments are written on the board or given to the student on a typed sheet. 4. Extra time will be given to complete tasks if needed

SEARCH MODIFICATIONS 1. Acceleration of pacing 2. Provide opportunities for self-directed practice involving research 3. Provide a greater degree of complexity 4. Encourage the development of challenging, creative products.



Administrator's Signature

TEACHER'S NAME	Hutchinson, T.	Reading/Language Arts	GRADE SECTION# 8-9	DATE: 0318403 0321403- Cont 4 S- 23-03 Hour 9-38 03
AVGNOW	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY
TEXT OR MATERIAL 'Read' magazine Handouts of poems	TEXT OR MATERIAL 'Read' magazine English Book	<i>TEXT OR MATERIAL</i> 'Read' magazine English Book	<i>TEXT OR MATERIAL</i> 'Read' magazine English Book	TEXT OR MATERIAL
OBJECTIVES 8.35 Uses context clues to determine meanings of unknown words. 8.38 Adjusts reading speed according to purpose and rereads for comprehension. 8.39 Interprets written instructions. 8.44 Applies reading strategies	OBJECTIVES 8.35 Uses context clues to determine meanings of unknown words. 8.38 Adjusts reading speed according to purpose and rereads for comprehension. 8.39 Interprets written instructions. 8.43 Analyzes relevance of data. 8.44 Applies reading strategies	OBJECTIVES 8.35 Uses context clues to determine manings of unknown words. 8.38 Adjusts reading speed according to purpose and rereads for omprehension. 8.49 Interprets written instructions. 8.43 Analyzes relevance of data. 8.44 Applies reading strategies	OBJECTIVES 8.35 Uses context clues to determine meanings of unknown words. 8.38 Adjusts reading speed according to 8.39 Interprets written instructions. 8.49 Interprets written instructions. 8.44 Applies reading strategies	OBJECTIVES 8.35 Uses context clues to determine meanings of unknown words. 8.38 Adjusts reading speed according to purpose and retrads for omprehension. 8.39 Interprets written instructions. 8.44 Applies reading strategies 8.44 Applies reading strategies
PAGE	PAGE	PAGE	PAGE	PAGE
PROCEDURE Holiday	PROCEDURE *Vocabulary *Vocabulary *Vocabulary and discuss reading practice test workshees. *Rudents will continue with reading stations from last week.	PROCEDURE *Check homework *Reading Lab – Students will complete and discuss reading practice test worksheets. *Students will continue with reading stations from last week.	PROCEDURE Vocabulary Test • Reading Lab – Students will complete and fictures reading practice test worksheets. • Students will continue with reading stations from last week.	*Reading Lab - Students will complete and discuss reading practice test worksheets. *Students will continue with reading stations from last week.
HOMEWORK EVALUATION-Graded language lab work woozbudary exploration shoets for this weeks woozbudary words. WorkScheet EVALUATION Graded language lab work.	HOMEWORKStudy and complete pocabulary exploration sheets for this weeks vocabulary words. WO/K5/heef EVALUATION Graded language lab work.	HOMEWORK-study vocabulary words EVALUATION-Graded language lab work. Graded assignments	<i>HOMEWORK— коне</i> <i>EVALUATION</i> Graded language lab work. Graded assignments	HOMEINORKnone EVALUATION Graded language lab week. Graded assignments

Special Education Modifications 1. Material will be given written as well as verbally. 2. Work with partner 3. Assignments are written on the board or given to the student on a typed sheet. 4. Extra time will be given to complete tasks if needed

SEARCH MODIFICATIONS 1. Acceleration of pacing 2. Provide opportunities for self-directed practice involving research 3. Provide a greater degree of complexity 4. Encourage the development of challenging, creative products MAR 24 2003

Administrator's Signature

TEACHER'S NAME	Hutchinson, T.	Reading/Language	GRADE SECTION# 8-9	DATE: 04/14/03-04/17/03
		Arts		
MONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY
TEXT OR MATERIAL Handout of story, "Walking the Road to Freedom by Jeri Ferris	TEXT OR MATERIAL Handout of story, "Morning Girl" by Michael Dorris	TEXT OR MATERIAL Handout of story, Where She Leads, I will Follow	TEXT OR MATERIAL Handout of story, Where She Leads, 1 Handout of story, "The Story of Sitting will Follow	TEXT OR MATERIAL
OBJECTIVES 2015: Storest criters to determine maailage of anticom words. 8.38 Adjusts reading preed according to 8.39 laterprets written instructions. 8.42 Amplies reterance of data. 8.44 Applies reading strutegies		ES sutext clues to determine intext clues to determine reading speed according and rereads for archerance of data. relevance of data. reading strategies	OBJECTIVES DBJECTIVES meanings of unknown words. Be35 Adjusts reading speed according to purpose and rereads for comprehension. 8.29 Interprets written instructions. 8.44 Applies reading strategies 8.44 Applies reading strategies	OBJECTTVES SD Uses contract clues to determine meanings of unknown words. 8.38 Adjusts reading speed according burpose and rereads for comprehension. 8.39 Interprets written instructions. 8.43 Amilyzes relevance of data. 8.44 Applies reading strategies
PAGE PROCEDURE *Students will read the story, answering extension as they read. *Students will while an article about a person who tried to solve a problem. Students will share their articles	PAGE PROCEDURE PROCEDURE *Students will read the slory, answering *Students will write a flory about a special event that made them realize that they were no longer a child.	, answoring contrast the	PAGE PAGE PAGE PAGE PAGE PAGE PAGE PAGE	PROCEDURE PROCEDURE SPRING BREAK BEGINS
HOME FORA-Postmulary EVALUATION- Graded assignments	MOMENVORK- Vocabulary EVALUATION -Graded assignments	HOMENORK- Vocabulary EVALUATION- Graded assignments	HOME PLOKA — Rone EVALUATION-Graded assignments	HOMEWORKnone EVALUATION -Graded assignments
Special Education Modifications 1. Material will be given written as well as verbally. 2. Work with partner 3. Assignments are written on the board or given to i 3. Assignments are written on the board or given to is student on a typed sheet. 4. Extra time will be given to complete tasks if needed	2	DNS for self-directed arch ment of challenging, crea ment of challenging, crea	RECEIVED APP 14 2003	



Administrator's Signature

ction #: 6-4 10/14-10/18	Thursday Friday	Text or Mate	Symphony Field Trip Vocabulary Test Grade and review vocabulary Novel reading and exercises	Objective: 11,16 Objective: 11,16,29,30,53	Increases vocabulary Uses knowledge of synonyms Uses knowledge of synonyms Uses word order and sentence Uses knowledge of synonyms Uses knowledge of synonyms Uses knowledge of synonyms Identifies toracters actions, identifies parts of a sentence Responds appropriately to ouestions	Page:		1	review vocabulary 2) Students will continue	homework in preparation for reading and discussing Tuck vocabulary test Everlasting	students will grade and review sentence homework			
LESSON PLANS Grade/Section #:	Wednesday				lings	Page:	Procedure:		Î	ss both aloud	sentence		 	
TES	Wedn	Text or Material:	Tuck Everlasting Novel set	Objective:29, 30,53	Identifies story development Identifies characters actions, emotions, motives, traits, fee Responds appropriately to questions	Page:	Procedure:	1) Students wi	 Students will 	the novel in clar and with a tape				
racv Anderson	Tuesday	Text or Material:	Grammar Book Worksheet Newspaper	Objective: 22,68,70	Uses word order and sentence structure to read Identifies types of sentences Identifies parts of a sentence	Page:	Procedure:		 Students will complete pretest 	 Students will complete exercises identifying 	 Sentences and fragments Students will complete exocrcises identifying the four types of sentences 	 4)Students will cut words from newspapers and then make them into complete sentences, one for each type 		
Teacher's Name: Tra	Monday	Text or Material:	Vocabulary words Reading worksheet	Objective: 11, 16, 37,14, 27, 28	Increases vocabulary Uses synonyms Recognizes main idea, detail, sequence, cause-effect	Page:	Procedure:		 budents will make Ilashcards with new vocabulary words. 	Students will finish the reading comprehension	practice begun last week			Homework/Evaluation:

Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:
Quiz	Grammar book	Novel-Holes	Grammar book	Test
lest Notes on board	vvorksneet		worksneet	Novel
Objective:11,16,37,3	Objective: 69 7211 16	Objective: 29,30,53	Objective: same as	Objective: same as Wednesday
Understands direct	Understands direct	Reads for	Understands	Same as Wednesda
objects	objects	comprehension	predicate nomative	
Learns new	•		and predicate	Rece
vocabulary			adjective and linking	CEIVEL
Knows spelling rules			verbs	IAN 93
Page:	Page: 439-443	Page:	Page: 446-450	Page: 2003
Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:
1) Quiz on	1)Vocabulary Quiz	1) Students will begin 1) Review of direct	1) Review of direct	1) Take vocabulary
vocabulary	2) Diagram	reading and	and indirect	test
Spelling Test	sentences with direct	discussing the	objects	Continue reading
_	and indirect objects	novell Holes aloud	2) Notes and	and discussing
discussion of	together on board		discussion of	Holes
direct objects	4) Guided practice	2) *Quiz over what	predicate	Cuiz over what i
	identifying d.o.		nomative and	read
	and i.o.	Begin diary of	predicate adjective	Journal entry to b
	5) ex 1&2 in book	character – a	3) Guided/Independe	completed in clas
	6) *check hw	model for	nt practice ex 3	
		homework	and 4 in book	

1/14	Friday	Text or Material:	RECORDS DAV	Objective:		Page:	NO CLASS TODAV RECEIVED MAR 1 0 2003	ate
n #:6 Date: 3/10-3/14	Thursday	Text or Material:	Test	Objective: 72	Same as Tuesday and Wednesday	Page:	1) Journal Entry 2) Verb Test 3) Library	* to indic
LESSON PLANS Grade/Section #:6	Wednesday	Text or Material:	Review material	Objective: 72	Understands verb parts and forms	Page:	 Journal Entry Students will Students will draw comic draw comic Weight to show the between the confusing verbs Review of verb parts HW: Study for test Vocabulary review 	aled? hee
	Tuesday	Text or Material:	Grammar Book	Objective: 72	Understands confusing verbs	Page: 492-496	 Journal Entry Students will review and discuss the verbs: lie and lay, sit and set, rise and raise Students will complete ex 6, 7, and 8 in grammar book HW: Review D and E 	What was graded?
. ther's Name: Anderson	Monday	Text or Material:	Vocabulary words Dictionary Paper, colored pencils	Objective 11,16	Understands vocabulary Uses context clues	Page:	 Journal Entry Distribute and discuss new vocabulary words Students will make a vocabulary book illustrating each word and using it correctly in a sentence 	for

NTE: 10/35/02	FRIDAY	LEXT OR NATERIAL	OBJECTIVE) 6.4.Norves, 6.2 Profest	PAGE	PROCEDURE Rurew Test Entred Schrees Non-s Non-s DefinNon-s in clo-s in clo-s	HOMEWORK/EVALUATION
GRADE/SECTION # 670 DATE: 10/35/02	THUKSDAY	Eleven of Winking	08.1ECTIVE 6.1, 6.2, 6.5.6, 7 6.9	PAGE	PROCEDURE Administer Test t(wit) On Kinks of Scateceus	HOMEWORK/EVALUATION Greated.
LESSON PLANS	WEDNESDAY	TEXT OR MATERIAL	OBJECTIVE (6.1) (6.2365) (6.7) (6.9	PAGE 364-366	PROCEDURE Kinds of Sgrifences Complete Elch Exerse A-D.	HOMEMORK/EVALUATION Greated T. J.
ALEC L	TUESDAY	TEXT OR MATERIAL Dr. G. Longheage		PAGE No de Shop.		HOMEWORK/EVILIATION Pongradual
TEACHER'S NAME They	INUNU	Da'S LOS MATERIAL	08JECTIVE 6.47 Novus 6.77 Necton CS 6.12 Purctuation	PAGE WOYKS MAN	5 3)	HOMEWORK/EVALUATION

W Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Text or Material: Text or Material: Text or Material: Text or Material: Writing Elements of Writing Elements of Writing Elements of Writing Grammar IF Grammar IF Grammar IF Elements of Writing Objective: Objective: Objective: Objective: Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Prepositions 6.2, 6.9 6.2, 6.9 6.2, 6.9 0 Precedure: Procedure: Procedure: Procedure: Procedure: est on Introduce Prepositions Review Prepositions Sheet 55 Sheet 55 Complete and discuss Sheet. Howework Howework Procedure: Study and Complete sheet To To To To for Review. Graded Tworedomic To	-Teacher's Name: T Fe	T Ferrehee - L.A	LESSON PLANS	Grade/Section #: 6-10	Date: 03/03-03/07
terial: Text or Material: Text or Material: is of Writing Elements of Writing Elements of Writing Grammar IF Grammar IF Grammar IF 0bjective: Objective: Objective: 0bjective: Objective: Objective: eech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 405 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Propositions 6.2, 6.9 6.2, 6.9 05 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Procedure: Procedure: Procedure: Re-Test on Introduce Prepositions 6.2, 6.9 05 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Procedure: Procedure: Procedure: Re-Test on Introduce Prepositions 6.2, 6.9 05 Speech Procedure: Procedure: 06 Speech Procedure: Procophok			Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
Is of Writing Elements of Writing Elements of Writing Elements of Writing Elements of Writing F Objective: Objective: Objective: Objective: eech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech 055 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 105 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 106 Procedure: Procedure: Procedure: 107 Procedure: Procedure: Procedure: 108 Procedure: Procedure: Procedure: 109 Procedure: Procedure: Procedure: 110 Procedure: Procedure: Procedure: 110 <th>Text or Material:</th>	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:
Objective: Objective: Objective: eech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Prepositions 6.2, 6.9 6.2, 6.9 6.2, 6.9 405 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Prepositions 6.2, 6.9 6.2, 6.9 6.2, 6.9 6.2, 6.9 105 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Prepositions 6.2, 6.9 Page: 406-410 Prepositions 6.2, 6.9 105 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Prepositions 105 Page: 406-410 Prepositions 6.2, 6.9 106 Procedure: Procedure: Administer Test on 107 Discuss and Model Part Prepositions Sheet, S5 108 Sheet, Prepositions Sheet, S5 100 Prepositions. Complete Sheet, S5 Sheet, S5 100 Prepositions. Complete Sheet, S5 Sheet, S5 100 Prevective. To To 100 To To To 100 To Graded Fvvv. Or	Elements of Writing Grammar IF	Elements of Writing Grammar IF	Elements of Writing Grammar IF	Elements of Writing Grammar IF	Elements of Writing Grammar IF
Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Parts of Speech Prepositions 6.2, 6.9 6.2, 6.9 6.2, 6.9 6.2, 6.9 6.2, 6.9 105 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Page: 406-410 Prepositions Procedure: Procedure: Re-Test on Introduce Prepositions Review Prepositions Review Prepositions Review Prepositions Stated Prescient Prescient Review Review Prepositions Stated Sheet. HRW Workbook Study and Complete sheet To To for Review. To To for Review. To Graded	Objective:	Objective:	Objective:	Objective:	Objective:
PrepositionsPrepositionsPrepositions405Page: 406.410 Page: 406.410 Page: 406.410 705Page: 406.410 Page: 406.410 Page: 406.410 700Procedure:Procedure:Procedure:700Review PrepositionsReview PrepositionsPrepositions700PrepositionsReview PrepositionsPrepositions700PrepositionsPrepositionsPrepositions700Precedure:PrepositionsPrepositions700PrepositionsPrepositionsPrepositions700Precedure:PrepositionsPrepositions700PrepositionsPrepositionsPrepositions700Precedure:PrepositionsPrepositions700PrepositionsPrepositionsPrepositions700Precedure:PrepositionsPrepositions700PrepositionsPrepositionsPrepositions700Precedure:PrepositionsPrepositions700Precedure:Precedure:Precedure:700Precedure:Precedure:Precedure:700Precedure:Precedure:Precedure:700Precedure:Precedure:Precedure:700Precedure:Precedure:Precedure:700Precedure:Precedure:Precedure:700Precedure:Precedure:Precedure:700Precedure:Precedure:Precedure:700Precedure:Precedure: <td>Parts of Speech</td>	Parts of Speech	Parts of Speech	Parts of Speech	Parts of Speech	Parts of Speech
405Page: 406-410Page: 406-410Page: 406-410Re-Test onProcedure:Procedure:Procedure:Re-Test onIntroduce PrepositionsReview PrepositionsProcedure:Re-Test onIntroduce PrepositionsReview PrepositionsRepositionsOf Speech.Practice identifyingReview PrepositionsPrepositionsSpeech.Sheet.Prepositions. CompletePrepositionsComplete and discussSheet.Sheet.PrepositionsKevaluation:HoneworkHoneworkHoneworkStudy and Complete sheetTOFoTOCoTOGradedEvaluationToToGradedEvaluation	Adverbs 6.2, 6.9	Prepositions 6.2, 6.9	Prepositions 6.2, 6.9	Prepositions 6.2, 6.9	Conjunctions 6.2, 6.9
Re-Test on Procedure: Procedure: Procedure: Review Prepositions Review Prepositions Administer Test on Discuss and Model Part Practice identifying Review Prepositions of Speech. Complete and discuss Review Prepositions. Complete Exercise 11 on p.409 Review Prepositions. Complete PRevex 55 Kevaluation: Honework Honework Review Honework Honework Control of for Review. Graded TO Conded TO TO Graded Craded 2.4.3 Subsect. TO	age: 402-405	Page: 406-410	Page:406-410	Page:406-410	Page:411-412
Re-Test on Introduce Prepositions Review Prepositions Administer Test on Discuss and Model Part Prepositions. Complete Prepositions of Speech. Discuss and Model Part Prepositions. Complete Speech. Complete and discuss Sheet. Exercise 11 on p.409 Sheet. Prepositions. Complete Kevaluation: Honework Honework Study and Complete sheet TO TO for Review. TO TO To To Evaluation	Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:
VEvaluation: Homework Homework Homework Homework Study and Complete sheet TO TO Evaluation Graded TAW, a Graded Arver Real of the Arver Re	Administer Re-Test on Adverbs	Introduce Prepositions Discuss and Model Part of Speech. Complete and discuss Exercise 11 on p.409	Review Prepositions Practice identifying Prepositions. Complete Sheet.	Administer Test on Prepositions Sheet 55 HRW Workbook	Introduce Conjunctions. Discuss and Model Part of Speech Complete and discuss Exercise 13 on p. 411
TO for Review. TO TO TO Graded TO Graded IVU. OCTING TO Graded TO Surved IVU. OCTING TO Freed TO	Iomework/Evaluation:	Homework	Homework	Homework	Homework
	3	id Complete s ew. f. J	TO Graded Leel 14W. O	Her 20	TO Sheet Graded

-Teacher's Name: T Fe	T Ferrehee - L.A	LESSON PLANS	Grade/Section #: 6-10	Date: 03/03-03/07
Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:
Elements of Writing Grammar IF	Elements of Writing Grammar IF	Elements of Writing Grammar IF	Elements of Writing Grammar IF	Elements of Writing Grammar IF
Objective:	Objective:	Objective:	Objective:	Objective:
Parts of Speech Adverbs 6.2, 6.9	Parts of Speech Prepositions 6.2, 6.9	Parts of Speech Prepositions 6.2, 6.9	Parts of Speech Prepositions 6.2, 6.9	Parts of Speech Conjunctions 6.2, 6.9
Page: 402-405	Page: 406-410	Page:406-410	Page:406-410	Page:411-412
Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:
Administer Re-Test on Adverbs	Introduce Prepositions Discuss and Model Part of Speech. Complete and discuss Exercise 11 on p.409	Review Prepositions Practice identifying Prepositions. Complete Sheet.	Administer Test on Prepositions Sheet 55 HRW Workbook	Introduce Conjunctions. Discuss and Model Part of Speech Complete and discuss Exercise 13 on p. 411
Homework/Evaluation:	Homework	Homework	Homework	Homework
TO Evaluation Graded	Study and Complete sheet for Review. TO Graded	TO Graded Leel 14W. ac	TO Evaluation Graded to be	TO Sheet Graded
	mm	c~		Contraction of the second

D	FRUAY	Text or Material	Objective Objective	6 21 60 1/00 1 8 perts of spiced	Puge	Proceeding Review Company Subjects and Parts Complete Dial quaries from newspape. Complete ER. 11 on d Review B.	HomeworkTevaluation Esters = 12 Comprimede 26 je dig director grantede .
RECEIVED SEP 13 2002	THURSDAY	Text or Material E/cyn4,75 o F W/r, Hink	Objective O	8 purts of apecal,	Page 353, 359		HomeworkEvaluation
LESSON PLANS	WEDNESDAY	Text or Material	Objective United	Brack of Speech,	Page 351, 352,	Proceeding Intra langon & Subjects lawiew Subjects lawiew Subjects complete Oral leaver Complete Ex. 9 Review For Ex. 9 Review For Ex. 9 reduces for Ex. 9 languest dary comp.	Homework/Evaluation
grebue	TUESDAY	Textor Material of Tranka Elevents of mean	Objective / Cost 6.9	t a	Page	ne Tert	Homomotic Munition Areas for Martey
TEACHER'S NAME	MONDAY	Toxi or Material	6.2.6.9	s, subject/ub	Page	Proceeding Frider A Revelow Frider A Verb. Complete Oral Verb. Come Ascryment (Come) Hove Frider a verb. Hove Students Eut	HomeworkEvaluation Practice Frohis Verbs in new 3 article: relation

Homework/Evaluation Ho p.45-glooded Ho Howk-Shudy Yocub Hay	Lan a Gray total	
Homework/Evaluation Home Sheep: 16+17 Teacher CBS-vervestig. Non gracher Strady Vocbulary	Tuesday Tuesday The number Elements of Citements C	
HomeworkEvaluation Nu howsth grandultsta Marchaltsta Arressounds		•
Homework/Evaluation 1.0, 1.0,	the to th	2
Homework/Evaluation Teacher Ob. Jurhut scargame Coocer for mot	DATE: 9-16 to 1/2 c PALLENT: 9-16 to 1/2 c PROPOSITION Tentorial Cleanset velog Progenille Progenille Progenille Progenille Progenille C. 2, 6. 5, 6. 9 Progenille	RECEIVED

Date: Oct 7-10 02	Friday	Text or Material:			Objective:		Page:	Procedure:					
Grade/Section Lang Arts Di	Thursday	Text or Material:	 Activity worksheet 		Objective:	QCC 7.14, 7-15 Recognizing double negatives	Page:	Procedure:	Parts of Speech Activity				
Name: LESSON PLANS Grad	Wednesday	Text or Material:	Unit Test		Objective:	QCC 7-2 ,7-5, Uses principle parts of speech to form tenses of regular and irregular verbs.	Page:	Procedure:	 Part I Unit Test Daily Language Review Worksheet 	RECEITVED OCT 0 8 2002		Complete Daily Language Review	
Sweetenhiiro	Tuesday	Text or Material:	Notes Timer	 Score keeper 	Objective:	QCC 7-2, 7-5, Uses principle parts of speech to form tenses of regular and irregular verbs.	Page:	Procedure:	 Parts of Speech Game Review Session 				
Teacher's	Monday	Text or Material:	 100% Grammar workbook 	 Safe School Essay 	Objective:	QCC: 7-14,7-31 Faulty agreement of Subj./Verb. & connecting faulty verb tense	Page: 54-48		 Fire prevention essay 100% Grammar (Verbs) 		Homework/Evaluation:	Complete pages 54-58	

111- 4- 4- 4-	FRIDAY 🎸	TEXT OR MATFRIAL	OBJECTIVE	PAGE	PROCEDURE T BSTATES Will BOSIST Will BOSIST T BOSIST WILL PROMY DE DISPORTED DE DISPORTED DE DISPORTED DE DISPORTED HOMEWORK/EVALUATION
CRADE/SECTION QNG ARTE 3-31-4-4-0	THURSDAY S	TEXT OR MATERIAL	OBJECTIVE	PAGE	PROCEDURE TO STATE Haity, Haity, Cunquins Cunquins and Lamonicks MAR 31 2003 HAN PLUNICKS MAR 31 2003 HAN FULL
ESSON PLANS	WEDNESDAY 2	TEXT OR MATERIAL Rev S of Caybons	OBJECTIVE	PAGE	PROCEDURE TESTAR POETAL Orally in Class Class Class Class Bont Spring abrit Spring Abrit Spring
TEACHER'S NAME SLUCTONDUNG T	TUESDAY	X CONSTRUCTION POPEL OR MATERIAL X CONSTRUCTION POPEL	SCIVE	PAGE	PROCEDURE TOSHING - Nites or Couplets and Ouchains and Ouchains their orn Couplet their orn Couplet This let
	MONDAY 3/	* Stray Tips * Doctry Notes	BLECTIVE BACCS Study	PAGE	* Daily lang Review * Daily lang Review Duscuss, Shudy Tips HOMEMORK/EVALUATION

ATE: 4/14-17/03	FRIDAY	TEXT OR MATERIAL	OBJECTIVE			PAGE	PROCEDURE	RECEIVED APR 15 2003		der/ Break/	BOREMORK/EVALUATION
CHARTER THOPS THE WITTER 4/14-17/03	THURSDAY 17	TEXT OR MATERIAL	OBJECTIVE	phy	d phrase	PAGE	* CLOZE Practice	* Student will present their Spinner orally	IN. CLASS. W. DW	Hmpal Easter/ Speirs Break!	HOMEWORK/EVALUATION BOMEWORN
LESSON FLANS	WEDNESDAY 16	- PORTY OR MATERIAL	OBJECTIVE	It prefore to Elemends of preform	uses description wends and phrase	PAGE 16	*Cloze Prachic * Cloze Prachie * Cloze Prachie 5/4 7/8	* poetry project * student will Spinner present their Spinner orally		Quatains	HOMEWORK / EVALUATI ON
TEACHER'S NAME SMUELENDWILL	TUESDAY US	TEXT OR MATERIAL	OBJECTIVE	Heprets Elen	es desouph	PAGE 13-15	*Cloze Prachie E/4	t poetry entries over reading	of Shel Sivershen	pretry	HONEMORK, EVILIATION Bring IN # 2 Period IN # 2 Period IN # 2 Crayon or pencif
	MONDAY 14	- Element of leterature - Cloze Practice		QCCE 7:24 7	12:6	PAGE 9-11	PROCEDURE *Cluze practice	* Forms and Element & of Literature * Fiction/Nonfiction	* Types of Theren. * Novels/Short Stanes (pp. 1-3)		HOMEWORK BYALUATION Conducte Elements of liferature

All language arts objectives relating to English are met through skills maintenance program Mountain Language TM .

Scorpions (Update - revision)

Umbrella Theme – Who Am I?

_	William L. Moore	LESSON PLANS	Grade/Section #: 7-1,2,3	Date: 10/21-25/02
Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:
Elements of	Elements of	Elements of	Elements of	Elements of
Literature(HRW) English(HM)	Literature(HRW) English(HM)	Literature(HRW) English(HM)	Literature(HRW) English(HM)	Literature(HRW) English(HM)
Objective:	Objective:	Objective:	Objective:	Objective:
Page:	Page:	Page:	Page:	Page:
Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:
Each day: Silent Sustained Reading	Each day: Silent Sustained Reading	Each day: Silent Sustained Reading	Each day: Silent Sustained reading	Each day: Silent Sustained Reading
1. Agenda HW written	1. Agenda HW written	1. Agenda HW written	1. Agenda HW written	1. Agenda HW written
 Journal Topic changes each day. 	 Journal Topic changes each day. 	 Journal Topic changes each day. 	 Journal Topic changes each day 	 Journal Topic changes each day.
3. Mountain Language 1-8	3. Mountain Language 9 -	3. Mountain Language 17-	3. Mountain Language 5 -	3. Mountain Language 13
(left-side)	16 (left-side)	20 (left-side)	12 (right-side)	- 20 (right-side)
 HW Cneck Oral reading 	 Hw Cneck Oral reading 	 Mountain Language 1 – (right-side) 	 HW Cneck Assign spelling words 	 Mountain Language check
0	0	Check ML	for the next week.	5. HW Check
		5. HW Check	Oral reading	6.0ral reading
		6. Oral reading		7. Spelling test
Homework/Evaluation:	Write each word in a	Write words in two times	Write words three times	Read for sixty minutes.
syllabication.	words underlined. 5 sentences min.		cault opcilling lest ritual	A LI Sheiling LI W
Read each night for 15 min.	Read each night for 15 min	Read each night for 15 min	Read each night for 15 min	

Umbrella Theme – Changes IEPs on file with team, and V.P, SEARCH with Ms, Ashman	Date: 1/6-10/03	Friday	Text or Material:	Elements of	Literature(HRW)(KEAD) English(HM)(ACTION)	Objective:69, 70, 75, 74	Reading, Writing	Page:	Procedure:	Each day:	Silent Sustained reading	1. Agenda HW written		Journal Topic changes	each day	 Mountain Language 5 – 12 (right-eide) 	4. HW Check	5. Oral Reading	Read and Respond	from Action Magazine	7. Spelling Test		Read for sixty minutes.	Begin spelling HW		
-	Grade/Section #: 7-1,2,3	Thursday	Text or Material:	Elements of	Literature(HRW)(KEAD) English(HM)(ACTION)	Objective: 64, 65, 66, 67,	Reading, Writing	Page: Action Magazine	Procedure:	Each day:	Silent Sustained reading	1. Agenda HW written	Journal Topic changes	each day	 Mountain Language 5 – 	12 (right-side) 4 HW Check	5. Assign spelling words	for the next week.	Oral reading	Read and respond from	Action Magazine.		Write words three times	each. Spelling test Friday		Read each night for 15 min
Scorpions	MAN TESSON FLANS	Wednesday	Text or Material:	Elements of	Literature(HRW)(READ) English(HM)(ACTION)	Objective: 31-45, 56, 63	Reading, Speaking, Writing	Page: Action Magazine	Procedure:	Each day:	Silent Sustained Reading	1. Agenda HW written	Journal Topic changes	each day.	3. Mountain Language 17 -	20 (lett-side) 4 Mountain Lanouage 1 -		Check ML	5. HW Check	Oral reading	7. Spelling Bee per lass		Write words in two times	each and ABC order.		Read each night for 15 min
All English mechanics objectives relating to English are met through skills maintenance program Mountain Language TM	William L. Moore WULL HOUR	Tuesday	Text or Material:	Elements of	Literature(HRW)(<i>READ</i>) English(HM)(<i>READ</i>)	Objective: 17, 21- 25	Listening, Literature Writing	Page: Action Magazine	Procedure:	Each day:	Silent Sustained Reading	1. Agenda HW written	Journal Topic changes	each day.	3. Mountain Language 9 -	16 (lett-side) 4 HW Check	5. Oral reading	6. Read and respond from	Action Magazine.				Write each word in a	sentence or a story with at words underlined. 5	sentences min.	Read each night for 15 min
All English mechanics objectives relating to English are met through skills maintenance program Mounta	-	Monday	Text or Material:	Elements of	Literature(HRW)(READ) English(HM)(ACTION)	Objective: 1- 12, 13, 14 16,	Grammar and Usage Listening, Writing	Page: Action Magazine	Procedure:	Each day:	Silent Sustained Reading	1. Agenda HW written	Journal Topic changes	each day.	3. Mountain Language 1-8	(lett-side) 4 HW Check	5. Oral reading	6. Review policies and	procedures	Go over new Syllabus	8. Review Rules and	consequences	Homework/Evaluation:	Spelling words defined and svllabication.		Read each night for 15 min.

All English mechanics objectives relating to English are met through skills maintenance program Mountain LanguageTM.

Scorpions

Umbrella Theme – Changes IEPs on file with team, and V.P. SEARCH with Ms. Ashman

			SEARC	vi –
Villi	William L., Moore	LESSON PLANS	Grade/Section #: 7-1.2.3	Date: 4/14-17/03
	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:	Text or Material:
	Elements of	Elements of	Elements of	Elements of
	Literature(HRW)(READ)	Literature(HRW)(READ)	Literature(HRW)(READ)	Literature(HRW)(READ)
	English(HM)(READ)	English(HM)(ACTION)	English(HM)(ACTION)	English(HM)(ACTION)
Objective: 1- 12, 13, 14 16,	Objective: 17, 21-25	Objective: 31- 45, 56, 63	Objective: 64, 65, 66, 67,	Objective:69, 70, 75, 74
	Listening, Literature Writing	Reading, Speaking, Writing	Reading, Writing	Reading, Writing
Page :No one text a variety	Page No one text a variety	Page; No one text a variety	Page: No one text a variety	Page: No one text a
	of sources	of sources	of sources	variety of sources
	Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:	Procedure:
	Each day:	Each day:	Each day:	Each day:
Silent Sustained Reading	Silent Sustained Reading	Silent Sustained Reading	Silent Sustained reading	Spring Break Begins.
LAgenda H w written	1. Agenda H W written	1. Agenda H w written	1. Agenda H W written	Today is Good Briday
	each day.	each day.	each dav	Have a nice holiday!
-	Mountain Language 1 –	*3. Mountain Language 11	Mountain Language 1 –	
	10 (left-side) 4 HW Check	- 20 (left-side) 4 Oral reading	10 (right-side) 4 HW Check	
	5. Oral reading	5. Continue poetry unit	5. Assign spelling words	
 Begin poetry Unit Introduce different types 	6. Continue unit with		for the next week.	
2	summer working on possive		7. Continue poetry unit	
	Review class work. Share	Review class work. Share	Review class work. Share	Read for sixty minutes.
	with parents, Spelling H w	with parents. SF HW	with parents. Sp H w	keview class work. Share with parents. Sp HW
min.	Read each night for 15 min	Read each night for 15 min	Read each night for 15 min	

APPENDIX B

SHUMAN'S WRITING PLAN

SHUMAN MIDDLE SCHOOL'S TEST IMPROVEMENT PLAN

Shuman Middle School once again is striving for an increase in test scores for the 1997-98 school year. This will become a reality if everyone dedicates himself or herself to this cause. Outlined below is the procedure we will follow to achieve our goal. The plan is the same as last year with the exception of adding the Social Studies, Science, Map and Reference skills to your tracking chart.

1. Each homeroom teacher will be given a tracking chart with which to record their students' achievement above and below the 50%ile on last year's (1996-97) IOWA TEST OF BASIC SKILLS. This is to be done by looking at the National Percentile Rank (NPR) score at the top right of the student's INDIVIDUAL PROFILE SHEET for each major area. If a student has a rank of 50%ile or above, record a (+) sign on the track sheet. If the bar stops in mid-average or low area, place a (-) on the trac1 sheet. Next, check the subskills for each category (these are listed below the test report). If the bar stops in the high average or high column, place a (-) sign on the track sheet. If you prefer, you may use the actual numbers rather that a (+) or (-) sign.

2. Homeroom teachers are to provide a copy of their track sheets to the other members of their team that serve the students. You are also to provide a copy for the counselor. Be sure that Exploratory and Physical Education teachers serving your students are aware of deficit areas. This can be done during your regular team planning meetings as you plan you interdisciplinary units. Exploratory teachers are also expected to teach reading and math skills in their content areas.

3. The tracking chart is to assist teachers in <u>planning</u> remediation and enrichment activities. It should also be utilized to plan peer groups for study and learning.

4. Use peer tutoring as often as possible. Students have a way of clarifying a concept for their peers in terms that other students understand.

5. All teachers are required to develop a list of remediation and enrichment activities that will be employed to improve test scores in their classrooms. The list along with a copy of your track sheet is due in the counselors' office by November 14, 1997.

6. The following resources are being made available to all teachers for use in improving academic skills:

Test Reading

Scoring High in Reading and Math

Test Best on the ITBS

Additional materials are on order

7. You are expected to use these materials frequently. Lessons Plans are to reflect a minimum of 15 minutes of test-taking skills activities/strategies, beginning immediately. Please highlight these activities in your lesson plans. Unannounced observations of remediation activities will be made by the administration periodically. Testing practice materials listed above may be obtained from the counselors' office. Students are not to write in these booklets. Scantron sheets or regular paper should be used for students to record their answers.

8. The counselors will be available to assist you with the development of strategies, peer- grouping, documentation, special students problems, etc.

WRITING ACROSS THE CURRICULUM:

1. All students will write in all subject areas, exploratory and physical

education classes.

- 2. Writing assignment should only be 10-15 minutes of the class period.
- 3. Lesson plans should reflect writing assignments.
- 4. Exploratory and physical education teachers will turn in all students' papers

to the counselors' office at the end of each marking period.

5. The criteria used for the 8th Grade Writing Assessment is attached.

This should be used when evaluating student papers.

6. The following schedule is to be followed for weekly writing

assignments:

Georgia	Grade 8 Writing Test
Friday	Exploratory /P. E.
Thursday	Social Studies
Wednesday	Science
Tuesday	Math
Monday	Language Arts

Scoring Domains, Definitions, and Components

Content/Organization: The writer establishes the controlling idea through examples, illustrations, and facts or details. There is evidence of a sense of order which is clear and relevant. (Weight = 3)

- Clearly established controlling idea
- Clearly developed supporting ideas
- Sufficiently relevant supporting ideas
- Clearly discernible order of presentation
- Logical transitions and flow of ideas
- Sense of completeness

Style: The writer controls language to establish his/her individuality. (Weight = 2).

- Concrete images and descriptive language
- Easily readable
- Varied sentence patterns
- Appropriate tone for topic, audience, and purpose

Sentence Formations: The writer forms effective sentences. (Weight = 1)

- Appropriate end punctuation
- Complete sentences or functional fragments
- Appropriate coordination and/or subordination

Usage: The writer uses standard American English. (Weight = 1)

- Clear pronoun references
- Correct subject-verb agreement
- Standard form of verbs and nouns
- Correct word choice

Mechanics: The writer employs devices necessary in standard written American English. (Weight = 1)

- Appropriate capitalization
- Appropriate internal punctuation
- Appropriate format
- Correct spelling

* The weight which each domain scores contributes to the total score.

More information about the domains of effective writing and criteria for scoring papers is available in the publication entitled "Teacher's Guide – Georgia Grade 8 Writing Test." This document is available in each school or through the Georgia Department of Education.

APPENDIX C

IRB APPROVAL

Georgia Southern University Office of Research Services & Sponsored Programs							
Institutional Review Board (IRB)							
Phone: 912- Fax: 912-68		4 College Plaza, P.O. Box 8005 Statesboro, GA 30460-8005					
Тө:	Te: Mr. William Moore Curriculum, Foundations, and Research						
Ce:	Dr. Ming Fang He Curriculum, Foundations, and Research						
From:	From: Office of Research Services and Sponsored Programs Administrative Support Office for Research Oversight Committees (IACUC/IBC/IRB)						
Date:	Date: February 4, 2006						
Subject:	Status of Application for Approval to Utilize Human Sub	jects in Research					

After an expedited review of your proposed research project titled "An Inquiry Into Writing Practices in a Middle School's Language Arts Classroom," it appears that (1) the research subjects are at minimal risk, (2) appropriate safeguards are planned, and (3) the research activities involve only procedures which are allowable under the following research category:

Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies.

Therefore, as authorized in the Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects (45 CFR §46.110), I am pleased to notify you that the Institutional Review Board has approved your proposed research. Any first sub-piperval is in effect too one year from the date of this ketter. If at the end of that third, there have been no changes to the expedited research protocol, you may request an extension of the approval period for an additional year. In the interim, please provide the IRB with any information concerning any significant adverse event, whether or not it is believed to be related to the study, within five working days of the event. In addition, if a change or modification of the approved methodology becomes necessary, you must notify the IRB Coordinator prior to initiating any such changes or modifications. At that time, an amended application for IRB approval may be submitted. Upon completion of your data collection, please notify the IRB Coordinator so that your file may be closed.

Dr. Tom Case, IRB Chairperson Dr. Bryan Riemann, IRB Associate Chairperson Ms. Melanie Reddick, IRB Administrative Assistant C:

Арр	olicatio	on for Ap	proval to Utilize Hu	ıman Sul	jects in Research
ctions:	including a				th "N/A") and submit completed materials, evant materials, to the address below.
cation w:	review neo	cssary, turn-arou		week (for certain	as possible. Depending upon the type of types of exempt research protocols) to 6-8 e review process.
rch Oversight ational Review e of Research Box 8005 iboro, GA 304	w Board (IF Services		Submit Completed Application to:	E-Mail: ovr	
arch Title:		An Inquiry in	nto Writing Practices in a Mi	ddle School's	Language Arts Classrooms
cipal Inves	tigator:	William L. N	foore	Title:	Student
artment:		Curriculum, For	indations, & Research		
ing Address: 102 Settleme			nt Way	Phone:	912-897-2968
Savannah, GA 31410			A 31410	E-Mail:	wmoore3@bellsouth.net
cipal Inves	()	llove	12/2/02 Date:	M.E. Faculty A	dvisor (if student researcher)
artment Ch	<u>lra</u> air	Don	en's	Dr. Ming I Print Nan	Fang He ne of Faculty Advisor
	Do	Not Write	Below This Line - For	Internal	RB Use Only
	D	ETERMINA	TION OF INSTITUTIONAL	REVIEW B	OARD (IRB)
an Subject	ts:	At Risk		Not At	Risk
on:		Approved	Conditional †		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
ttach Cond	itions of		r Revisions/Not Approved	Exte	ension of Approval Period
cate Section	n of Fede	ral Code that	Applies		
ied:Cha	i r , Institu	itional Review	Board Date:		
al of 4		TRB Amplicatio	n for Approval to Hilize Human S	phiects in Resea	mb IRB 11/98 (revised)

Research Protocol

For Research Utilizing Human Subjects

1. Statement of the problem to be studied:

The framework surrounding my study incorporates societal, theoretical, and methodological paradigms. Effective pedagogical strategies are of the utmost importance if schools are to enable students to become self-disciplined, productive learners. "Students are the direct recipients of teachers' instructional practices; therefore, instruction must be based on research and practical experience" (Moore, 2002, p. 170). The overall purpose of this study is to examine the perspectives and instructional practices of teachers in the discipline of writing. In general I am asking: To what extent is writing an integral component of a middle school's language arts program? Specifically, I am asking: What practices/strategies are utilized to assess writing in middle school classrooms? To what extent are these practices/strategies successful? What practices/strategies are utilized to assess writing in middle school classrooms?

<u>Societal</u>: To be effective, productive citizens in society, people must be able to communicate. Writing is a reflective and creative endeavor that does not come naturally. We all need to communicate in one form or another. Writing requires us not only to have a speaking vocabulary but also a written one. Writing tests are given at various grade levels to assess the ability of students to communicate their ideas clearly. Students unable to master the art of communication may be at risk of failing not only in school, but also in society in general. Writing is a convoluted cognitive-linguistic operation employing a spectrum of intellectual skills and communication aptitudes. Writing requires that the procedures to produce an end product be circular or intermingling within itself. Writing does not appear to be linear. The need to identify strategies that promote positive attitudes toward writing and that improve writing skills is paramount if students are to be successful in the future economy.

<u>Theoretical:</u> Delpit (1995) advocates teaching skills to students in meaningful contexts. These skills enable students to communicate effectively in standard, generally acceptable literary forms. At the same time, students are expected to apply their knowledge in authentic settings. Writing is one of the keys to unlocking a child's potential to grow holistically. Schools are to transmit values and knowledge that students need in order to be the "consolidated self" Mohanty (1997) mentions in "Dangerous Territory".

Methodological: Qualitative research houses a variety of methodologies. "No single method can grasp the subtle variations in ongoing human experience" (Denzin & Lincoln, 1998, p.24). Moore (2002, pg. 171) states, "A new paradigm of research where the researcher and the participants are actively and jointly involved in experience is evolving." The theoretical framework of this study is phenomenology and hermeneutics. The methodology of this study is a combination of narrative inquiry and classroom based action research. The purpose of my study is to identify the perceptions teachers have toward writing. For this to be effectively conveyed, the stories of the participants and myself will be told. Phenomenology "investigates the distinctly human perceptions of other people" (Willis 1991, p. 174). "Phenomenology also encourages a dialectic relationship between participants that will allow the various perspectives of the participants to be heard" (Moore, 2002, pg. 172). Hermeneutics will be used to interpret the lived experiences in order to make meaning. This method of inquiry has the ability to reveal perceptions that may be hidden. Narrative inquiry, an approach that focuses on "contextualized, historicized, placed experience" (Phillion & He, 2001) is being developed as a means of understanding experiences. Phillion and He (2001) relate that experience is explored by immersing one's self in the lives of others and seeing research as an on-going part of life. The integration of various methodologies will enable the participants' voices to be heard. Classroom-based action undertaken by practitioners will allow change to occur by exploring the lived experiences within classrooms.

2. Describe your research design. {As appropriate, you should include (1) your procedures for selecting, recruiting, or identifying the research participants (as well as the individuals in any "control" or "comparison" group); (2) any plans to do follow-up studies of the original participants (3) issues, questions, etc. to be studied; (4) data analysis plans with respect to the ability to identify individual study participants' responses, and (5) any other information relevant for assessing possible risks to the study's participants.}

This study adopts a narrative method of inquiry (Clandinin & Connelly, 1988 & 1990) and a classroom-based action research (Cochran-Smith & Lytle, 1993). Narrative, as research phenomena, as a form of inquiry, and as a method of representing understandings of inquiry, has an established history in the social sciences (Polkinghorne, 2001). In narrative inquiry researchers seek to develop an understanding of experience. In this study participants' lived experiences and perceptions of writing will be explored. Classroom-based action research undertaken by practitioners will allow change to occur by exploring the lived experiences within classrooms.

 The participants in this study will be six, middle school, language arts teachers and one assistant principal. Two teachers will be selected from the sixth, seventh, and eighth grades. Only the researcher will keep a reflective journal throughout the study. Strategies that focus on writing instruction and how this instruction impacts the eighth grade writing scores will be explored. The participants will be interviewed individually and in focus groups. Their philosophies of writing will be investigated as well as their own involvement in personal writing activities.

Data Collection & Time Frame: This study will be conducted in a middle school located in Chatham County. Permissions from the principal and teachers will be obtained. Data collection will be comprised of school portraiture, artifacts from the participants' lesson plans, classroom anecdotal records, the researcher's reflective journal, observations, and open-ended interviews. All participants will receive a cover letter explaining the research study and a consent form. A time to be interviewed will be established that is convenient for all parties. With their permission, interviewees will be audio taped. After taping, the interviews will be transcribed and submitted to the participants for review. All tapes will be catalogued and kept in a secure place.

Phase One (January '03 – February '03) Preparatory research involving selection of participants, collection of archives and documents, and scheduling of interviews will be conducted. Current information will be gathered to identify key social, cultural, and programmatic forces on the school. Observation of the participants and the researcher's own reflections will be recorded in a journal. One open-ended interview lasting 30-45 minutes will be conducted with each participant. All interviews will be audio taped and will focus on how the participants' writing pedagogy in their classrooms.

There is no control group for this study.

Phase Two (February '03 – May '03) Interview tapes will be transcribed. February and March will be devoted to data analysis, writing, and communication of results. This will include 1) focus group interviews; 2) participant observations; 3) feedback to participants; and 4) drawing educational implications.

 There are no plans to do a follow-up study on the participants of this study.

Data Management: Data collected will be secured in a locked cabinet at my residence. My dissertation supervisor, Dr. Ming Fang He, and myself will be the only persons to have access to the data at any time. When this study is completed and the dissertation written, all data will be shredded and destroyed. \mathcal{R}

- 3) Copies of potential questions for each participant are included at the end of this document. The general research question to be addressed in this study is: What is the impact of teachers' writing pedagogy on the eighth grade students' writing tests? Specific questions to be explored are: What practices/strategies are utilized in two sixth, seventh, and eighth grade language arts classrooms to promote writing? How are middle school students encouraged/motivated to engage in writing? To what extent are these practices/strategies successful? My study is entitled *An Inquiry into Writing Practices in a Middle School's Language Arts Classrooms*.
- 4) Data Analysis/Interpretation Techniques: Preliminary data analysis will begin with a review of the documents, reflective journal, and notes on talks, observations, and interviews. Throughout the study, data will be transcribed, analyzed, and interpreted. Data analysis plans will be coded for the researcher's organizational purposes, but no individual's responses will be noted as such. Each participant's group responses will be absolutely confidential.
- 5) I see no risk to the participants of this study. Their names will not be revealed, but their thoughts and perspectives of this study will help identify goals and strategies for better instructional programs.
- 3. Description of possible risks to human subjects. (If there is a possibility of subjects or researchers being exposed to bodily fluids (drawing blood, etc...) please explain how the Centers for Disease Control "Universal Precautions" will be followed. Also be aware that it will be necessary for you to receive Institutional Biohazards Committee (IBC) approval in order to be in compliance. See the Research Oversight Coordinator for further information.)

There is no possible risk to human participants in this research study. "N/A"

4. Description of possible benefits to human subjects and society in general.

My study's significance lies in its contribution to: 1) providing valuable information about the writing instruction in a middle school's language arts program; 2) improving pedagogical goals and instruction for teachers of writing through reflection on their own practices; 3) adding to the body of research on writing; 4) the involvement of teachers in reflecting on instructional goals and strategies concerning writing in their classrooms; 5) provide implications for writing coordinators including policy and guideline specialists, media specialists, writing educators and instructors, etc.; and 6) provide teachers an active voice in the formulation of writing practices and strategies. 5. Identify information on study participants. (e.g., social security number, name, position, title, or relatively unique demographic characteristics.)

- 1) Names of the key people (e.g. teachers)
- Gender There will be 5 female teachers, 1 male teacher, and 1 male assistant principal in the study
- A profile of the school (e.g. demographics of the students, physical layout and organization of the school, faculty data, programs, etc.)
- 4) Years of experience teachers
- 6. List and attach a copy of all questionnaire instruments, informed consent documents, interview protocols, or any other materials to be used during the research project (i.e., newspaper advertisements, flyers, etc.)

Interviews will be conducted orally and taped if consent is given. Notes and/or tapes will later be transcribed and submitted to appropriate participants for their review.

See the following attachments:

- a) A cover letter will be given to all participants of the study
- b) Consent letter for teachers
- c) Consent letter from the principal of Shuman Middle School
- d) Possible interview questions for teachers and assistant principal
- 7. Describe the procedure(s) that will be used to secure informed consent. If deception is necessary, attach a copy of the debriefing plan.

A cover letter and an abstract of the research project will be given to participants with the consent document chosen for the study as described in the answer to question 6 above. (See attachments)

8. Will minors be included as part of the data set (Indicate the appropriate response)

Yes _____ No ____x

If you indicated YES above, describe the procedure(s) to gain consent to utilize minors in the research.

Research Protocol For Research Utilizing Human Subjects Informed Consent Cover Letter

Dear

My name is William L. Moore, a middle school language arts teacher.

I am conducting a study that will explore teachers' writing practices and strategies in middle school language arts classrooms to ascertain the impact of the writing instruction on the eighth grade writing test.

Attached you will find an abstract of the study. As a participant, you will be asked questions about strategies you use in your writing instruction and your personal writing history. The sessions will be taped (with your permission) for accuracy. A transcript of the tape will be made available to you for a review. Anything you wish to have changed or deleted will be done at a scheduled follow-up time. Research materials will be catalogued and kept in a secure place.

If you would like more information on this research study in order to make your decision, or if you simply want to discuss any questions or concerns you might have, please contact me [home: (912) 897-2968; work: (912) 201-7500-743] or Dr. Ming Fang He, Supervising Professor at Georgia Southern University [(912) 681-5091]. If you have any questions or concerns about your rights as a research participant in this study, they should be directed to the IRB (Institutional Review Board) Coordinator at the Office of Research Services and Sponsored Programs at Georgia Southern University at (912) 681-5465.

Thank you for your time and cooperation.

Yours truly,

William L. Moore Doctoral Candidate, Curriculum Studies/Literacy Georgia Southern University

Research Protocol For Research Utilizing Human Subjects Institutional Consent

I, ______, give permission to William L. Moore to conduct his research with participants in Shuman Middle School. I have reviewed the proposed research plans of *An Inquiry into the Teaching of Writing in a Middle School's Language Arts Classrooms*, and I give William L. Moore my permission to solicit the teachers of Leiston T. Shuman Middle School for possible research participation.

Signature

D		
Position		

Date _____

Research Protocol For Research Utilizing Human Subjects Individual Adult Consent Form

I, _________(participant), agree to participate in the qualitative research study entitled, *An Inquiry into the Teaching of Writing in a Middle School's Language Arts Classrooms*, conducted by William L. Moore (researcher) of Georgia Southern University. In this study, the researcher will examine the perceptions and strategies of teachers of writing in a middle school's language arts classrooms. I will be asked to share life experiences, personal views, and values during taped interviews. These tapes will be transcribed at a later date and presented to me for my review. I understand that only William L. Moore will know my identification. Estimates of the time required for my participation in this study are approximately 30 – 45 minutes for taped interviews.

I hereby give permission for my voice to be recorded. All materials will be held in strict confidence and will be kept in a secure location. I understand that tapes, transcripts, and observational notes are the property of the researcher and will not be released to a third party without my permission. Because this study involves my own interpretation of practices and events, I will have the opportunity to request that particular information not be used in the published report. I understand that I have the right to refuse to answer any questions and to withdraw from the study at any time. My name will not be used in the published report unless I give my written permission. Upon completion of the research, if I desire a copy of the report, I will receive one. There is no anticipated risk to me due to my participation in this study.

Completion of this consent form and its return will indicate permission to use the data obtained in the subsequent interview in the study.

Participant Signature	Date:	_
Position		
Researcher's Signature	Date:	_

Use of Actual name or Pseudonym:

_____ I give permission for my actual name to be used in the dissertation and publications related to it.

_____ I do not give permission for my actual name to be used in the dissertation and publications related to it.

____ I wish to be called by the pseudonym, _____

I choose to have the researcher select a pseudonym for me.

If you have any questions about this research, please call the researcher, William L. Moore at (912) 897-2968, or the Supervising Professor, Dr. Ming Fang He at Georgia Southern University, (912) 681-5091. If you have any questions or concerns about your rights as a research participant in this study, please direct them to IRB Coordinator at the Office of Research Services and Sponsored Programs at (912) 681-5465.

Research Protocol For Research Utilizing Human Subjects Potential Questions for Teachers

- 1. What was your attitude toward writing as an elementary student? As secondary student? As an adult? Or as a teacher/professional?
- 2. What kinds of personal writing do you do now?
- 3. What training have you received in teaching writing?
- 4. What practices/strategies do you utilize to teach writing in your classroom?
- 5. What forms of writing assessment do you use in your classroom?
- 6. In what ways do you encourage students to write? (motivated as well as reluctant

students)

- 7. In what ways do you feel writing supports reading?
- 8. What practices/strategies do you use that connect reading and writing?

Research Protocol For Utilizing Human Subjects Potential Questions for Administrator:

1) What was your attitude toward writing as an elementary student? As a secondary

student? As an adult? As a teacher/professional?

- 2) What training have you received in teaching writing?
- 3) How do you feel about yourself as a writer?
- 4) Can you identify your strengths and weaknesses as a writer?
- 5) How much importance do you attach to writing?
- 6) What kinds of writing do you do on your own? (i.e. personal writings
- 7) What practices/strategies that promote writing do you look for in teachers' lesson

plans/classrooms?

- 8) What staff development is provided to improve writing instruction?
- 9) To what do you attribute the success/failure of your school to develop effective writers?
- 10) What changes would you make to improve writing in your school?

School Portraiture

School portraiture is included to position the study and to provide a sense of context for the reader. Lawrence-Lightfoot & Davis (1997) declare a school portraiture reveals the "...dynamic interaction of values, personality, structure, and history" (p. 11). Demographics of the community, school, the faculty, students, and parents are included. The reader may become interested in the lives of the participants and see research as an on-going part of life (Phillion, 2001). School portraiture is developed with a purpose of providing a sense of context for the study. A picture of the physical, intellectual and social make-up of the school helps readers understand why the study takes place in a particular location. The information contained in this portraiture comes from the National Study of School Evaluation (NSSE) that has replaced the traditional Southern Association of Colleges and Schools (SACS) report and the school's yearly Title I report.

The school in which this study takes place is Leiston T. Shuman Middle School, located in Savannah, Georgia. Shuman Middle School was originally built as a junior high in 1963. It was named in honor of a former businessman, civic leader, and Board of Education member. Initially it was a neighborhood school serving five hundred white American seventh, eighth, and ninth graders. The move was made in 1983 to serve as a model for sixth, seventh, and eighth graders. Shuman also began the only English Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) laboratory in Chatham County middle schools, and it continues to serve a multicultural student body.

The first level of integration in the late 1960's brought the first African-American teachers, followed in the early 1970's by a court ordered desegregation plan, resulting in

a more racially balanced student population. White flight or changing demographics of East Side Savannah resulted in a flip of racial balance leading to a higher than countywide balance of black to white at Shuman.

Shuman Middle School is located in East Savannah about one mile south of the Savannah River. To its immediate north is a private golf and country club, to its east and south are residential districts, and to the west is a historic Catholic cemetery. Within walking distance are three housing projects in which many students reside. The population includes students from the entire school district whose first language is not English, Magnet students drawn from all of Chatham County, with the remaining students from the residential neighborhoods near the school. The population is diverse and reflective of the community.

The Magnet Programs for the Performing and Visual Arts and Communications Technology were in place by 1991. Since then a French component has been added as part of the widening curriculum for the 2002-2003 school year. The middle school concept was implemented and enhanced by building renovations, which provided additional capacity to serve the diverse population of Shuman students.

Prior to the 1997-98 school year, the school boundaries had not changed since 1987-90. Even though the school system realigned the districts in the summer of 1997, for most of the schools, including Shuman, the demographics of the student population changed very little. In the fall of 1997, Shuman implemented a Schoolwide Title I Project to better serve its at-risk population.

In 1991, Shuman Middle School became the Performing and Visual Arts/Communications Technology Academy. This curricular addition brought about significant changes in the student population and ethnic composition of the school. The percentage of white students increased to meet the federal desegregation guidelines for the school system, and the overall student population grew significantly. Magnet students came from all areas of Savannah and Chatham County. Students become a part of the Magnet Program through an audition and screening process that includes identification of a particular talent, personal recommendations from teachers, academic recommendations, and availability of space in the program.

While Shuman is a Magnet school drawing its population from the whole of Savannah and Chatham County, it does have two feeder schools, Eli Whitney Elementary (the elementary ESOL provider) and Thunderbolt Elementary Schools. Thunderbolt's students are split between those living north and south of Victory Drive in Savannah. Those living north of Victory Drive go to Shuman while those living south of it go to Myers Middle School. The two elementary schools provide over two-thirds of Shuman's student population.

Shuman Middle School currently has two administrators: an African-American woman as principal, and one assistant principal. Supporting the administrators are two guidance counselors. Shuman's two guidance counselors meet the needs of Shuman's student population and also conform to Roy Barnes's, the former governor, educational bill. The administrative support staff consists of two secretaries, two clerks (data and counselor), a school nurse, social worker, and a School Resource Officer (SRO). The nurse is full time, as is the School Resource Officer, but the social worker is divided among a team of schools and is at Shuman once a week. The School Resource Officer's job is varied. He helps with security of the school and provides a sense of safety as well as a means of conflict resolution and mediation for our students. The SRO is also a role model for our young black males.

The nurse and social worker help us with a wide range of issues that confront us at Shuman. The social worker deals with problems of repeated tardiness and absences. She provides another way to check on attendance problems or other areas of educational neglect or abuse. The nurse does initial vision and hearing screening as a first step in a Student Support Team's efforts to meet the needs of the students.

Shuman's student population is 763. The Magnet department has approximately 320 students. 67.6% percent of Shuman's students participate in the free/reduced lunch program. The demographics of Shuman are: African-American – 68%, White – 24.7%, Asian – 4.6%, Hispanic – 1.4%, and Other –1.3%. Gender composition consists of: eighth grade – 111 males, 117 females; seventh grade – 123 males, 166 females; and sixth grade – 132 males, 138 females.

Shuman offers many programs to support its students. In addition to the ESOL, special populations at Shuman include at-risk, gifted, Magnet, and Special Education. Shuman has teachers who serve each of these populations with such programs as ESOL, Technology Preparation, Schoolwide Enrichment, Specific Learning Disabilities, Emotional Disorders, Speech/Hearing Disorders, SEARCH, and specialized Performing Arts, Visual Arts, and Communications Technology classes.

Shuman's staff is as varied as its student population. In the sixth grade the student/teacher ratio is 23:1; in the seventh grade, it is 26:1; and in the eighth grade, it is 27:1. The teacher/staff ratio is 2.2 teachers for each staff person. The sixth grade has four

academic teams of three teachers each. The seventh grade has three academic teams of three teachers each, and the eighth grade has three teams, with two consisting of three members and one consisting of four members. There are six special education teachers and two paraprofessionals serving our students with special needs. Three of the special education teachers are in self-contained classrooms with two of the teachers addressing specific learning disabilities, one addressing emotional behavior disorders and one serving our gifted population (SEARCH). Currently our gifted facilitator is part-time even though we now have over fifty identified gifted students (budgets are based on the previous year). The magnet program has full time teachers of Visual Arts, Dance, Chorus, Strings, Band, Drama, French, and Communications Technology. Connections courses include: enrichment reading, computer keyboarding, physical education, health, general music, guitar, art, remedial reading and math, video production, photography, and introduction to technology.

Each teacher extends the guidance counselor's reach through an Advisor-Advisee program. A part of our guidance activities is a program called "Writing Across the Curriculum". The students respond to a series of writing prompts to provide reflection on a variety of topics. Teachers also support the guidance program by initiating the Student Support Team process. These provide vital assistance to the guidance department.

Interscholastic and intramural athletic events are a part of the physical, social, and emotional education of our students. Seventh and eighth graders can compete against other local middle schools in sports such as football, softball, cheerleading, volleyball, soccer, and basketball. Sixth graders can participate in track in the spring. An intramural program lead by our Athletic Director allows our students to not only compete but also develop physical skills such as hand to eye coordination and social skills such as team

building. Shuman is a model middle school in many ways and yet is a typical one in that

it applies the concept of the middle school to fit its own unique circumstances.